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Disclaimer/forward-looking statement

In this annual report, we have disclosed forward-looking information to
enable investors to comprehend our prospects and take informed
investment decisions. This report and other statements - written and oral -
that we periodically make, contain forward-looking statements that set out
anticipated results based on the management’s plans and assumptions.
We have tried wherever possible to identify such statements by using words
such as ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’,
‘believes’ and words of similar substance in connection with any discussion
on future performance.

We cannot guarantee that these forward-looking statements will be realised,
although we believe we have been prudent in assumptions. The
achievement of results is subject to risks, uncertainties and even inaccurate
assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialise,
or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could
vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Dear Shareholders,

The financial year ending March 31, 2025 has been a year of
challenges, learnings, and renewed determination for Your
Company Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited (“DBRL’).

The past year marked an important phase of integration,
consolidation, and strategic realignment for DBRL. The pending
issues resolution post Birla Tyres Limited and RHI transactions
required significant investment of time, effort, and capital. The
transitional costs, coupled with other economic factors, have
impacted our profitability for the year.

We remain committed to sharpening our focus on optimizing our
resources at Salem plant, and also at China Plant which is under
OCL China Limited, based in Liaoning, China. Significant
operational improvements have been initiated, and we expect to
see the benefits of these initiatives coupled with renewed
marketing efforts, in the near future.

- - Further, in line with our commitment to enhance operational
efficiencies, the Board of Directors have approved a scheme of
B u ’ I d’ ng arrangement under which the refractory division, Dalmia
Magnesite Corporation, and the travel division, Govan Travels, of
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited (“DBSIL”), will be
S tr e n g th fo r demerged and transferred to DBRL. This scheme is currently
under review by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal and
EmE once completed, will further strengthen our operational and

a R e S ’ I ' e n t financial position.
The revitalization of Birla Tyre which we acquired through Honb'le
NCLT, Kolkata Bench vide its Order dated October 19, 2023, is in
u tu r e progress with lots of challenges, majorly being labour disputes.
Supported by our strategic partnership with Himadri Speciality
Chemical Limited, we are trying to solve these issues and
necessary steps are being taken including need-based

investments in technology, branding, and market expansion to
re-establish Birla Tyre as a competitive player.

| am pleased to inform that Your Company has been declared as
a Preferred Bidder for the Mining of Critical Minerals (Graphite
and Lithium Block), Tamil Nadu and it expects to start feasibility
studies as soon as the formal Letter of Intent is received.

Carefully selected investments across sectors are expected to
play a key role in risk mitigation and enhancing future returns,
complementing our operational growth.

As we move forward, our commitment to transparency,
operational excellence, and shareholder value creation remains
unwavering. On behalf of the Board and the entire DBRL team, |
thank you for your continued trust and support. Together, in
challenging environment, we are trying to build a stronger, more
resilient DBRL.

Sincerely,

Dr. CN Maheshwari
Whole Time Director & CEO
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Financial Year 2024-25 marked a transformative phase for Dalmia
Bharat Refractories Limited (‘DBRL" or "Your Company"),
characterized by exploring suitable opportunities for diversification
and investments besides optimizing the utilization of existing
resources. Throughout the year, the Company while facing certain
roadblocks, is aiming to maintain momentum for growth.

Your Company increased its focus on magnesia carbon
("Mag-Carbon") and allied products, being manufactured at Salem
Plant in alignment with the Government of India vision of ‘Make in
India’. The Company's international subsidiaries — OCL Global
Limited and OCL China Limited — continues to meet the global
demand for Mag-Carbon products, ensuring service continuity for
customers.

The revival plan of the tyre business, which Your Company acquired
in collaboration with its strategic partner Himadri Specialty
Chemical Limited through the Corporate Insolvency Resolution
Process (CIRP), has progressed during the year, with emphasis
being put on revitalizing production infrastructure, aligning
operations with best practices, building an effective leadership and
operational team structure.

However, the revival plan of tyre business also faced operational
headwinds during the year, marked by instances of labour unrest at
our manufacturing facility. These disruptions have impacted the
pace of the revival plan. The Company is implementing structured
dialogue mechanisms to foster a collaborative work environment.
Management remains committed to resolving these issues amicably
and ensuring workforce stability to expediate the revival plan of the
tyre undertaking.

DBRL also, advanced towards regulatory approvals for the
proposed acquisition of Dalmia Magnesite Corporation and
Govan Travels, both divisions of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and
Industries Limited. The transaction, subject to clearance from the
Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT), is expected to
augment DBRL's resource base and diversify its service offerings.

Looking Forward

DBRL remains committed to operational excellence, strategic
growth, and sustainable value creation for all stakeholders. The
Company’s strategic focus areas remain aligned with industry
megatrends and national priorities such as "Make in India".

Economic Overview
Global Economy

Global GDP Growth Trend (2023-2025)
3.200¢

3.175¢
3.150

g 3.125
" ~
£ 3.100
& 3.075
3.050
3.0251

3.000} ¢ . .
2023 2024 2025
Year

T

The global economy showed signs of a modest recovery in 2025,
despite persistent geopolitical tensions, financial market volatility,
and climate-related disruptions. As per the IMF World Economic
Outlook (April 2025), global GDP growth is projected at 3.2%,
marginally higher than the previous year, driven by resilient
consumer spending, fiscal support measures, and the
normalization of global supply chains.

Emerging markets, particularly in Asia, continue to outperform
advanced economies, supported by stronger domestic demand
and structural reforms. However, downside risks remain, particularly
related to tightening financial conditions and escalating regional
conflicts.
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Indian Economy

GDP Growth Forecast FY24-25 (India vs Global)

Growth (%)

India Global

India’s economic resilience continues to defy global headwinds.
According to the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) Monetary Policy
Report, April 2025, India’s GDP growth for FY 2024-25 is estimated
at 7.0%, underpinned by:

e Robust private consumption and investment,

e Major infrastructure push under the National Infrastructure
Pipeline (NIP),

e Government initiatives such as Make in India 2.0, PLI
(Production Linked Incentive) Schemes, and green energy
transition programs.

The Indian economy remains among the fastest-growing large

economies globally, with strong tailwinds from demographic
advantages and digitalization.

Industry Structure and Developments

Magnesia Carbon Refractory Business:

The global Magnesia Carbon refractory market is witnessing stable
demand growth, primarily fueled by rising steel production and
infrastructure projects. According to Technavio's Global Magnesia
Carbon Refractory Market Report (2025), the market is projected to
grow steadily through 2028, driven by:

e Increased adoption of eco-friendly refractory materials,

e Advancements in nano-carbon technology for higher
performance,

e  The surge in electric arc furnace (EAF) steel production.

However, challenges persist from raw material supply risks, and
also the cut throat competition for the finished products both from
domestic and international players.

Global Magnesia Carbon Refractory Market (USD Bn)
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Tyre Business:

The global tyre market is undergoing a structural transformation,
shaped by, rising automotive demand across emerging markets,
the electrification of vehicles (EV boom), sustainability trends
driving the need for low-rolling-resistance tyres.

As per Statista (2025), the global tyre market is projected to surpass
USD 250 billion by 2026. India’s tyre sector, already the second
largest producer of two-wheeler tyres globally, is expected to
expand rapidly with opportunities in the replacement market and EV
segment.

Tyre Industry Market Size Projection (USD Bn)

Market Size (USD Bn)

Risks and Concerns:

Despite the favorable outlook, the Company remains cognizant of
certain risks and concerns that could impact its performance. The
limited range of refractory products coupled with customers
preferring to opt for suppliers offering complete refractory solutions
is likely to affect our market as also our margins.

Volatility in raw material prices, particularly for commodities like
magnesite, with very high dependency on China, graphite, rubber,
and related chemicals, poses a significant risk to input costs and
profitability margins. Supply chain disruptions, arising from either
logistical bottlenecks or geopolitical disturbances, may further
exacerbate procurement challenges.

The tyre sector, although buoyant, is marked by intense competition

250 —e— India from both domestic and international manufacturers. Heightened
—i— Global regulatory scrutiny, particularly with respect to quality standards,
safety norms, and environmental compliance, could result in
2001 increased operational costs and product development

expenditures.
2 Moreover, the possibility of a global economic slowdown, coupled
with financial market volatility, could adversely affect consumer
100+t demand, investment valuations, and overall business sentiment,
thereby impacting the Company's growth projections and return on

investments.

50 -
. Threats:
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Opportunities, Risks, and Threats

The Company operates in a dynamic environment wherein it is
exposed to a variety of opportunities and associated risks, both
domestic and global, that have a material bearing on its business
operations and long-term strategic objectives.

Opportunities:

The global refractory industry is witnessing robust demand growth,
primarily driven by increased activity in the steel and broader
industrial sectors. According to industry analyses, global steel
production is projected to grow steadily, underpinning the sustained
requirement for high-quality refractory products. This presents a
significant growth opportunity for the Company’s magnesia carbon
refractory segment.

Further, the Indian tyre industry is poised for strong expansion,
supported by vehicle electrification trends, rapid urbanization, and
a growing replacement market. Research forecasts that the Indian
automotive sector will continue to experience double-digit growth in
the electric vehicle (EV) segment, thereby enhancing demand for
advanced and sustainable tyre solutions.

Financial Ratios on standalone basis

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Persistent geopolitical tensions, including but not limited to trade
conflicts, regional instability, and evolving sanctions regimes,
present ongoing threats to the global operating environment. Sharp
fluctuations in commodity prices with our currency depreciation and
the tightening of global liquidity conditions may have adverse
effects on procurement, working capital management and overall
margins.

The Company recognizes these external threats and remains
committed to proactive risk monitoring, robust internal controls, and
strategic agility to mitigate any potential adverse impacts on its
operations and financial stability.

DBRLs performance over view
Operational & Financial Performance

During the Year Under review, on standalone basis, the total
revenue from continuing operations stood at INR 104.88 Cr. as
compared to INR 88.88 Cr. in the preceding financial year i.e.,
2023-24. The Earnings before interest, depreciation and tax
(“EBITDA”) from continuing operations stood at INR 28.33 Cr
(previous year INR 18.28 Cr).

Similarly, on consolidated basis, during the financial year 2024-25,
the total revenue from continuing operations stood at INR 199.37 Cr.
as compared to INR 179.04 Cr. in the preceding financial year
2023-24. The Earnings before interest, depreciation and tax
(“EBITDA”) from continuing operations stood at INR 73.06 Cr
(previous year INR 35.67Cr).

Financial Debtor Inventory Current Interest Op. Net Return Debt
Year Turnover Turnover Ratio Coverage Profit Profit on Net Equity
Ratio Ratio Ratio Margin Margin Worth Ratio

2023-24 0.68 1.33 6.97 -0.30 -1.26 0.12 0.00 0.19

2024-25 4.98 1.97 2.97 0.14 -0.61 -1.13 -0.03 0.30
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Region & Segment Wise Performance

During the financial year 2024-25, the Company continued to
strengthen its magnesia carbon ("Mag-Carbon") refractory segment
by deepening customer relationships, enhancing product offerings,
and leveraging technical expertise to deliver customized refractory
products. The focus remained on innovation, customer-centric
engagement, and operational excellence.

In parallel, the Company is focused on the revival and repositioning
of the Birla Tyres brand, which was acquired in collaboration with its
strategic partner Himadri Specialty Chemical Limited through the
Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process (CIRP), in the preceding
financial year. This strategic priority encompasses a comprehensive
turnaround plan, modernization of manufacturing facilities,
enhancement of distribution networks, brand repositioning
initiatives, and product diversification to meet the evolving demands
of the market. Although, the revival of the tyre business encountered
certain challenges during the year, the management remains
committed to resolving the issues and expedite the execution of the
revival strategy.

In accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 108 —
"Operating Segments," the Company has presented segment-wise
disclosures in its standalone financial statements. Detailed
information in this regard can be referred to in Note No. 34 of the
standalone financial statements.

Internal Controls & Their Adequacy

The Company has established adequate internal financial controls
commensurate with the size and nature of its operations. These
controls are reviewed periodically to ensure their effectiveness in
supporting reliable financial reporting, operational efficiency, and
regulatory compliance. Internal audits are conducted regularly
under a pre-approved plan, and the Audit Committee monitors the
adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment, initiating
corrective measures where required.

The internal control systems are structured to uphold sound
corporate governance, with a strong emphasis on transparency,
compliance, and integrity, in line with the values of the Dalmia
Bharat Group. The Company remains committed to full compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, adopting best practices to
safeguard the interests of its stakeholders.

Human Resources

Human capital remains pivotal to DBRL's transformation journey.
The company is committed to nurturing a diverse, skilled, and
future-ready workforce. As of March 31, 2025, DBRL employed a
diverse team aligned with its core values of excellence, integrity,
and customer-centricity. Talent acquisition, capability building, and
employee wellbeing remain strategic HR focus areas.

The leadership of your Company set themselves on a journey to
‘Writing a New Future’ for the organization through a series of
conversations and capability developmental interventions.
Employees of Your company stayed committed to transforming the
business and their skilling continued to be our top priority.

The leadership of Your Company strongly believes that its people
are of utmost importance. The leadership team remained focused
on the health and wellbeing of all its employees.

As on March 31, 2025 your company employs a diverse workforce
of 63 people.

DBRL is committed to “Writing a New Future” through innovation, agility, and sustainable

growth as it advances through FY 2025-26.
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Dear Members,

Your directors have pleasure in presenting the 19th Annual Report (“Report”) of Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited (“Company/DBRL”),
together with the audited financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2025 (“Year Under Review”) and the
highlights of the performance of subsidiaries companies along with their contribution to the overall performance of the Company for the Year
Under Review.

FINANCIAL RESULTS:

The highlights of the standalone and consolidated financial performance of the Company are as under:

(INR. in Cr except per share data)

Standalone Consolidated

Particulars

FY 25 FY 24 FY 25 FY 24
Continuing operations
Revenue from continuing operations 58.86 40.80 106.29 115.96
Profit bleforelflnance costs, deprega"non, ' 8,33 18.29 73.06 35.67
exceptional items and tax of continuing operations
Less: Interest and Financial Charges of continuing 76.52 1111 84.31 13.85
operations
ProflT b(_afore Deprgmatlon and Tax of (48.19) 718 (11.25) 2182
continuing operations
Profit blefolre exceptlpnal items and tax expense 18.00 2167 26.07 24 5
of continuing operations
!_ess:l Deprematlonl, ar_nortlzatlon_ and (66.19) (14.49) (37.32) (2.43)
impairment of continuing operations
Less: Exceptional items of continuing operations - 29.24 - 12.09
Profit before tax from continuing operations (66.19) 14.75 (387.32) 9.66
Provision for current tax of continuing operations - - - -
Provision for deferred tax of continuing operations 0.07 7.7 (0.61) 6.22
Tax gd]gstments fpr earlier years of ) 550 . 564
continuing operations
Net Profit for the year from continuing operations (66.26) 5.08 (36.71) 0.80
Share of profit/(loss) in associate - - - -
Net r_;rof_ltl(loss) fo_r the year from (66.26) 508 (36.71) 0.80
continuing operation (A)
N_et profﬂl(loss) for t.he year from 0.06 46.34 0.06 46.29
discontinued operation (B)
Less: Share of minority interest - - (0.54) (0.04)
Profit/(loss) After Tax (66.20) 51.42 (36.11) 47.13
Paid-up Equity Share Capital 44.20 44.20 44.20 44.20
Other Equity 2240.09 2455.70 2377.62 2561.75
Earnings Per Share (EPS) (14.98) 11.63 (8.17) 10.66
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STATE OF THE COMPANY'’S AFFAIRS

During the Year Under review, on standalone basis, the total
revenue from continuing operations stood at INR 104.88 Cr. as

compared to INR 88.88 Cr. in the preceding financial year i.e.

2023-24. The Profit / (Loss) before tax and after tax from continuing
operations stood at INR (66.19) Cr. (previous year: INR 14.75) and
INR (66.26) Cr. (previous year: INR 5.08 Cr.) respectively.

Similarly, on consolidated basis, during the financial year 2024-25,
the total revenue from continuing operations stood at INR 199.37 Cr.
as compared to INR 179.04 Cr. in the preceding financial year
2023-24. The Profit/(Loss) before tax and after tax from continuing
operations stood at INR (37.32) Cr. (previous year: INR 9.66 Cr.)
and INR (36.71) Cr. (previous year: INR 0.80 Cr.) respectively.

With the objective of writing a new future, the Company will remain
committed to its stakeholders and make all endeavours to
accelerate the value of the stakeholders.

BUSINESS UPDATE
a.Tyre Undertaking

Pursuant to the order dated October 19, 2023 passed by the
National Company Law Tribunal (“NCLT”), Kolkata Bench
approving the resolution plan and schemes annexed thereto as
submitted by your Company along with its strategic partner Himadri
Speciality Chemical Ltd for revival of operations of Birla Tyre Ltd, the
Tyre Undertaking (as defined in the resolution plan) has been
demerged from Birla Tyres Limited and transferred to your
Company.

Your Company, along with its strategic partner Himadri Speciality
Chemical Limited, have already made significant strides in
revamping of the production facilities, conducting extensive market
research, finalizing product development, and are confident that
this new business will pave the way for the Company’s growth
vision.

b.Scheme of Arrangement

On February 02, 2024, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of your
Company have approved the Scheme of Arrangement between
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited (“DBSIL’) and Dalmia
Bharat Refractories Limited (“DBRL’) and their respective
shareholders, pursuant to which the refractory division of DBSIL i.e.,
Dalmia Magnesite Corporate situated at Salem and travel division of
DBSIL i.e., Govan Travels, shall demerge from DBSIL and stand
transferred and vested in DBRL.

Pursuant to the NCLT Order dated December 20, 2024, the
Company has held its Shareholders and Creditors Meeting on
February 09, 2025 to seek their respective approvals to the
aforementioned Scheme of Arrangement and both the Shareholders
and Creditors of the Company have approved the Scheme with
requisite majority. Now, the Scheme is pending before the NCLT,
Chennai for its approval.

Pending necessary regulatory approvals and other compliances,
no effect of the above mentioned Scheme has been considered in
the financial statements.

c.New Business Initiatives:

Your Company had participated in the auction conducted by the
Ministry of Mines, Government of India, for the grant of mineral
concessions in respect of 20 Critical and Strategic Minerals. We are
pleased to inform that your Company has been declared as the
Preferred Bidder for a Graphite and Lithium mineral block located in
Tamil Nadu. The Company intends to commence feasibility studies
promptly upon receipt of the formal Letter of Intent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

The management discussion and analysis of financial performance
and results of operations of the Company in terms of the SEBI
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”) is provided in a separate
section and forms an integral part of this annual report. It inter-alia
gives detail of the overall industry structure, economic
developments, performance and state of affairs of your Company'’s
business, risk management systems and material developments
during the Year Under Review.

DIVIDEND

Your directors are pleased to recommend a dividend of 10% i.e. INR
01/- per equity share of face value of INR 10/- each for the financial
year 2024-25, based on the overall financial performance and other
economic factors and shall be payable to those members whose
names appear in the register of members as on the book closure /
record date. The dividend payout is subject to approval of the
members at the ensuing annual general meeting of the Company
for Year Under Review.

The register of members and share transfer books will remain
closed from Saturday, August 09, 2025 to Tuesday, August 12,
2025 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of payment of the final
dividend for the financial year ended March 31, 2025.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

The Company proposes to retain its entire earnings in the profit and
loss account and proposes not to transfer any amount to the general
reserve.

For details with regard to transfer to other reserves, Note. 11.2 of the
financial statements for the year under review is self explanatory.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year under review, there was no change in the capital

structure of the Company. The capital structure of the Company as
on March 31, 2025, is given below:

INR 200,00,00,100 /- (Two
Hundred Crore and Hundred
Rupees) constituting of
20,00,00,000 (Twenty Crore)
equity shares of INR 10/- each
and 10 (Ten) preference shares
of INR 10/- each.

Authorized Share Capital

INR 44,20,01,080 (Forty-Four
Crore Twenty Lakh One
Thousand and Eighty Rupees)
constituting of 4,42,00,107 (Four
Crore Forty-Two Lakh One
Hundred and Seven) equity
shares of INR 10/- each and 1
(One) redeemable preference
shares of INR 10/- each.

Issued, Subscribed and
Paid-up Share Capital

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES

As on March 31, 2025, the Company has four subsidiaries including
one wholly owned subsidiary and one step down subsidiary.
The details of the subsidiaries are:
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S. No. Name of the Subsidiary Status Percentage of Holding
1. OCL Global Limited Wholly Owned Subsidiary 100%
. Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturing Private Limited (formerly Subsidi %
known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) ubsidiary 99.99%
3. Birla Tyres Limited Subsidiary 99.99%
4. OCL China Limited Step Down Subsidiary 90%

through OCL Global Limited

However, pursuant to the Resolution Plan approved by the National
Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench on October 19, 2023 and
agreed terms with Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (“HSCL”),
the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Birla Tyres Limited (“BTL”)
and Himadri Birla Tyres Manufacturer Private Limited (“HBTMPL”),
have issued secured and unsecured Optionally Convertible
Debentures (“OCDs”) to HSCL.

On April 01, 2025, the Board of Directors of the above subsidiaries
of the Company upon receipt of an intent from HSCL approved to
partially convert the OCDs held by them in BTL and HBTMPL into
equity shares.

Consequent to this conversion, the equity shareholding of the Company in BTL and HBTMPL had undergone dilution as below:

S. No. Name of the Subsidiary Before conversion After conversion
1. Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited 099.99% 51.00%*
2. Birla Tyres Limited 99.99% 0.33%"

*Subsequently, Company's shareholding in HBTMPL and BTL reduced to 49% and 0% respectively, resulting in cessation of both the Companies

as subsidiaries, as on the date of this report.

During the Year Under Review, OCL Global Limited, Mauritius and
OCL China Limited, China, are the material unlisted subsidiary(ies)
of the Company in terms of the applicable SEBI Listing Regulations
as amended from time to time, and Company’s Policy for
determining material subsidiary. The said Policy may be accessed
at the Company’s website www.dalmiaocl.com.

A statement containing the salient features of the financial
statements of the Company’s subsidiaries for the financial year
ended on March 31, 2025 in form AOC-1 is attached and marked as
Annexure-1 and forms part of this annual report. The contribution of
the Company’s subsidiaries to the overall performance of the
Company during the financial Year Under Review could be referred
from the financial highlights given above and the financial
statements forming part of the annual report.

The annual reports of subsidiaries are not being published and if
any member desirous of obtaining a copy of the same may write to
the Company Secretary of the Company. Any member desirous to
inspect the same, may conduct inspection at the registered office of
the Company during business hours.

The standalone and consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries, are placed on the Company’s
website www.dalmiaocl.com.

Apart from those mentioned above, the Company does not have
any other associate or joint venture Company. Further, there is no
material change in the business of subsidiary(ies) and the
Company has taken note of all the significant transactions and
arrangements entered into by its subsidiaries.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read
with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS), the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the financial year 2024-25
have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting
standards and form part of the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your directors believe that corporate governance is an ethically
driven business process that is committed to values aimed at
enhancing the growth of your Company. The endeavor is to
continue and move forward as a responsible and sustainable
Company in order to attract as well as retain talents, investors and
to maintain fulfilling relationships with the communities and take all
possible steps in the direction to re write a new future for your
Company.

We are committed to achieve the highest standards of ethics,
transparency, corporate governance and continue to comply with
the code of conduct framed for the board of directors (“Board”)
and senior management under regulation 17 of the SEBI Listing
Regulations and have maintained high standards of corporate
governance based on the principle of effective implementation of
internal control measures, adherence to the law and regulations and
accountability at all levels of the organization.

Your Company’s corporate governance practices are driven by
effective and strong Board oversight, timely disclosures,
transparent accounting policies and high levels of integrity in
decision making.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the financial
year 2024-25 as required under the applicable SEBI Listing
Regulations is attached hereto and forms part of this report. The
requisite certificate from the practicing company secretary
confirming compliance with the conditions of corporate governance
is attached to the corporate governance report.

ANNUAL RETURN

In terms of the provisions of section 92(3) of the Companies Act,
2013 read with the Companies (Management and Administration)
Rules, 2014, the draft annual return of your Company for Year Under
Review has been uploaded at the Company’s website
www.dalmiaocl.com/extract-of-annual-return.php.
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CREDIT RATING

Please refer to the appropriate section of corporate governance
report for the details relating to the credit rating assigned to the
Company.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES

During the Year Under Review, the Company did not have any
obligation to contribute on Corporate Social Responsibilities
(“CSR”) activities, under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013
as your Company did not have average net profit in the preceding
three financial years as per Section 135(5) of the Companies Act,
2013. Hence, considering the same, it was decided by the Board on
the basis of recommendation of CSR Committee, to not spend any
amount on CSR initiatives during the Year Under Review.

Further, in terms of the provisions of section 135 of the Companies
Act, 2013 read with its rules made thereunder, the annual report on
CSR activities is annexed as Annexure-2 to the Board’s Report. The
CSR policy of the Company adopted by the Board, is available on
the Company’s website at www.dalmiaocl.com.

The Company is fully aware of its social responsibilities and is
providing time to time assistance through the local institutions to
benefit the local residents of the nearby areas to the Company’s
location.

POSTAL BALLOT

During the period under review, no resolution was passed through
postal ballot.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP’s”)
Directors:

During the Year Under Review, Mr. Sameer Nagpal resigned from
the position of Non-Executive Director on the Board with effect from
June 17, 2024.

Upon the recommendation of the Board, the members in the annual
general meeting of the Company held on August 09, 2024, have
approved the appointment of Mr. Prakash Dalmia as the Executive
Director (Tyre Undertaking) of the Company with effect from August
01, 2024 for a period of two years. Further, the members also
approved the regularization of Ms. Rachna Goria as the
Non-Executive Director of the Company.

However, Mr. Prakash Dalmia resigned from the position of
Executive Director (Tyre Undertaking) of the Company with effect
from January 15, 2025.

On February 01, 2025, the Board upon the recommendation of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, approved the
appointment of Mr. Mukund Choudhary as the Executive Director
(Tyre Undertaking) of the Company with effect from February 01,
2025, subject to the approval of shareholders. Subsequently, the
shareholders in their meeting held on March 12, 2025, approved
the said appointment of Mr. Choudhary as Executive Director
(Tyre Undertaking) of the Company with effect from February 01,
2025 was approved for a period of two years.

Accordingly, as on March 31, 2025, the composition of the Board is
as follows:

S. No. Name of the Director Designation

1 Mr. Deepak Thombre Chairman and Independent
' Director
2 Mr. Rajkamal Saraogi Independent Director

Dr. Chandra Narain Whole Time Director & CEO

Maheshwari
4. Ms. Rachna Goria Non—Exegutive Woman
Director
5 Mr. Mukund Choudhary Executive Director

(Tyre Undertaking)
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The Board is duly constituted with proper balance of executive &
non- executive directors, independent directors and woman
director.

The requisite certificate(s) from the practicing company secretary
confirming that none of the directors of the Company have been
debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as
directors of the Company by Securities and Exchange Board of
India/Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such authority is attached
to the corporate governance report.

Key Managerial Persons

During the Year Under Review, pursuant to the resignation of Ms.
Meghna Saini as the Company Secretary of the Company, Ms.
Soumya Sharma was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Compliance Officer of the Company with effect from September 24,
2024, in terms of Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 and
Regulation 6 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

Accordingly, as on March 31, 2025, below are the key managerial
persons of the Company:

Name of the Key

S.No.| Managerial Person Designation

1. Mr. Rahul Sahni Chief Financial Officer

2. Ms. Soumya Sharma Company Secretary

Director Retiring by Rotation

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 152(6) of the Companies Act,
2013, Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari, being longest in office,
retires by rotation at the ensuing annual general meeting and being
eligible offers himself for re-appointment. He has given a
declaration in terms of Section 164(2) of the Companies Act, 2013
to the effect that he is not disqualified from being re-appointed as a
Director of the Company.

Independent Directors

The Board has 2 (two) independent directors as on March 31, 2025,
representing diversified fields and expertise. Details are provided in
the appropriate section of the corporate governance report.

The independent directors have submitted their declarations of
independence stating that they meet the criteria of independence
as required in terms of the provisions of section 149 (7) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 and Regulation 16 of the
SEBI Listing Regulations, as amended from time to time.

The Company has also received confirmation from all the
independent directors of their registration on the Independent
Directors Database maintained by the Indian Institute of Corporate
Affairs, in terms of Section 150 read with Rule 6 of the Companies
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014.

In the opinion of the Board, the independent directors possess the
requisite expertise and experience (including proficiency in terms of
Section 150(1) of the Act and applicable rules thereunder) and are
persons of high integrity and repute. They fulfill the conditions
specified in the Act as well as the Rules made thereunder and are
independent of the management.

MEETING OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of the Company met eight times during the Year Under
Review. The intervening gap between two consecutive meetings of

the Board did not exceed one hundred and twenty days during the
financial year ended March 31, 2025.
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The Board meetings were conducted in due compliance with and
following the procedures prescribed in the Companies Act, 2013,
SEBI Listing Regulations and applicable secretarial standards.

In terms of the provisions of rule 8 of schedule IV to the Companies
Act, 2013 a separate meeting of the independent directors
excluding all other directors of the Company was held on February
01, 2025. Reference is invited to the annexed corporate
governance report for details thereof.

The details of Board and committee meetings held during the Year
Under Review and directors attending the same are given in the
corporate governance report forming part of this Report.

CONSTITUTION OF COMMITTEES

As on March 31, 2025, there are four statutory Board level
committees:

Audit Committee

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

The details with respect to the composition, terms of reference and
other details of all the aforementioned committees of the Company
have been elaborated in the corporate governance report annexed
to this Report.

Further, for the smooth business operations of the Company, the
Board of your Company has constituted below committees as well,
pursuant to powers given under the Companies Act, 2013:

e |nvestment Committee
e Borrowings Committee
e Allotment Committee

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has devised a Nomination and Remuneration Policy
(“NRC Policy”) which inter alia sets out the guiding principles for
identifying and ascertaining the integrity, qualification, expertise
and experience of the person for the appointment as directors,
KMPs and senior management personnel (“SMPs”).

The NRC Policy has been framed with the objective-

a. to ensure that appointment of directors, KMPs and SMPs and
their removals are in compliances with the applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI Listing
Regulations;

b. to set out criteria for the evaluation of performance and
remuneration of directors, KMPs and SMPs;

c. to adopt best practices to attract and retain talent by the
Company; and

d. toensure diversity of the Board of the Company.

The NRC Policy specifies the manner of effective evaluation of
performance of Board, its committees and individual directors to be
carried out either by the Board, by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee or by an independent external agency
and review its implementation and compliance. During the Year
Under Review, there has been no change in the NRC Policy.

The NRC Policy of the Company can be accessed at the website of
the Company at www.dalmiaocl.com.
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PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

During the Year Under Review, the formal annual evaluation of the
performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors
was carried out, in the Company by the independent directors, the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board, in
compliance with the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI Listing
Regulations, as amended from time to time.

The performance of non-independent directors, Board as a whole
and the chairman was evaluated in a separate meeting of
independent directors of the Company. Similar evaluation was also
carried out by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and
the Board. Performance evaluation of independent directors was
done by the entire Board, excluding the independent director being
evaluated.

An indicative criterion of evaluation was circulated to the directors to
facilitate such evaluation. Based on the feedback of the directors
and on due deliberations of the views and counter views, the
evaluation was carried out in terms of the NRC Policy and such
indicative criterion.

WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY AND VIGIL MECHANISM

In compliance with the provisions of section 177 of the Companies
Act, 2013 and regulation 22 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, the
Company has in place the Whistle Blower Policy and Vigil
Mechanism for Directors, employees and other stakeholders which
provides a platform to them for raising their voice about any breach
of code of conduct, financial irregularities, illegal or unethical
practices, unethical behavior, actual or suspected fraud, health,
safety and environmental issues. Adequate safeguards are
provided against victimization of stakeholders who use such
mechanism and direct access to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee in appropriate cases is provided.

The aforesaid policy may be accessed at the website of the
Company at www.dalmiaocl.com.

During the year under review, the Company has not received any
whistleblower complaints.

ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

The Company has adequate internal financial controls
commensurate with the size of the Company and nature of its
business which are reviewed periodically.

The internal auditors of the Company conduct regular internal
audits as per approved plan and the Audit Committee reviews
periodically the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control
systems and takes steps for corrective measures whenever
required.

The roles and responsibilities of all talents and functions have been
clearly laid out through a number of detailed standard operating
procedure and delegation of authority. The risks identified in the
audits are immediately accounted for in the processes and
addressed through the standard operating procedures.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

Your Company has given loans, guarantees (if any), provided
security (if any) and made investments within the limits with the
necessary approvals and in terms and accordance with the
provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. The
particulars of such guarantees given, securities provided and
investments made are provided in the standalone financial
statements at Note No. 5.

Annual Report 2024-2025



RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND POLICY

The Company has formulated a related party transactions policy
and the same may be accessed at the website of the Company at
www.dalmiaocl.com. Prior omnibus approval was obtained for
related party transactions which are of repetitive nature and entered
in the ordinary course of business and at an arm’s length basis. All
related party transactions are placed before the Audit Committee
for review, ratification and approval.

During the financial Year Under Review, all related party
transactions were in in the ordinary course of business or at arm’s
length basis. Except the related party transactions specified in form
AQC-2 attached as Annexure-3, no other material related party
transaction took place during the Year Under Review.

The investment made by the Company pursuant to such approval
are provided in the standalone financial statements at Note No. 5.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The assessment of the major risks is being done through a
systematic procedure of risk identification and classification. The
purpose of risk management is to proactively address risks. The
audit committee oversees the risk management plan and ensures
its effectiveness.

There are no elements of risk which in the opinion of the Board may
threaten the existence of the Company.

AUDITORS & AUDITORS’ REPORT
STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s. Chaturvedi & Shah, Chartered Accountants were appointed as
the statutory auditors of the Company for a term of 5 years at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on September 29,
2020 to hold office as such till the conclusion of annual general
meeting of the Company to be held in the financial year 2025-26.

The reports submitted by the statutory auditor on the standalone
and consolidated financial statements of the Company are
self-explanatory and do not contain any qualification, reservation,
adverse remark or disclaimer. The statutory auditor has not reported
any matter under Section 143(12) of the Act during the year under
review.

Further, since the term of M/s Chaturvedi & Shah, Chartered
Accountants as the Statutory Auditors of the Company expires at
the conclusion of the ensuing Annual General Meeting, the Board of
Directors of the Company at their meeting held on May 14, 2025,
based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has
recommended to the Members the appointment of M/s. V. Sankar
Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants, (Firm Registration No.
109208W), as Statutory Auditors of the Company, for a term of 5
(five) consecutive years from the conclusion of the 19th Annual
General Meeting till the conclusion of the 24th Annual General
Meeting. Accordingly, an Ordinary Resolution, proposing
appointment of M/s. V. Sankar Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants,
as the Statutory Auditors of the Company for a term of five
consecutive years pursuant to Section 139 of the Act, forms part of
the Notice of the 19th Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The Company has received the written consent and a certificate
that M/s. V. Sankar Aiyar & Co. satisfy the criteria provided under
Section 141 of the Act and that the appointment, if made, shall be in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act and rules
framed thereunder. They have also confirmed that they hold a valid
certificate issued by the Peer Review Board of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India.
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SECRETARIAL AUDITOR

In terms of section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and in
accordance with the provisions of regulation 24A of the SEBI Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations 2015,
M/s N C Khanna, Practicing Company Secretary, was appointed as
the secretarial auditor of the Company to conduct the secretarial
audit for the financial year 2024-25. The Company has received a
certificate from them to the effect that they are eligible to act as the
secretarial auditors of the Company for the financial year 2024-2025
and that they hold a valid certificate issued by the Peer Review
Board of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

M/s N C Khanna, Secretarial Auditor, has given the secretarial audit
report of the Company in the prescribed form MR-3 for the financial
year ended on March 31, 2025 which is being attached herewith as
Annexure-4 to this Report. There is no qualification, reservation or
adverse remark in the secretarial audit report.

Further, in terms of the amended Regulation 24A of the Listing
Regulations, M/s N C Khanna, Company Secretaries (CP No. 5143),
a peer reviewed firm (Peer Review No.I[2003DE340800), have been
recommended by the Board for appointment as the Secretarial
Auditors of the Company, for a term of five consecutive years,
beginning from FY 2025-26, for the approval by the shareholders of
the Company at the ensuing 19th Annual General Meeting.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO.

The statement reflecting the particulars relating to conservation of
energy, technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings and
outgo is attached to the report as Annexure-5.

PARTICULARS OF REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS;, KEY
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL AND EMPLOYEES’

The details of remuneration of each of the director & KMP of the
Company and other particulars in terms of Section 197(12) of the
Act read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 are annexed to
this report Annexure-6.

A statement containing the names and other particulars of the
employees of the Company in terms of the provisions of Rules 5(2)
and 5(3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are provided in Annexure-6A.

DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public till
date. Further, no amount on account of principal or interest on
deposits from public was outstanding as on the date of the balance
sheet.

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

The industrial relations during the Year Under Review remained
harmonious and cordial.

DISCLOSURES

No significant or material orders were passed by the regulators or
courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status and
Company'’s operations in future.

The Company has complied with all the applicable secretarial

standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India
from time to time and approved by the Central Government.
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No application has been made under the Insolvency and
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company; hence the
requirement to disclose the details of the application made or any
proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code,
2016 during the Year Under Review along with their status at the
end of the financial year is not applicable.

The requirement to disclose the details of difference between done
at the time of one time settlement and the valuation done while
taking loan from the bank or financial institutions along with the
reasons thereof, is not applicable,

MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORD

The company has duly maintained the books of account pursuant to
the rules made by the Central Government for the maintenance of
cost records under Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013,
related to manufacture of goods.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT
WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL)
ACT, 2013

Your Company is committed to ensure that all are treated with
dignity and respect. The human resource department in
collaboration with other functions, ensure protection against sexual
harassment of women at workplace and for the prevention and
redressal of complaint in this regard.

In line with the requirements of the Sexual Harassment of Women at
the Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013, an
Anti-Sexual Harassment Policy has been put in place and Internal
Complaints Committee (“ICC”") has been set up to redress
complaints received regarding sexual harassment. During the year
under review, no complaint has been received by ICC.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS

Apart from disclosures made in the report, no other material
changes and commitments have occurred, after the close of the
year till the date of this report, which affect the financial position of
the Company.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT:

In terms of the provisions of Section 134(5) of the Companies Act,
2013, your Directors declare that:

in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year
ended March 31, 2025, the applicable Accounting Standards
have been followed along with proper explanation relating to
material departures;

i. the directors had selected such accounting policies and
applied them consistently and made judgements and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at March
31, 2025 and of the profit/loss of the Company for the year
ended on that date;

iii. the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities;

iv. the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going
concern basis.

v. the directors, had laid down internal financial controls to be
followed by the Company and that such internal financial
controls are adequate and were operating effectively.

vi. the directors had devised proper systems to ensure
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that
such systems were adequate and operating effectively.such
systems were adequate and operating effectively.
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FORM AOC-1 Annexure-1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)
Statement containing salient features of the financial Statement of
Subsidiaries/Associate Companies/Joint Ventures

Part“A”: Subsidiaries
(Information in respect of each of subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs in crore)

Particulars 1 2 3 4
Sl. No. - . . Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private
Name of the subsidiary B::'_Ia '_l;yr;jes 0(|3-L (':_‘-tlo:al OEL (.:th':a Limited (formerly known as Dalmia Mining
imite imite Imite and Services Private Limited)
01 The date since when 05052022 | 01.03.2022 | 01.03.2022 10.03.2023
subsidiary was acquired
Reporting period for the subsidiary
concerned, if different from the
02 holding company'’s reporting NA NA NA NA
period
Reporting currency and Exchange UsD CNY
rate as on the last date of the
03 relevant Financial year in the NA Exchange rate | Exchange rate NA
case of foreign subsidiaries - [85.4750] -[11.79]
04 Share capital 0.01 0.50 24.41 0.15
05 Reserves & surplus/other equity 17.53 196.27 27.06 1.54
06 Total Assets 23.95 222.93 61.38 98.32
07 Total Liabilities 6.42 26.14 9.91 96.63
08 Investments 1.89 - - -
09 Turnover - 47.69 38.07 -
10 Profit before taxation (1.21) 46.33 (5.33) (10.92)
1 Tax expense (0.68) - - -
12 Profit after taxation (0.53) 46.33 (5.33) (10.92)
13 Proposed Dividend - - - -
90% held by OCL
Extent of shareholding o o Global Limited o
" (In percentage) 99.99% 100% (Step Down 99.99%
Subsidiary)

15 Annual Report 2024-2025



Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations —Birla Tyres Limited and Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited
(formerly known as Dalmia Mining Services Private Limited)

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year — None.

Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures

Name of

Sl. No. Joint

Venture

Associate/

Latest Networth
audited | Amount of atlrlbutab_le to
X Shareholding as
balance | investment A
sheet per latest audited

Balance Sheet

Extend of
holding %

Profit/(loss)
for the year
in consideration
for consolidation

Proﬁtl(loss? for Description of | Reason why the
the year in L P
. X significant associate is not
consideration L N
influence consolidated

for consolidation

Not Applicable

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Date: 14.05.2025
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Sd/-
Deepak Thombre

Chairman
DIN: 02421599
Place : Pune

Sd/-

Chandra Narain Maheshwari

Whole Time Director & CEO

DIN: 00125680
Place: New Delhi

Sd/-
Rahul Sahni

Chief Financial Officer
Place: New Delhi

Sd/-
Soumya Sharma

Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
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Annexure-2

ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (‘CSR’) ACTIVITIES TO BE
INCLUDED IN THE BOARD’S REPORT FOR FINANCIAL YEAR COMMENCING ON OR AFTER
1st DAY OF APRIL, 2024

I. Brief outline on CSR Policy of Dalmia Bharat Refractories
Limited (‘Company’):

At Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited, our Corporate Social
Responsibility (“CSR) strategy is rooted in the values of sustainable
development and responsible business practices. Adopted on May
6, 2022, our CSR Policy guides our efforts to make a lasting impact
on society, the environment, and the economy. Our goal is to go
beyond mere compliance, integrating deeper societal and
environmental values into our operations and decision-making
processes, reflecting our dedication to being a responsible
corporate entity in line with our core values.

Il. Composition of CSR Committee of the Company as on March
31,2025

The CSR Policy outlines the guidelines that allow the Company to
effectively utilize its resources and expertise to foster sustainability,
promote social well-being, and protect the environment, thus
contributing to the long-term prosperity of society at large. Through
a mix of proactive initiatives and strategic partnerships, we remain
dedicated to advancing the objectives of sustainable development
and ensuring that our corporate activities benefit the world around
us.

In accordance with Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013,
including Schedule VII, and the Companies (Corporate Social
Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, the Company undertakes its CSR
activities, projects, and programs in full compliance with the relevant
provisions of the Act and the Rules.

S. No. Name of Director Designation / Nature of Number of meetings of CSR Number of meetings of CSR
Directorship Committee held during the Committee attended during
year the year
1. Dr. C.N. Maheshwari Chairman 1 1
2. Mr. Deepak Thombre Member 1 1
3. Ms. Rachna Goria Member 1 -

Pursuant to the resignation of Mr. Sameer Nagpal, the CSR Committee was reconstituted and Dr. C.N. Maheshwari and Ms. Rachna Goria were

appointed as the Chairman and Member of the Committee, respectively.

lll. Provide the web-link where Composition of CSR
committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the
board are disclosed on the website of the Company.
www.dalmiaocl.com/investors.php

IV. Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of
Impact assessment of CSR projects carried out in
pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable.

Not applicable

V. (a) Average net profit of the Company as per sub-section (5) of
section 135- Loss of INR 16.89 crore

(b) Two percent of average net profit of the Company as per
sub-section (5) of section 135-NIL

(c) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programs or
activities of the previous financial years-NIL
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(d) Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if
any-NIL

Total CSR obligation for the financial year ((Va) + (Vb) - (Vc)) -
NIL

VI. (a) Amount spent on CSR projects (both ongoing and other
than ongoing projects)- NIL as the Company did not
have any average net profits under section 135(5)

(b) Amount spent in administrative overheads-NIL

(c) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable- Not
Applicable

(d) Total amount spent for the
((VIa)+(VIb)+(Vic) — NIL

financial  year

(e) CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year
2024-25:
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Amount Unspent (in Rs.)

Total Amount transferred to Unspent Amount transferred to any fund
Total Amount Spent for the Financial Year. CSR Account as per sub-section (6) specified under Schedule VIl as per
(in Rs.) of section 135 second proviso to section 135(5).

Amount. | Date of transfer. | Name of the Fund Amount. | Date of transfer.

NIL NIL

(f) Excess amount for set-off, if any:

Sl. No. Particular Amount (in Rs.)
(i) Two percent of average net profit of the Company as per section 135(5) NIL
(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year NIL
(iii) Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] NIL
() Surplus arising out of the CSR projeqts or programmes or activities of the NIL
previous financial years, if any
(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] NIL

VII. Details of Unspent CSR amount for the preceding three financial years

Preceding | Amount transferred Balance Amount Amount spent Amount transferred to Amount remaining Deficiency,
Financial to Unspent CSR in Unspent CSR in the Financial a fund specified under to be spent in if any
SI. No. Year Account under Account under Year (in Rs.) Schedule VIl as per succeeding
section 135 sub-section (6) section 135(5), if any. financial years.
(6) (in Rs.) of Section (in Rs.)
135 (in Rs.) Amount Date of
(in Rs) transfer
NIL

VIll. Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent in the financial
year:

Yes No

If yes, enter the number of capita assets created/acquired — Not Applicable
Furnish the details relating to such asset(s) so created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent in the Financial Year

Short particulars of Pincode of the Date of creation Amount of CSR Details of entity/ Authority/ beneficiary
the property or asset(s) property or amount spent of the registered owner
SI. No. [including complete asset(s)
address and location
of the property]

CSR Name Registered

Registration Address
No, if

applicable

Not Applicable

IX. Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per section 135(5).
For Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Sd/-

Chandra Narain Maheshwari
Whole Time Director & CEO
Chairman of CSR Committee
DIN: 00125680

Place: New Delhi
date: 14.05.2025
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FORM AOC-2

Annexure-3

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies

(Accounts) Rules, 2014.

Form for Disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related parties
referred to in sub section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arms length transaction
under third proviso thereto.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at Arm’s length basis

Sl. No. Particular Details
a) Name (s) of the related party & nature of relationship
b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction
c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/transaction
d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transaction including the
value, if any NIL
e) Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or
transactions’
f) Date of approval by the Board
Q) Amount paid as advances, if any
h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in General meeting as
required under first proviso to section 188
2. Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at Arm’s length basis.
Sl. No. Particular Details
a) Name (s) of the related party & nature of relationship H|.ppostores Technology P”V‘T"te
Limited- promoter group entity
For investment in Hippostores Technology
b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction Private Limited by subscribing its optionally
convertible debentures (“OCDs”)
c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/transaction NA
. . The price of OCDs were determined
Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transaction ) .
d) . . ) basis the valuation report of a
including the value, if any '
registered valuer.
e) Date of approval by the Board April 10, 2024
f) Amount paid as advances, if any NA
Sl. No. Particular Details
Keshav Power Limited along with Dalmia
a) Name (s) of the related party & nature of relationship Bharat Limited- both are promoter
group entities
. Acquisition of equity shares of Dalmia
b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction Bharat Limited from Keshav Power Limited
c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/transaction NA
Company has invested in the equity share capital of
d Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transaction Dalmia Bharat Limited, by purchasing its equity shares
) including the value, if any from Keshav Power Limited, though block deal
purchase, at the market price
e) Date of approval by the Board April 12, 2024
f) Amount paid as advances, if any NA
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Sl. No. Particular Details
a) Name (s) of the related party & nature of relationship Da'm'?’ Bharat Sugar and Indu;trles
Limited- promoter group entity
b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction For sale of refractory products
c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/transaction One year
Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transaction Sale Of. refractory products by the ICompa.ny to
d) . : ) Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited
including the value, if any .
for an amount not exceeding 20 Crore
e) Date of approval by the Board July 10, 2024
f) Amount paid as advances, if any NA
Sl. No. Particular Details
a) Name (s) of the related party & nature of relationship OCL China lelteql- promoter
group entity
b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction For purchase of refractory products
c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/transaction One year
Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transaction Purchase of refractory plrodu_cts. by the
d) . . ; Company from OCL China Limited for
including the value, if any .
an amount not exceeding 25 Crore
e) Date of approval by the Board July 10, 2024
f) Amount paid as advances, if any NA
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Date: 14.05.2025 Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Deepak Thombre Chandra Narain Maheshwari Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma
Chairman Whole Time Director & CEO Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680 Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
Place : Pune Place: New Delhi
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Annexure-4

FORM NO. MR-3

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies Appointment
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2025

To,

The Members

DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED
CIN: - L26100TN2006PLC061254
DALMIAPURAM

TAMIL NADU 621651

We (N C KHANNA, Company Secretaries “firm”) have conducted
the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory
provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by
DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED (hereinafter called
the “Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that
provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate
conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion
thereon.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute
books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the
Company and also the information provided by the Company, its
officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct
of secretarial audit, the explanations and clarifications given to us
and the representations made by the management, we hereby
report that in our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period
covering the financial year ended on March 31, 2025, complied with
the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company
has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place
to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made
hereinafter,

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and
returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for the
financial year ended on March 31, 2025, according to the provisions
of:

i.  The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made there
under;

ii.  The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 ('SCRA’) and
the rules made there under;

ii.  The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws
framed there under;

iv.  Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and
regulations made thereunder to extent of Foreign Direct
Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External
Commercial borrowings.

v.  The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the
Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):-

a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of
Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of
Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018;

d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based
Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021%;

e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and
Listing of Non-Convertible Securities Regulations, 2021;*

f)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to
an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client*

g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of
Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009*; and

h)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of
Securities) Regulations, 2018%;
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*(Not applicable as there is no reportable event held during the
financial year under review);

vi. Other laws applicable to the Company namely: -

We have examined the entire framework, processes and
procedures of compliance of Environmental Laws, Labour Laws &
other General Laws. The reports, compliances etc. with respect to
these laws have been examined by us on test check basis.

Industry Specific laws applicable to the Company #

The Company has identified the following laws as specifically
applicable to the Company:

a) The Mines Act- 1952 Mines Rule
b) Metalliferous Mines Regulation -1961
c) Mines Labour Welfare Fund Act
d) Explosives Rules & Regulations

# the Company has a proper monitoring system for compliance of
Industry specific laws. There are no regular compliances under
some acts. However, as and when an event arise the Company has
attended the same promptly.

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of
the following:

Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company
Secretaries of India.

i. SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosures Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR Regulations”) and Listing
Agreements entered into by the Company with the Metropolitan
Stock Exchange of India Limited (MSEl) and The Calcutta
Stock Exchange Limited;

During the period under review the Company has complied with the
provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards,
etc. mentioned above.

We further report that

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with
proper balance of Executive Directors, Non- Executive Directors and
Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of the Board
of Directors that took place during the period under review are
carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Adequate notices were given to all directors to schedule the Board
Meetings agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent in
accordance with applicable statutory provision and a system exists
for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on
the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful
participation at the meeting.

All decisions at Board and Committee Meetings are carried out
unanimously as recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Board
of Directors or Committees of the Board, as the case may be.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes
in the company commensurate with the size and operations of the
company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and guidelines.
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We further report that during the audit period: -

Mr. Sameer Nagpal, Non-Executive Director, resigned on June
17, 2024.

Mr. Prakash Dalmia was appointed as Executive Director (Tyre
Undertaking) on August 01, 2024. However, he resigned from
the post of Director w.e.f. January 15, 2025. Subsequently, Mr.
Mukund Chaudhary was appointed as Executive Director (Tyre
Undertaking) w.e.f. February 01, 2025.

During the reporting period, the Company appointed Ms.
Soumya Sharma as the Company Secretary and KMP with
effect from September 24, 2024, following the resignation of
Ms. Meghna Saini on September 13, 2024.

The Board of Directors of the Company in February 2024, have
approved the Scheme of Amalgamation (“Scheme”) between
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited (“Demerged
Company”) and the Company and their respective
shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and all other
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for transfer
and vesting of Demerged Undertaking 1 or “DMC Unit” i.e. the
refractory business of Demerged Company which is engaged
in the business of manufacturing of refractories and Demerged
Undertaking 2 or “GT Unit” i.e. the tours and travel service
business of Demerged Company into the Company on a going
concern basis.

Pursuant to a "no objection" letter from the Metropolitan Stock
Exchange Of India under Regulation 37 of the SEBI LODR, the
Scheme was subsequently filed with NCLT. Further, in terms of
the Order dated December 20, 2024, passed by the National
Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench, the Company has held
its Shareholders and Creditors Meeting on February 09, 2025 to
seek their respective approvals to the aforementioned Scheme
and both the Shareholders and Creditors of the Company have
approved the Scheme with requisite majority. Now, the Scheme
is pending before NCLT, Chennai for its approval.

Date 14.05.2025

N C KHANNA Place: New Delhi

(Practicing Company Secretary)
FCS No.: 4268

CP No.: 5143

UDIN: FO04268G000344828

This Report is to be read with our letter of even date, which is annexed as Annexure A to this Report and forms an integral part of this Report.
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Annexure-A

To,

The Members

DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED
CIN: - L26100TN2006PLC061254
DALMIAPURAM

TAMIL NADU 621651

Our Secretarial Audit Report of even date, for the financial year ended March 31, 2025 is to be read along with this letter.

Management’s Responsibility

1. It is the responsibility of the management of the Company to maintain secretarial records,devise proper systems to ensure
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws andregulations, and to ensure that the systems are adequate and operate
effectively.

Auditor’s Responsibility

2. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records, standards andprocedures followed by the Company
with respect to secretarial compliances.

3. We believe that audit evidence and information obtained from the Company’s managementare adequate and appropriate for
us to provide a basis for our opinion.

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the management’s representation about thecompliance of laws, rules and regulations
and the occurrence of events, etc.

Disclaimer

5. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company,nor of the efficacy or effectiveness
with which the management has conducted the affairs ofthe Company.

6. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books ofaccounts of the Company.

Date 14.05.2025

N C KHANNA Place: New Delhi

(Practicing Company Secretary)
FCS No.: 4268

CP No.: 5143

UDIN: F004268G000344828
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Annexure-5

PARTICULARS OF CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN
EXCHANGE EARNING AND OUTGO

A. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

a)

b)

c)

The steps taken/ impact on conservation of energy:

During the Year Under Review, the Company has taken
following steps, at its locations for conservation of energy

Modification of Tempering Kiln: Fuel Conversion from
Diesel to LPG

e Specific Energy Consumption Reduction: From 201
kcal/kg to 125 kcal/kg

e Carbon Emission Reduction: Better combustion of
LPG compared to diesel results in lower carbon
emissions

Modification of Tempering Kiln Drives with VFD Installation

e FEnergy Savings: Approximately 50 units/hour,
translating to 1200 units/day

The steps taken by the Company, for utilizing alternate
sources of energy:

During the Year Under Review, the Company has used LPG for
tempering kiln, as an alternative fuel for diesel.

The capital investment on energy conservation
equipment’s:

Your Company has invested Rs 129 Lakhs in modifying the
tempering kiln with a new combustion system and LPG bank
system in the Mag Carbon Brick Plant for the brick tempering
process.

B. TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION:

a)

b)

c)
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The efforts made towards technology absorption:

e No External technology absorption was undertaken.

e Successfully developed 5 new products through
in-house development, alongside continuous
improvement of existing products.

e Ongoing laboratory-level experiments are focused on
developing enhanced product performance.

The Benefits derived like Product improvement, cost
reduction, product development, import substitution, etc.:

e Product improvements by utilizing alternative raw
materials, promoting sustainability.

e By consuming recycled and alternative raw materials
instead of virgin materials, INR 49 lakhs was saved
during the Year Under Review.

e Successfully developed 5 new products, including
Alumina Castable and Basic Monolithics, during the FY
25.

Expenditure incurred on Research and Development.

No specific expenditure has been incurred by the Company on
Research and Development during the Year Under Review.

C. FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND OUTGO

I) Foreign Exchange earned in terms of actual inflows during the
year: INR 3.02 Cr.

II) Foreign Exchange outgo during the year in terms of actual
outflows: INR 8.59 Cr.
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Annexure-6

Details Pertaining to the remuneration as required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read
with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

Details of ratio of the remuneration of each Director to the median remuneration of the employees of the Company for the year under review
is given below:

Remuneration of Director % increase in Ratio of remuneration of each
Sr. No. Name of Director for year under review remuneration Director/to median
(Rs. in Crore) for year under review remuneration of employees

Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari o
B Whole Time Director 1.49 25% 20.97

Mr. Deepak Thombre

2. Independent Director 0.1 ) 162
Mr. Rajkamal Saraogi

s Independent Director 0.1 } 162

4 Ms. Rachna Goria ) . .

Non-Executive Women Director

5. Mr. PraKash Dalmla 107 NA 15
Executive Director

Mr. Mukund Choudhary

Executive Director 0.37 NA 5.22

Notes:

The amount paid to independent directors include the commission and sitting fees. However, as per the NRC Policy of the Company,
sitting fees does not form part of remuneration.

2. Mr. Prakash Dalmia was appointed as the Executive Director (Tyre Undertaking) w.e.f. August 01, 2025. However, Mr. Dalmia ceased to
be the Executive Director w.e.f January 15, 2025. The remuneration details depicted above are per annum figures, however Mr. Prakash
Dalmia has drawn salary only from August 01, 2024 till January 15, 2025.

3. Mr. Mukund Choudhary was appointed as the Executive Director (Tyre Undertaking) of the Company w.e.f February 01, 2025. The
remuneration details depicted above are per annum figures, however Mr. Choudhary has drawn salary from February 01, 2025.

I The median remuneration of employees of the Company VII)  The name of every employee, who-
during the Year Under Review (2024-25) was INR 7.15 Lakhs

i. if employed throughout the financial year, was in receipt of

) The percentage increase in the median remuneration of L%Tlinsesr?;:ggﬁ; ?ritrgiiij\/tvxgclr;kw rtuhee:Sg.gregate, was
employees of the Company in the financial year was 13.86% pees;

IV)  There were 63 permanent employees on the rolls of Company Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari
as on March 31, 2025. L ) ) . :

ii. if employed for a part of the financial year, was in receipt

V) Average percentage increase in the salaries of employees %fere?unrzragfe n fa;zn;r/]gtarlégfstr;ﬁ;ﬁez? ErlwttaI;iLe \;v:;cr},ién
other than key managerial personnel of the Company was ggregate, ’ 9 Y
15% thousand rupees per month;

VI)  Average percentage increase in the remuneration of Chief None
\llzvlgsn(:lal Officer and Company Secretary of the Company iii. if employed throughout the financial year or part thereof,

was in receipt of remuneration in that year which, in the
aggregate, or as the case may be, at a rate which, in the
i i i Average % aggregate, is in excess of that drawn by the managing
Sr. No. | Name of Director Designation Increase director or whole-time director or manager and holds by
himself or along with his spouse and dependent children,
not less than two percent of the equity shares of the
1. Mr. Rahul Sahni | Chief Financial Officer 25% company.
o None
2. Ms. Meghna Saini*| Company Secretary 30%
iv.. Particulars of employees posted and working in a country
Ms. Soumya outside India, not being directors or their relatives, drawing
s Sharma* Company Secretary NA more than sixty lakh rupees per financial year or five lakh
rupees per month.
Notes:
1. Ms. Meghna Saini has resigned as the Company Secretary of None
the Company w.e.f September 13, 2024.
VI It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid during the
2. Ms. Soumya Sharma was appointed as the Company year under review was in terms of the Remuneration Policy
Secretary of the Company w.e.f September 24, 2024. of the Company.
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I. COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance at Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
(“DBRL/Company”) embodies the principles that define and
regulate the relationship between the Company and its diverse
stakeholders—shareholders, board members, management,
employees, regulators, and the wider community—with the singular
objective of ethical, transparent, and sustainable value creation.

Our philosophy is anchored in conducting business with integrity,
fairness, and accountability. We strive to exceed the minimum
requirements of the regulatory framework by embedding good
governance into every facet of our operations—ranging from our
corporate structure and decision-making processes to our
disclosure practices and stakeholder communications. We
emphasize system-driven performance, rigorous internal controls,
and continuous dialogue with investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, and regulators to ensure that all voices are heard and
interests safeguarded.

To uphold this commitment, our policies are reviewed periodically
and refined to align with evolving best practices and stakeholder
expectations. We adhere strictly to all applicable laws and
regulations, including the Companies Act, 2013, and the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”"), ensuring full
compliance both in letter and in spirit. By maintaining the highest
standards of transparency in disclosures and governance, we
reinforce our pledge to protect shareholder interests and foster
long-term trust.

ll. BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
Composition and category of directors

The Company follows a policy of maintaining a balanced and
diverse Board of Directors (“Board”), comprising an appropriate
mix of executive and non-executive directors, including
independent directors and a woman director.

As on March 31, 2025, the Board of the Company comprised of five
directors, two of whom are executive directors, one non-executive
women director and two independent directors.

The composition of the Board complies with Regulation 17 of the
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, as amended from time to time. Additionally, all
directors—executive and non-executive—bring  professional
expertise and vast experience to their roles, and none of the
directors are related to each other or to any key managerial
personnel of the Company.

Mr. Deepak Thombre, Chairman of the Board is a non- executive
independent director and is not related to the Whole Time Director
of the Company.

All the independent directors have given a declaration of
independence in terms of Section 149(6) of the Act read with
Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules 2014
and the SEBI Listing Regulations. Based on the Board’s evaluation,
it is affirmed that all independent directors meet the criteria of
independence specified under the SEBI Listing Regulations and are
independent of the management.

The composition of the Board as on March 31, 2025 is as under:

28

Non-Executive Independent Directors 40%

Non-Executive and Non-Independent

i 20%
Directors

Executive Directors i.e. Whole Time 20
Director(s)

Total Board Size and Composition 100%

Board Meetings, Directors’ Attendance Record and Directorships
Held

The Board meetings are generally held at the corporate office of the
Company, however, it may not be possible for all the directors to be
physically present at all meetings. Therefore, we provide
videoconferencing facilities to enable their participation. The
meetings are carried out in accordance to the applicable provisions
and relaxations provided by the SEBI and MCA Circulars in this
regard. The Board meets at least once every quarter and additional
meeting(s) are requisitioned, whenever necessary.

The Board have met 8 (Eight) times during the financial year 2024-25,
i.e.,on April 12, 2024, May 28, 2024, July 10, 2024, August 06, 2024,
September 24, 2024, November 13, 2024, February 01, 2025 and
March 19, 2025. The maximum gap between any two meetings was
less than 120 days during the Year Under Review.

None of the directors are members of more than ten board level
committees nor are they chairman of more than five committees in
which they are members. Table 1 gives the details of the composition
of the Board, attendance and details of committee memberships and
committee chairmanships, Table 2 provides the names of the listed
entities where the directors of the Company hold directorship and the
category of directorship and Table 3 is a chart setting out the
skills/expertise/ competence of the directors as identified by the
Board in context of the business (es) and sector(s) for Board to
function effectively and Table 4 is the chart setting out core skills/
expertise and competencies of the Directors.

None of the directors on the Board of the Company have been
debarred or disqualified from being appointed and continuing as
directors of the Company by Securities Exchange Board of India
(“SEBI”) / MCA or any other statutory authority(ies). A certificate in
this regard from Mr. N.C. Khanna, Practicing Company Secretary is
enclosed at the end of the report.
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Table 1: Composition of the Board of Directors as on March 31,2025

No. of Directorship(s) and
Attendance Particulars other Co_mmlttee(_s) !\_Ilembe_rshlps/
Chairmanships’including
the Company
Name of the Category of Number of Board
Directors Director Meetings
Last Director- Committee Committee
N Memberships’| Chairman-
AGM ships@ .
# ships’#
Entitled
Held to Attended
attend
Dr. Chandra Ngraln Whole Time 8 8 8 v 5 3 i
Maheshwari Director & CEO
Chairman
Mr. Deepak Non- Executive 8 8 8 v 5 7 5
Ambadas Thombre Independent
Mr. Raj Kamal Non- Executive 8 8 8 v 1 1 i
Saraogi Independent
Mr: Samejer Non-Executive 8 2 2 NA - - -
Nagpal™
Ms. Ra.chna Non-Executive 8 8 7 - 9 1 -
Goria
Mr: Pra'ka}sh Executive 8 3 1 - - - -
Dalmia®
Mr. MUKUH? Executive 8 1 1 NA 1 - -
Choudhary™

@ Excluding directorships in private limited companies, foreign companies and section 8 companies under the provisions of the Act;

#The disclosure includes membership/ chairpersonship of the audit committee and stakeholder’s relationship committee in Indian public
companies (listed and unlisted).

*1 Mr. Sameer Nagpal resigned from the position of Non- Executive Director with effect from June 17,2024.

*2 Mr. Prakash Dalmia was appointed as the Executive Director with effect from August 01,2024, however he resigned from the said
position from the closing hours of January 15, 2025.

*3 Mr. Mukund Choudhary was appointed as the Executive Director with effect from February 01, 2025.

Notes:

None of the directors (i) hold membership in more than ten public limited companies and (ii) is a member of more than ten committees or
chairperson of more than five committees across all the public companies in which he/she is a Director (iii) hold directorship in more than seven
listed companies and serve as an independent director in more than seven listed companies;
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Table 2: Details of other public companies in which directorship is held by the Directors of the Company as on March 31,2025

Name of the Name of the other public companies in Catedor
Directors which directorship held gory

1. AFC India Limited Director .

2. Vinay Cement Limited Independent D!rector
Mr. Deepak 3. Dalmia Cement (North East) Limited (Formerly known Independent Director
Thombre as Calcom Cement India Limited) .

4. Sanghvi Movers Limited Independent Director
Mr. Raj Kamal R
Saraogi NIL

Dr. Chandra Narain
Maheshwari

1. Alirox Abrasives Limited

Director

Ms. Rachna Goria

@ N O oA W

Sri Madhusudana Mines and Properties Limited
Alsthom Industries Limited

Hemshila Properties Limited

D.l. Properties Limited

Baghauli Sugar and Distillery Limited

Dalmia Power Limited

RCL Cements Limited

SCL Cements Limited

Director

Mr. Mukund
Choudhary

NIL

Table 3: Board Skill Matrix:

Core skills/lexpertise /competencies, as required in the context of the business and sector for it to function effectively and those actually
available with the Board have been identified by the Board. The detailed Chart/ Matrix of such core skills/ expertise/ competencies along
with the names of the Directors who possess such skills is given in the below table:

S.no. Experience/ Expertise/Attribute

Description

Management &
Leadership Skills

Should be a Visionary with strategic goal for the Company, help the
Company to identify possible road maps and mentor the leadership
team to channelize the energy/efforts in appropriate direction. Should
be a thought leader and a role model in good governance and ethical
conduct of business, while encouraging the organization to maximize
shareholder value.

Industry Knowledge and
Experience

Should possess domain knowledge in businesses in which the
company participates viz. manufacture and sale of refractory, tyre and
allied products and services and such other areas as appropriate for
betterment of Company business.

Experience and Exposure in
policy shaping and industry
advocacy

Should possess ability to develop professional relationship with the
policy makers and Regulators for Contributing to the shaping of
Government policies in the areas of Company’s business.

Governance including legal
& restructuring compliance

Should have Commitment, belief and experience in setting corporate
governance practices to support the Company’s legal Compliance
systems and Governance policies/practices.

Expertise/ Experience in
Finance & Accounts/ Audit/
Risk Management areas

Should be able to understand Financial policies, accounting
statements and disclosure practices and contribute to the financial/risk
management polices/ Practices of the Company.
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Table 4: Chart setting out Core Skills/ Expertise and Competencies of the Directors

Skills/ Expertise and Compe

) Expertise/
S.no. Name of the Director Experience and Governance . .
Industry Knowl- ) ) . ) Experience in
Management & Exposure in policy| including legal & i
: ) edge and ) ) Finance &
Leadership Skills . shaping and restructuring )
Experience | , Accounts/ Audit/
industry advocacy compliance )
Risk Management
Mr. Deepak Ambadas
1 P v v v . v
Thombre
2. Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi v - v v v
Dr. Chandra Narain
3
Maheshwari v v v v v
4. Ms. Rachna Goria v - - v v
5. Mr. Mukund Choudhary v v - R v

Meeting of Independent Directors and Familiarization Programs

Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi and Mr. Deepak Thombre, have given their
requisite declaration of independence in terms of Section 149(6) of
the Act and rule 6(1) of the Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Rules 2014 and applicable SEBI Listing
Regulation, as amended from time to time and as applicable for the
time being in force. In the opinion of the Board, all the independent
directors fulfil the conditions specified in these regulations and are
independent of the management.

As per the requirement of Regulation 25 of SEBI Listing Regulations
and Schedule IV of the Act, the Company, has conducted
Independent Directors meeting on February 01, 2025 to review the
performance of the Non-Independent Directors and the Board as a
whole and assess the quality, quantity and timelines of flow of
information between the management and the Board of the
Company, that is necessary for the Board to effectively and
reasonably perform its duties. The Company is regularly imparting
familiarization programs for its Independent and Non- Executive
Directors and the details of the same is disclosed at the website of
the Company at www.dalmiaocl.com.

Information Supplied to the Board

The Board has complete access to all the information with the
Company. The agenda and the papers for consideration of the
Board are circulated well in advance. Adequate information
including any important development connected with the business
of the Company is circulated as part of agenda papers and also
placed at the meeting to enable the Board to take informed
decisions.

The Board periodically reviews compliance reports prepared for all
laws applicable on the Company, as well as steps taken by the
Company for further strengthening the systems adopted to ensure
compliance of all applicable laws.

The Board has accepted all the recommendations made by its
Committees during the year.

Details of the shares and convertible instruments held by the Directors as on March 31,2025

. . . Number of shares held No. of Convertible

Name of the Director Category of directorship . R
in the company Instruments held in the company

Mr. Deepak Thombre Independent Non-executive Nil Nil

Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi Independent Non-executive Nil Nil

Mr. Chandra Narain : .

Maheshwari Executive 695 Nil

Ms. Rachna Goria Non-executive Nil Nil

Mr. Mukund Choudhary Executive Nil Nil
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Remuneration of Directors

The Board has approved the remuneration payable to the executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company such that the
independent directors are entitled for the sitting fees for attending
the Board and Committee meetings, as the case may be, and
reimbursement of expenses incurred by them for undertaking their
duties as directors of the Company.

In addition to above, the non-executive independent directors,
apart from the sitting fees, are also eligible for commission of upto
1% of the net profit of the Company calculated in accordance with
the provisions of the Act subject to the maximum commission of INR
10 lakhs in a financial year, which was approved by the
shareholders of the Company in its annual general meeting held on
September 27, 2022.

There was no pecuniary relationship or transaction between the
Non-Executive Directors and the Company during the FY 2024-25.

Information Supplied to the Board

The Board has complete access to all the information with the
Company. The agenda and the papers for consideration of the
Board are circulated well in advance. Adequate information
including any important development connected with the business
of the Company is circulated as part of agenda papers and also
placed at the meeting to enable the Board to take informed
decisions.

The Board periodically reviews compliance reports prepared for all
laws applicable on the Company, as well as steps taken by the
Company for further strengthening the systems adopted to ensure
compliance of all applicable laws.

The Board has accepted all the recommendations made by its
Committees during the year.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors during the financial year 2024-25

(Rs. Crore)
. Category of . Salary and Retirement I
Name of the Director directorship Sitting Fees Perquisites Benefits Commission| Total
Mr. Deepak Thombre Independent 0.06 - - 0.05 0.11
Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi Independent 0.06 - - 0.05 0.11
Mr. Chandra Narain Executive ) 149 ) ) )
Maheshwari
Ms. Rachna Goria Non-Executive - - - - -
Mr. Prakash Dalmia’ Executive - 1.07 - - -
Mr. Mukund Choudhary? Executive - 0.37 - - -

Notes:

1.The remuneration details depicted above are per annum figures, however Mr. Prakash Dalmia has drawn salary only for the period August 01,

2024 till January 15, 2025.

2.The remuneration details depicted above are per annum figures, however Mr. Choudhary has drawn salary from February 01, 2025.

lll. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Company has four Board-level committees — Audit Committee,
Stakeholders’  Relationship  Committee,  Nomination  and
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee.

All decisions pertaining to the constitution of committees,
appointment of members and fixing of terms of service for
committee members are taken by the Board. Details on the role and
composition of these committees are provided below:

a) Audit Committee

During the Year Under Review, consequent to the resignation of Mr.
Sameer Nagpal as the Non-Executive Director of the Company,
there was a change in the composition of the Audit Committee.
Accordingly, Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari was inducted as the
Member of the Committee on June 29, 2024.
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As on March 31, 2025, the audit committee of the Board comprises
of three members namely Mr. Deepak Thombre, Mr. Raj Kamal
Saraogi and Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari. The Committee
comprises of qualified members of the Board, who have expertise,
knowledge and experience in the field of accounting and financial
management. The scope, compliances, functions and composition
of the committees met the requirement of section 177 of the Act and
Regulation 18 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, as amended from
time to time.

During the Year Under Review, the Audit committee met 8 times
during the year 2024-25, i.e. on April 12, 2024, May 28, 2024, July
10, 2024, August 06, 2024, September 24, 2024, November 13,
2024, February 01, 2025 and March 19, 2025. The time gap
between any two meetings during the year was less than four
months. The Chairman of the Audit committee was present in the
Annual General Meeting of the Company held on August 09, 2024.
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The composition of the Audit committee and the details of meetings attended by the Directors are given below:

Attendance Record of Audit committee during 2024-2025

No. of Meetings
Name of Cat Stat Entitled
L ategory atus ntitle
Director Held to Attended
attend
1. Mr. Deepak
Thombre Independent Chairman 8 8 8
2 g/lr, Raj 'Kamal Independent Member 8 8 8
araogi
3. Mr. Sameer Non- Executive Member 8 2 0
Nagpal : '
4.Dr.C. N. :
Maheshwari Executive Member 8 6 6

*Pursuant to the resignation of Mr. Sameer Nagpal w.e.f. June 17,
2024, the Audit Committee was reconstituted on June 29, 2024 and
Dr. C.N. Maheshwari was inducted as the Member of the Audit
Committee

The Board has accepted all the recommendations made by the
audit committee. The statutory auditor and internal auditors are also
regularly invited by the audit committee to discuss their comments
and recommendation of accounts, internal controls and processes.
The statutory auditors and internal auditors were present at all audit
committee meetings held during the year, as and when required.
The Chief Financial Officer is the permanent invitee to the meetings
of the Committee. Pursuant to the resignation of Ms. Meghna Saini
as the Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Soumya Sharma
became the Secretary of the Committee w.e.f. September 24, 2024.

The audit committee has power to investigate any activity within its
terms of reference, to seek information from any employee, to obtain
outside legal or other professional advice and to secure attendance
of outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary.

The role and terms of reference of the Audit committee covers all the
areas prescribed under Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013
and Regulation 18 of the SEBI Listing Regulations.

The Committee reviews the internal audit reports and action taken
reports of the management thereupon. It also reviews and
discusses with the management and statutory auditors, the
quarterly results, financial statements and such other related issues
before their submission to the Board.

The broad terms of reference of the Audit committee therefore
include:

e oversight of the company's financial reporting process and the
disclosure of its financial information to ensure that the financial
statement is correct, sufficient and credible;

e recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms of
appointment of Auditors of the Company;

e review and monitor the auditor's independence and
performance, and effectiveness of audit process;

e examination of the financial statement and the Auditors’ report
thereon;

e approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the
company with related parties;

e scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;
e valuation of undertakings or assets of the company, wherever it
is necessary;

e evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management
systems;

e monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and
related matters, etc.
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e discussion with Internal Auditors of any significant findings and
follow up there on

e toreview the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism

The following information is reviewed by the Audit Committee:

e Management discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations;

e Management letters/ letters of internal control weaknesses
issued by the Statutory Auditors;

e Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses;
and

e The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the
Chief Internal Auditor shall be subject to review by the Audit
Committee.

Fees paid to Statutory Auditors

The details of total fees paid to the Statutory Auditor with regard to
services availed by the Company and its subsidiaries, on a
consolidated basis in the financial year 2024-25 is disclosed in Note
No. 25 of the standalone financial statements of the Company.

b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee

During the Year Under Review, consequent to the resignation of Mr.
Sameer Nagpal as the Non-Executive Director of the Company,
there was a change in the composition of the Nomination and
remuneration committee Accordingly, Ms. Rachna Goria, Non-
Executive Director was inducted as the Member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee on June 29, 2024.

As on March 31, 2025, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee (‘NRC’) of your Company comprises of three members
namely Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi, Mr. Deepak Thombre and Ms.
Rachna Goria. The constitution, composition and functioning of the
NRC meets the requirements of Section 178 of the Act, and
Regulation 19 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, as amended from
time to time. Pursuant to the resignation of Ms. Meghna Saini as the
Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Soumya Sharma became
the Secretary of the Committee w.e.f. September 24, 2024.

During the Year Under Review, the NRC met five times during the
year 2024-25 i.e. on May 28, 2024, July 10, 2024, August 06, 2024,
September 24, 2024 and February 01, 2025. Mr. Rajkamal Saraogi,
Chairman of the NRC was present at the Annual general Meeting of
the Company held on August 09, 2024. The composition of the NRC
and the details of meetings attended by the Directors are given
below:

Attendance Record of Nomination and Remuneration
Committee committee during 2024-2025

No. of Meetings
Name of cat Stat —
ategor atus ntitle
Hembers o Held| to [ Attended
attend
1. Mr. Raj
Kamal Independent | Chairman 5 5 5
Saraogi
> yﬁb?n%igak Independent | Member 5 5 5
3. Mr. Sameer Non-
Nagpal* Executive Member 5 1 o
4. Ms. Rachna Non-
Goria* Executive Member 5 4 3

*Pursuant to the resignation of Mr. Sameer Nagpal w.e.f. June 17,
2024, the NRC was reconstituted on June 29, 2024 and Ms. Rachna
Goria was inducted as the Member of the NRC.
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The terms of reference of NRC are:

The NRC is empowered and authorized by the Board, inter-alia, to
do all such acts, deeds and things and to perform all such duties as
may be required under the Companies Act, 2013 and rules
thereunder and SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, as may be
amended / modified from time to time, and such other matters as
may be referred to the NRC from time to time, including but not
limited to:

® Formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications,
positive attributes and independence of a director and
recommend to the Board a policy relating to, remuneration
for the directors, key managerial personnel and other
employees;

e Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of
independent directors and the board of directors;

Devising a policy on diversity of board of directors;

e |dentifying persons who are qualified to become directors
and who may be appointed in senior management in
accordance with the criteria laid down, and recommend to
the board of directors their appointment and removal;

e Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the
independent director, on the basis of the report of
performance evaluation of independent directors;

e Recommend to the board, all remuneration, in whatever
form, payable to senior management.

Performance Evaluation criteria

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as part of the
Nomination and Remuneration Policy, has formulated criteria and
specified the manner of effective evaluation of performance of the
Board, its committees and individual directors to be carried out by
the Board and effective evaluation of performance of key
managerial personnel and senior management; and reviews its
implementation and compliance.

During the financial year 2024-25, the performance evaluation of the
Board and Committees of the Board was carried out by the Board.
Further, the performance appraisal of independent directors will be
done regularly on the basis of attendance, preparedness and
participation in items of business to be discussed at the meetings of
the Board and Committees and contribution in improving business
performance, pro-active availability for Company’s business
purposes besides time devoted by them in Board meetings.

c) Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee

During the Year Under Review, consequent to the resignation of Mr.
Sameer Nagpal as the Non-Executive Director of the Company,
there was a change in the composition of the Stakeholders
Relationship  Committee. Accordingly, Dr. Chandra Narain
Maheshwari, Whole Time Director was inducted as the Member of
the Stakeholders Relationship Committee on June 29, 2024.

As on March 31, 2025, Stakeholders Relationship Committee
(“SRC”) of your Company comprises of three members namely Mr.
Deepak Thombre, Ms. Rachna Goria and Dr. Chandra Narain
Maheshwari. The scope, constitution, composition and functioning
of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee meets the requirements
of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 20 of
SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time.
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During the Year Under Review, the SRC met once during the year
2024-25, i.e. on November 13, 2024. The Chairman of SRC was
present in the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on
August 09, 2024.

The composition of the SRC and the details of meetings attended by
the Directors are given below:

Attendance Record of Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee
during 2024-2025

No. of Meetings
Name of Cat Stat Entitled
ategor atus ntitle
Members gory Held to Attended
attend
1. Mr. Deepak i
Thombis Independent | Chairman 1 1 1
2. Mr. Sameer Non- Member 1 - -
Nagpal Executive
3. Ms. Rachna Non-
Goria Executive Member ! ! S
“ E/Irér?égﬁwari Executive Member ! ! !

*Pursuant to the resignation of Mr. Sameer Nagpal w.e.f. June 17,
2024, the SRC was reconstituted on June 29, 2024 and Dr. C.N.
Maheshwari was inducted as the Member of the SRC.

The SRC specifically looks into issues relating to investors including
share related matters and redressal of grievances of security
holders. The Company Secretary, is the compliance officer of the
Company and responsible for ensuring compliance with the
requirements of Securities Laws.

The role of the committee inter-alia includes the following:

1. Resolving the grievances of the security holders of the entity
including complaints related to transfer/ transmission of shares,
non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of declared dividends,
issue of new/duplicate certificates, general meetings etc.;

2. Review of measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights
by shareholders;

3. Review of adherence to the service standards adopted by the
listed entity in respect of various services being rendered by
the Registrar & Share Transfer Agent;

4.  Review of the various measures and initiatives taken by the
listed entity for reducing the quantum of unclaimed dividends
and ensuring timely receipt of dividend warrants/annual
reports/statutory notices by the shareholders of the company.
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During the year, complaints received from investors were resolved in time to the satisfaction of the concerned investors. Details regarding the
same are given below:

Details of complaints from shareholders during 2024-2025

Nature of Complaint Pending as on Received during Answered during Pending as in
p April 01, 2024 the year the year March 31, 2025
1.Transfer/Transmission/Duplicate - 15 15 -
2.Non- receipt of dividend . 181 181 _
/ interest / redemption warrant
3.Non- receipt of Annual Reports - 1 1 -
4.0thers - - - -
5.Complaints received from:
-Securities and Exchange Board of India - 2 2 -
-Stock Exchanges - 1 1 -
-Registrar of Companies/Department . R . R
of Corporate Affairs
Total - 200 200 -

d) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

During the Year Under Review, consequent to the resignation of Mr.
Sameer Nagpal as the Non-Executive Director of the Company,
there was a change in the composition of the Corporate Social o Formulate and recommend Corporate Social Responsibility

Responsibility Committee. Accordingly, Dr. C.N. Maheshwari, Whole Policy (“CSR Policy”) to the Board which shall indicate the
Time Director and Ms. Rachna Goria, Non- Executive Director were activities to be undertaken by the company as specified in

appointed as the Chairman and Member of the Committee, Schedule VII of the Act:
respectively.

The role of CSR Committee broadly includes the following:

® Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on
activities to be undertaken by the Company in the areas or
subject, specified on Schedule VII of the Act.

As on March 31, 2025, the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee (‘CSR’) of your Company comprises of three members
namely Mr. Deepak Thombre, Dr. C.N. Maheshwari and Ms. Rachna
Goria. The constitution, composition and functioning of the CSR
meets the requirements of Section 135 of the Companies Act 2013,
read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy)
Rules 2014, as amended from time to time.

®  Monitor the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy from time to
time

During the Year Under Review, the CSR met once, i.e. on May 28,
2025. The composition of the CSR and the details of meetings
attended by the Directors are given below:

The Board has adopted the CSR Policy as formulated and
recommended by the CSR Committee. The CSR Policy is available
on the website of the Company at www.dalmiaocl.com.

Attendance Record of Corporate Social Responsibility Committee during 2024-2025

No. of Meetings
Name of C Stat Entitled
i ategor atus ntitle
Director gory Held to Attended
attend
1. Mr. Sameer Nagpal Independent Chairman 1 1 1
2. Mr. Deepak Thombre Non- Member 1 1 1
Executive
3. Dr. C.N. Maheshwari Executive . Chairman 1 1 1
4. Ms. Rachna Goria Executive Member 1 - -

*Pursuant to the resignation of Mr. Sameer Nagpal w.e.f. June 17, 2024, the CSR Committee was reconstituted on June 29, 2024 and Mr. C.N.
Maheshwari and Ms. Rachna Goria were appointed as the Chairman and Member of the CSR Committee, respectively.
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PARTICULARS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND CHANGE THEREIN

The Company has designated their below mentioned members as its Senior Management. During the year ended on March 31, 2025, the details
of Senior Management are as follows:

Particulars Designation Change
Mr. Rahul Sahni Chief Financial Officer -
Ms. Meghna Saini Company Secretary Resigned w.e.f. September 13, 2024

. ) Appointed as Head- HR & Admin on October 03, 2024,
Mr. Ashutosh Sinha Head — Human Resources and Admin however resigned with effect from close of business hours

of March 31, 2025

Appointed as Company Secretary w.e.f.
September 24, 2024
Appointed as Head- Legal and Corporate Affairs
w.e.f. February 03, 2025

Ms. Soumya Sharma Company Secretary

Mr. Satinder Kumar Tyagi - Head- Legal and Corporate Affairs

IV. GENERAL BODY MEETINGS

The Annual General Meetings (‘AGMs’) are usually held at the registered office of the Company. The Chairman/Member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders' Relationship Committee attend the AGMs to respond to the queries of the
shareholders.

Details of the last three Annual General Meetings are given below:

a.) Details of last three AGMs

Financial year Date of AGM Time Change
2023-2024 09.08.2024 11:00 AM Dalmiapuram, Tiruchirappalli District, Tamil Nadu
2022-2023 31.07.2023 11:00 AM Dalmiapuram, Tiruchirappalli District, Tamil Nadu
2021-2022 27.09.2022 11:00 AM Dalmiapuram, Tiruchirappalli District, Tamil Nadu

b.) Special resolutions passed during the last three AGMs

Date of AGM Particulars
09.08.2024 e Appointment of Mr. Prakash Dalmia (DIN:10701218) as an Executive Director (Tyre Undertaking) of the
R - Company ' -
31 .07.2023 e Appointment of Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari (DIN: 00125680) as Whole Time Director & CEO of the
T Company

* Appointment of Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi as a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company for a
term of 5 consecutive years effective from March 24, 2022

27.09.2022 ®  Appointment of Mr. Sameer Nagpal (DIN: 06599230) as Managing Director & CEO of the Company for a
period of 5 years with effect from March 01, 2022

* Reinstatement, modification, substitution and adoption of new set of Articles of Association of the
Company

c.) No Resolution was passed during financial year 2024-25 through postal ballot.

d.) As on the date of this report, no Special Resolution is proposed to be passed through Postal Ballot.

e.) During the year under review, the Company conducted two Extra Ordinary General Meetings of the members on May 09, 2024 and March
12, 2025.
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V. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company had communicated the following:
a) Quarterly results

The unaudited quarterly & half yearly/ audited annual financial
results of the Company prepared in the format prescribed by SEBI
Listing Regulation, as amended from time to time are recommended
by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.
The same are limited reviewed/ audited by the Statutory Auditors
and are submitted to the Stock Exchanges, on which the shares of
the Company are listed, i.e., Metropolitan Stock Exchange of India
Ltd (MSEI) and Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited (CSE), within a
period of 45 days of the close of every quarter and within a period
of 60 days in case of annual financial results. The results are
disseminated on the Stock Exchanges electronically (through MSEI
Listing Portal) within stipulated timelines as per prescribed laws.

The approved financial results are normally published in Financial
Express, i.e, the English language national daily newspaper
circulating in the whole or substantially the whole of India and in
Makkal Kural, i.e., the daily newspaper published in the language of
the region where the registered office of the Company is situated,
i.e., Tamil in accordance with the provision of Regulation 47 of SEBI
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015.

The financial results are also posted on the website of the Company,
i.e., www.dalmiaocl.com. and all material information about the
Company and documents under the SEBI Listing Regulations are
also communicated to the concerned Stock Exchanges, besides
being placed on the Company's website.

b) Disclosures

The Company filed various disclosures with the Stock Exchanges
including inter-alia, the quarterly Shareholding Pattern, Investors
Complaints Report, Disclosures as per SEBI (Substantial
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011, SEBI
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, Disclosure under
Regulation 30 of Listing Regulations etc. electronically on My Listing
Portal of MSEI and the website of the Company, as may be required,
within the time frame prescribed in this regard.

VI. GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION
a) Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on Tuesday, August 12, 2025, at 9:30 A.M. at the Registered
Office of the Company at Dalmiapuram, P.O. Kallakudi -621 651,
Distt. Tiruchirapalli, Tamil Nadu.

The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company
shall remain closed from August 09, 2025 to August 12, 2025 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of Annual General Meeting.

b) Financial year

The financial year of the Company is from April 01, 2024 to March
31, 2025.

c) Dividend Payment

The Board of Director at its meeting held on May 14, 2025 has
recommended a dividend of INR 01/- i.e 10% per equity share of
face value of Rs. 10/- each for the financial year 2024-25 and the
same shall be paid to the members of the Company whose names
appear in the Register of Members of the Company as on the date
of commencement of the Book Closure for the purposes of payment
of dividend.
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The dividend will be paid after the approval of the shareholders at
Annual General Meeting and it will be paid within a period of thirty
days from the date of declaration by the shareholders at the AGM.

The dividend shall be paid through any of the electronic mode of
payment facility as approved by the Reserve Bank of India. The
Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company
shall remain closed from August 09, 2025 to August 12, 2025 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of payment of the final dividend for
the financial year ended March 31, 2025.

d) Disclosures with respect to Unpaid/ Unclaimed Dividend and
Shares

Pursuant to provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (Accounting,
Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Rules”), as
amended from time to time, if any dividend is not claimed for a
consecutive period of 7 years from the date of transfer of the total
amount of dividend which remained unpaid or unclaimed to Unpaid
Dividend Account of the Company, are liable to be transferred to the
Investor Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF) established under
sub-section (1) of section 125 of the Act.

Further, the shares in respect of above unpaid or unclaimed
dividend for a period of 7 consecutive years, are also liable to be
transferred to the Demat Account of IEPF Authority in pursuance to
the provisions of the Act read with its Rules made thereunder.

In this regard, the Company has sent periodical reminders by
sending notice individually and also by publishing the same in
newspaper. The list of unclaimed dividend and shareholders whose
shares are liable to be transferred to the IEPF Authority, were also
placed on the website of the Company in the interest of the
shareholders, in order to avoid transfer of dividend/shares to said
Authority.

In view of the above, the details of unclaimed dividends and shares
transferred to IEPF during FY 2025 are as follows:

) Amount of
Financial Details of unclaimed Nu':ber of
Year the amount dividend N afres
credited to the fund transferred transferred
Amount in the unpaid
2016-17 dividend accounts INR 1,70,651 48,413

e) Listing of Securities

At present, the equity shares of the Company are listed on below
stock exchanges:

a) Metropolitan Stock Exchange of India Limited Vibgyor Towers,
4th floor, Plot No C 62, G - Block, Opp. Trident Hotel, Bandra
Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbai — 400 098

b) Calcutta Stock Exchange 7, Lyons Range, Kolkata — 700 001

The annual listing fees for the year have been paid to both the Stock
Exchanges within the stipulated time. Further, the Company has
paid annual custody fees for the year to both the depositories
namely National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central
Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) within the stipulated
time.
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f) Registrar and Transfer Agent

Name

KFin Technologies Limited

Correspondence Address

Plot 31 & 32, Financial District, Nanakramguda, Serilingampally Mandal, Hyderabad,

Selenium Building, Tower B,

Rangareddy, Telangana, India - 500032.

Toll Free No

1-800-309-4001

WhatsApp Number

(91) 910 009 4099

E-mail

einward_ris @kfintech.com

Corporate Website Link

https://www.kfintech.com

RTA website

https://ris.kfintech.com

Investor Support Centre

https://kprism.kfintech.com

All activities in relation to the share transfer facility are maintained by the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent. All the correspondences relating
to share transfer, transmission, dematerialization, re-materialization etc. can be made at the aforementioned address.

g) Share Transfer System and dematerialization of shares and
liquidity

The Company has provided demat facility to its shareholders with
National Securities Depository Limited as well as Central Depository
Services Limited.

As on March 31, 2025, 98.49% of the equity shares of the Company
are in the dematerialized form. The promoters of the Company hold
their entire shareholding in dematerialized form.

A summary of transfer and transmission of shares and the
reconciliation of share capital audit report issued by Manish Ghia &
Associates, the Practicing Company Secretary was presented
before the Board of the Company.

Pursuant to the directive of the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (SEBI), physical transfer of shares has been dispensed with.
In reference to SEBI Circular dated January 25, 2022, the security
holder/ claimant shall submit duly filled up Form ISR-4 for
processing of service request related to transmission, transposition,
consolidation/sub-division/endorsement of share certificate, issue
of duplicate share certificate along with requisite documents. The
Company/RTA shall issue letter of confirmation after processing the
service requests which shall be valid for a period of 120 days from
the date of its issuance, within which the securities holder/claimant
shall make a request to the Depository Participant for
dematerializing the said securities. The Form ISR-4 is available on
the website of the Company and can be downloaded from
www.dalmiaocl.com

h) Unclaimed Suspense Account

In accordance with the requirement of Regulation 34(3) and Part F
of Schedule V to the SEBI Listing Regulations, details of equity
shares in the suspense account are as follows:
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Particulars No. of No. of
shareholders equity shares

Aggregate number of shareholders
and the outstanding shares in the 1 384
suspense account lying as on April 1,

Shareholders who approached the
Company for transfer of shares from 4 1567
suspense account during the year

Shareholders to whom shares were
transferred from the suspense 3 799
account during the year

Aggregate number of shareholders

and the outstanding shares in the 5 1152

suspense account lying as on March
31, 2025

The voting rights on the shares outstanding in the suspense
account as on March 31, 2025, shall remain frozen till the rightful
owner of such shares claims the shares.

i) Distribution of Shareholding of the Company

The distribution of the shareholding of the equity shares of the
Company by size and by ownership as on March 31, 2025 are given
below:
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Shareholding Pattern by size

S. No Category (Amount) No. of Holders % To Holders No. of Shares % To Equity
1. 1-5000 2240 65.59 576772 1.30
2. 5001- 10000 471 13.80 351536 0.80
3. 10001- 20000 299 8.76 449441 1.02
4. 20001- 30000 159 4.66 381799 0.86
5. 30001- 40000 85 2.49 299089 0.68
6. 40001- 50000 49 1.44 227733 0.52
7. 50001- 100000 49 1.44 351690 0.80
8. 100001 and above 30 0.88 417092 0.94
TOTAL: 3414 100.00 44200107 100.00

Shareholding Pattern by ownership

Particulars No. of Holders No. of Shares held % of Shareholding
Promoter Group 8 33147379 74.99
Resident Individuals 3262 6721920 15.21
Bodies Corporate 50 1479035 3.35
Directors & their relatives 7 3383 0.01
IEPF 1 1041840 2.36
H.U.F. 44 72836 0.16
Non-Resident Indians 5 3744 0.01
Non-Resident Indian Non Repatriable 25 29312 0.07
Banks 9 5218 0.01
Trusts 2 1692752 3.83
Foreign Nationals 1 2688 0.01
Total 3414 44200107 100.00
i) Outstanding GDRs /ADRs/Warrants or any converting k) Commodity Price Risk or Foreign Exchange Risk and hedging
instruments The risks are tracked and monitored on a regular basis and
The Company has not issued any GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any mitigation strategies are adopted in line with the risk management
Convertible instruments, hence this section is not applicable to the framework. The details of foreign currency exposure and hedging
Company. are disclosed in note no. 41 to the standalone financial statements.
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1) Details of Plant Locations and Address for Correspondence

S. No Particulars

No. of Holders

Registered Office Address:

Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Dalmiapuram, P.O. Kallakudi-621651
Dist. Tiruchirapalli, Tamil Nadu
Ph: 04329-235133/144/155

Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
4, Scindia House, Connaught Place,

(on leave and license basis)

2. ice -
Head Office - Correspondence Address New Delhi-110001
Ph: 011-23457100
5 Salem Plant Dalmia Magnesite Corporation

Salem (Tamil Nadu)
Vellakkalpatti, P.O. Karuppur, Salem — 636012

Khata N0.497/1925, Plot No. 1747/2023,

4. Balasore Plant Balasore, Chhanpur,
Baleswar, Odisha- 756056
m) Website The Audit committee and the Board periodically reviews the

The Company has a functional website i.e. www.dalmiaocl.com
that contains relevant information updated from time to time in
compliance with Regulation 46 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

n) Credit Rating

During the period under review, the Company obtained rating from
CARE Ratings Limited (“CARE”). The last rating of the Company for
its Long Term / Short Term Bank Facilities is CARE A; Stable / CARE
A1 (Single A ; Outlook: Stable / A One).

VIl. DISCLOSURES
a) Related Party Transaction

As on March 31, 2025, all related party transactions are approved
by the Audit committee. There are no materially significant related
party transactions which may have potential conflict with the
interests of the Company at large.

The weblink to access the Company’s Policy on Related Party
Transactions is https://www.dalmiaocl.com/documents/RPT-Policy.pdf

b) Policy on Material Subsidiaries

The Company’s Policy on Material Subsidiaries is posted at
https://www.dalmiaocl.com/documents/Material-Subsidiary-Policy.p
df

As on March 31, 2025, the below are the material subsidiaries of the
Company:

:‘\lllaa't“e(:iglf Date of Place of SNtZE(:oor; ap;?(fitnet:ifent
Subsidiary Incorporation| Incorporation Auditor(s) | of Statutory

Auditor(s)

OCL Global 17.01.2006 Mauritius Aejaz Nazir 01.08.2014

Limited Associates
& Co
LiaoNing
OCL China ) HuaTai
Limited 18.10.2008 China Accountant | 20-03.2025
Office
Co. Ltd
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financial performance of the subsidiary company and the quarterly
financial results and annual financial statements are placed before
the Audit committee and Board meetings of the Company. The
minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors of the subsidiary
company are placed before the Board meeting of the Company.
Statement of all significant transactions and arrangements entered
into by subsidiaries is brought to the notice of the Board of Directors
of the Company.

c) Details of Non-Compliance by the Company

The Company have complied with the regulatory requirements on
capital markets and there were no instances of non-compliance and
no penalties/ strictures have been imposed against it by the Stock
Exchanges, SEBI or any other authority on any matter related to
capital markets during last three years.

There has been no non-compliance of any requirements of
corporate governance report prescribed under sub paras (2) to (10)
of para (C) of Schedule V of SEBI Listing Regulations.

d) Whistle Blower Policy

The Company has an established mechanism for Directors,
Employees and stakeholders to report concerns about unethical
behavior, actual or suspected fraud, or violation of the code of
conduct. It also provides for adequate safeguards against
victimization of directors/ employees who avail of the mechanism.
The Company affirms that no personnel have been denied access
to the audit committee to lodge their grievances. The weblink of
Company’s policy on Whistle Blower and Vigil Mechanism is
https://www.dalmiaocl.com/documents/Whistle_Blower_Policy.pdf

e) Compliance
Mandatory requirements:

The Company had complied with the applicable mandatory
requirements specified in regulation 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i)
of sub-regulation (2) of regulation 46 of SEBI (LODR) Regulations.

The company has obtained the compliance certificate from
Practicing Company Secretary with regard to the compliances of
the provisions relating to corporate governance requirements
specified in regulation 17 to 27 and clause (b) to (i) of
sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of SEBI (LODR) Regulation,
2015, as amended from time to time. This certificate is annexed to
this Report.
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Discretionary Requirements

The below discretionary/non-mandatory requirements, as stipulated
in Regulation 27(1) read with Part E of Schedule Il of the SEBI
(LODR) Regulations, have been adopted by the Company.

e The non-executive chairman is entitled to maintain a
chairman's office at the Company’s expense and is provided
reimbursement of expenses incurred in performance of his
duties.

e The financial statements of the company are with unmodified
audit opinion.

e  The Chairperson of the Board is:

(a) a non-executive director; and

(b) not related to the Managing Director or the Chief Executive
Officer as per the definition of the term “relative” defined under
the Companies Act, 2013

f) Disclosure of Accounting Treatment in Preparation of
Financial Statements

The Company has followed the guidelines of Ind AS specified under
section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 7 of the
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2015 as amended/ laid
down by the Central Government under the provisions of section
129(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 in the preparation of its
standalone and consolidated financial statements.

g) Code for Prevention of Insider-Trading Practices

In compliance with the SEBI regulations, on prevention of insider
trading, the Company has instituted a comprehensive code of
conduct for designated persons and their relatives as defined under
the code. The code lays down guidelines, which advises them on
procedures to be followed and disclosures to be made, while
dealing with shares of Company, and cautioning them of the
consequences of violations.

h) Disclosure of Complaints filed under Sexual Harassment Act

The Company is committed to create a workplace free from
harassment and discrimination, where co-workers are respected,
and provided an appropriate environment so as to encourage good
performance and conduct.

The Company has in place a policy against sexual harassment of
women. As disclosed in the Board Report, during the year no case
of sexual harassment was filed in the Company in terms of Sexual
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and
Redressal) Act, 2013.

i) Details of utilization of funds raised through preferential
allotment or qualified institutions placement

No funds have been raised by the Company through preferential
allotment or qualified institutions placement in the last three years.
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Vill. CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company’s Board has laid down a code of conduct for all its
board members and designated senior management of the
Company. The Code is available on the website of the Company at
https://www.dalmiaocl.com/documents/3-code-conduct.pdf.
The Code of Conduct has been circulated to all board members
and senior management personnel and they have affirmed the
compliance with the Code of Conduct. A declaration signed by the
Whole Time Director & CEO to this effect is enclosed at the end of
this report.

IX CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

In terms of Regulation 17(8) read with Part B of Schedule Il of the
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations 2015, the certification by the Whole Time Director &
CEO and Chief Financial Officer on the financial statements and
internal controls relating to financial reporting has been obtained,
and placed before the Board, in their meeting held on May 14, 2025.
A copy of the said certificate is enclosed at the end of the report.
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CERTIFICATE OF

NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

To,

The Members

DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED
CIN: L26100TN2006PLC061254
DALMIAPURAM, TAMIL NADU,

INDIA, 621651

| have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES
LIMITED, (CIN L26100TN2006PLC061254), registered office DALMIAPURAM, TAMIL NADU, INDIA, 621651 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the
Company’), produced before me by the Company for the purpose of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with
Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015.

In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification Number (DIN) status at the
portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to me by the Company & its officers, | hereby certify that none of
the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for the Financial Year ending on March 31, 2025 have been debarred or disqualified
from being appointed or continuing as Directors of companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, or
any such other Statutory Authority.

SR No. Name of Director DIN Designation Date of appointment in Company
’ Dr. Chandra Narain 00125680 Whole Time Director September 27, 2021
Maheshwari and CEO
2 Mr. Deepak Thombre Opanisgg | Non-Executive Independent March 24, 2022

Director

Non-Executive Independent

3 Mr. Raj Kamal Saraogi 00523247 i September 27, 2022
Director
4 Ms. Rachna Goria 07148351 Non-Executive Director August 28, 2019
5 Mr. Mukund Choudhary 10923751 Whole Time Director February 01, 2025
Note:

Mr. Sameer Nagpal (DIN: 06599230) resigned from the position of Non- Executive Director of the Company with effect from June 17,2024. Further,
Mr. Prakash Dalmia (DIN: 10701218) who was appointed as Executive Director (Whole-time Director) on August 01, 2024,subsequently
resigned on January 15, 2025. Both individuals were duly qualified to serve as Directors during their respective tenures with the Company

Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment/continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management of the Company
Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This certificate is neither an assurance as to the future
viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Date: 10.05.2025 N.C. KHANNA
Place: New Delhi Company Secretary in practice
C.P. No.: 5143

UDIN: F004268G000315471
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CERTIFICATE OF
COMPLIANCE OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

To,

The Members

DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED
CIN: L26100TN2006PLC061254
DALMIAPURAM, TAMIL NADU,

INDIA, 621651

| have examined the compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance by DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED ('the Company’) for
the year ended on March 31, 2025, as stipulated under Regulations 17 to 27, clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 and para C,
D & E of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘SEBI
Listing Regulations').

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. My examination was limited to the procedures
and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company, for ensuring compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an
audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In my opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and the representations made by the Directors
and the Management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the SEBI Listing
Regulations for the year ended on March 31, 2025.

| further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with which
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Date: 10.05.2025 N.C. KHANNA
Place: New Delhi Company Secretary in practice
C.P. No.: 5143

UDIN: F004268G000561319
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DECLARATION ON
CODE OF CONDUCT

To
The Board of Directors,
Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Dear Sirs,

As required under Regulation 34(3) read with Part D of Schedule V of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015, | hereby declare that all the members of the Board of Directors of the Company and the Senior Management Personnel of the Company
have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Place: New Delhi Chandra Narain Maheshwari
Dated: 14.05.2025 Whole Time Director & CEO
DIN: 00125680
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CEO- CFO CERTIFICATE FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To
The Board of Directors,
Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Dear Sirs,

1. We have reviewed the audited financial statements for the quarter and year ended March 31, 2025 and certify that to the best of our
knowledge and belief that these results do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain Statements that
might be misleading.

2. We further certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions have been entered into by the Company during the year,
which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the company’s code of conduct, if any.

3. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have evaluated the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting and we have disclosed to the auditors and
the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps we have taken
or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.

4. We have indicated (wherever applicable as per the Annexure) to the auditors and the Audit Committee:

a. Significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year;

b.  Significant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements;
and

c. Instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management or an employee having
a significant role in the company'’s internal control systems over financial reporting.

For and on behalf of
Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Chandra Narain Maheshwari
Whole Time Director & CEO

Rahul Sahni
Chief Financial Officer

Place: New Delhi

Dated: 14.05.2025
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ANNEXURE

We hereby confirm the following w.r.t. point 4 of CEO-CFO certificate for the quarter and year ended March 31, 2025:

i.  Significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year; -There was no change in internal control over financial
reporting during the year.

ii. Significant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements;
- There was no change in accounting policies during the year.

ii. Instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management or an employee having

a significant role in the company’s internal control systems over financial reporting- There were no instances of fraud detected by the
Management.

For and on behalf of
Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Chandra Narain Maheshwari
Whole Time Director & CEO

Rahul Sahni
Chief Financial Officer

Place: New Delhi

Dated: 14.05.2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF
DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the standalone financial statements of DALMIA
BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED (‘the Company”), which
comprise the standalone balance sheet as at 31st March 2025, and
the standalone statement of profit and loss (including other
comprehensive income), standalone statement of changes in equity
and standalone statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the standalone financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory
information (hereinafter referred to as “standalone financial
statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to
the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone financial
statements give the information required by the Companies Act,
2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair
view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed
under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state
of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2025, its Net Profit /
(Loss) including Other Comprehensive Income, its Cash Flows and
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (“SA”) specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Our
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAl) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone
financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules
made thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
ICAl's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the standalone financial
statements for the year ended 31st March 2025. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon and we
do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. We have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to
be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter

How Our audit addresses the Key Audit Matter

Accounting of Investments

Financial Instrument by Category”)

(Refer Note 3.14 (a) and 3.15 — “Material Accounting Policy” of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements, Refer Note 2.3 (c)
and (e) — “Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgement” of Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments and Impairment of Financial
and non-financial Assets”, Refer note 5.1 — Non-Current Investment and note 9.1 Current Investments”, Refer note 41 — “Fair Values -

The Company has carrying values of non-current and current
investments aggregating to Rs. 2648.43 Crore in equity shares
in subsidiaries and other companies, debentures, alternative
investments funds, liquid mutual funds, short term funds, as at
31 March 2025. These investments are measured either at cost,
amortised cost, fair value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’) or
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI’)
based on fulfilment of required criteria. These investments
constitute 86.55 % of the Company’s total assets. Hence, we
considered it to be Key Audit Matter.

In view of the significance of the matter, we applied the following
audit procedures in this area, among others to obtain sufficient
audit evidence

° Performed inquiry procedures with the key managerial
persons of the Company for investments made.

e  Obtained and read the minutes of meeting of board of
directors, audit committee, investment committee and
shareholders meeting for investments.

° Performed test of controls on a sample basis on the
operating effectiveness of internal controls on investments.

e  (Obtained the demat statement / physical certificates and
verified that the title of investments is in the name of
Company.

° Evaluating whether the initial and subsequent recognition,
measurement, classification and disclosure of investments
are in accordance with applicable Indian Accounting
Standard.

e \Verified the investment in equity instruments of subsidiaries
at carrying value i.e. at cost.

e \erified the fair valuation of quoted investments at active
market price and obtained independent valuer’s report
engaged by the management for unquoted investments.

e  Assessing whether the accounting entries recorded in the
books is in line with the accounting treatment assessed
above,including the arithmetical accuracy of the same.

e  Obtained management representations on the judgments
exercised.

° Review of disclosures provided in the standalone financial
statements in this regard.
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Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s
Report Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Standalone Financial
Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters
stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of
these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, including the accounting
Standards specified under section 133 of the Act. This responsibility
also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the
assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate
implementation and maintenance of accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to
the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Company'’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the standalone financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances. Under section 143(3) (i) of the Act, we are
also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the
Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference
to the standalone financial statements in place and the operating
effectiveness of such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
standalone financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the standalone financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements for
the year ended 31st March 2025 and are therefore the key audit
matter. We describe this matter in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1 As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020
(“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in terms
of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, and on the basis of
such checks of the books and records of the Company as we
considered appropriate and according to the information and
explanations given to us, we give in “Annexure A” a statement on
the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the
extent applicable.
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Further to our comments in Annexure A, as required by Section
143(3) of the Act, we report that:.

a)

c

e

f)

Qe

>
=

We have sought and obtained all the information and
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law
have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our
examination of those books;

The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss
(including other comprehensive income), the Statement of
Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by
this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements
comply with the Indian Accounting Standards specified
under Section 133 of the Act;

On the basis of the written representations received from the
directors as on 31st March, 2025 taken on record by the
Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
31st March, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms
of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls
with reference to standalone financial statement of the
Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls,
refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year
ended 31st March, 2025 has been paid / provided by the
Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of
section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act.

With respect to the other matters to be included in the
Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion
and to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us:

i) The Company has disclosed the impact of pending
litigations on its financial position in its standalone
financial statements. Refer Note 33 to the standalone
financial statements.

i) The Company did not have any long-term contracts
including derivative contracts for which there were any
material foreseeable losses.

i) There has been no delay in transferring amounts,
required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv) a) Management has represented to us that, to the best of
its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the
standalone financial statements, no funds have been
advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed
funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of
funds) by the Company to or in any other persons or
entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly
or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate
Beneficiaries;

V)

Vi)

b) Management has represented to us that, to the best of
its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the
standalone financial statements, no funds have been
received by the Company from any person(s) or
entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether,
directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or
entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”)
or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

c) Based on our audit procedures performed that have
been considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come to our attention that
cause us to believe that the representation given by
the management under paragraph (2) (h) (iv) (a) & (b)
contain any material misstatement.

The final dividend paid by the Company during the year
which was declared for the previous vyear is in
accordance with section 123 of the Companies Act 2013
to the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

As stated in note no. 38 to the standalone financial
statements, the Board of Directors of the Company have
proposed final dividend for the year which is subject to
the approval of the members at the ensuing Annual
General Meeting. The dividend declared is in accordance
with section 123 of the Act to the extent it applies to
declaration of dividend.

Based on our examination, which included test checks,
the Company has used accounting softwares, for
maintaining its books of account for the financial year
ended 31st March, 2025, which has a feature of recording
audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded
in the softwares. Further, during the course of our audit we
did not come across any instance of audit trail feature
being tampered with. Additionally, the audit trail has been
preserved by the company as per statutory requirements
for record retention.

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registration No. 101720W/W100355

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No. 109859

UDIN : 25109859BMMJPX3695

Place: Mumbai
Date: 14th May, 2025
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ANNEXURE A”TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)

In respect of its property, plant and equipment:

a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full

b)

=

particulars, including quantitative details and situation of
property, plant and equipment on the basis of available
information.

The Company has maintained proper records showing full
particulars of intangible assets on the basis of available
information.

The property, plant and equipment are physically verified
by the management according to a phased programme
designed to cover all the items over a period of three
years, which in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to
the size of the Company and the nature of its assets.

c)

Pursuant to the programme, property, plant and equipment
has been physically verified by the management during
the year and no material discrepancies were noticed on
such verification.

According to the information and explanations given to us
and the records examined by us, tittle deeds in respect of
immovable properties disclosed as Property, Plant &
Equipment (other than properties where the Company is
the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in
favour of the lessee) in the financial statements are in the
name of the Company, except following properties:

Description
of Property

Gross carrying value
(Rs. in crores)

Held in the
name of

Whether promoter,
director or their
relative or Employee

Reason for not being in the

Period held
name of Company

Freehold land

12.28

Dalmia Cement
Bharat Limited

Title Deed Holder
is the seller in
Slump exchange

By virtue of NCLT order dated February
03, 2022, refractory undertaking of
Dalmia Cement Bharat Limited have
been acquired by the Company by the
way of slump exchange. Therefore
properties are in the name of Dalmia
Cement Bharat Limited and are in the
process of transferring in the name of
the Company.

01/04/2019

Freehold land

14.58

Dalmia
Refractories
Limited

Title Deed Holder is
the amalgamated
company

01/04/2020 By virtue of NCLT order dated February
03, 2022, Dalmia Refractories Limited
and GSB Refractories India Private
Limited have been merged with the
Company. Therefore properties are in
the name of Dalmia Refractories Limited
and are in the process of transferring in

the name of the Company.

Freehold land

17.86

Kesoram
Industries Ltd

Title Deed Holder is
the Demerged
Company.

By virtue of NCLT order dated October
19, 2028, the Tyre Undertaking has
been transferred from Birla Tyres
Limited to the Company by way of
Scheme of Demerger. Previously, by
virtue of NCLT order dated November
08, 2019, the Tyre Business was
demerged from Kesoram Industries
Limited to Birla Tyres Limited w.e.f.
January 01, 2019. These properties are
in the name of Kesoram Industries
Limited and are in the process of
transferring in the name of the
Company.

05/05/2022

Building

0.21

Dalmia
Refractoreis
Limited

Title Deed Holder
is the amalgamated
company

By virtue of NCLT order dated February
03, 2022, Dalmia Refractories Limited
and GSB Refractories India Private
Limited have been merged with the
Company. Therefore, properties are in
the name of Dalmia Refractories Limited
are in the process of transferring in the
name of the Company.

01/04/2019
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Building 47.22 Kesoram Title Deed Holder 05/05/2022 | By virture of NCLT order dated October
Industries is the Demerged 19, 2023, the Tyre Undertaking has
Limited Company been transferred from Birla Tyres
Limited to the Company by way of
Scheme of Demerger. Previously, by
virture of NCLT order dated November
08, 2019, the Tyre Business was
demerged from Kesoram Industries
Limited to Birla Tyres Limited w.e.f
January 01, 2019. These properties are
in the name of Kesoram Industries
Limited and are in the process of
transferring in the name of the

Company.
Investment 0.21 OCL India Title Deed Holder 01/04/2019 | By virtue of NCLT order dated February
Property Limited is the Demerged 03, 2022, refractory undertaking of
Company Dalmia Cement Bharat Limited have

been acquired by the Company by the
way of slump exchange. The Company
is in the process of transferring the
property in its name.

d) According to information and explanations given to us and (b) In our opinion and according to information and
books of accounts and records examined by us, the explanations given to us and on the basis of our audit
Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and procedures, during the year the investments made by the
Equipment (including Right of Use assets) or intangible Company are, prima facie, not prejudicial to Company’s
assets or both during the year. interest. The Company has not provided any guarantees or

given security or granted any loans or advances in the

e) According to information &  explanations and nature of loans during the year.

representation given to us by the management, no
proceedings have been initiated or are pending against
the Company for holding any benami property under the
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 and rules
made thereunder.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has not granted any
loans or provided any guarantee or security to the parties
covered under Section 185 of the Act. The Company has
complied with the provisions of Sections 186 of the Act as
applicable, in respect of making investments. The Company

(i) (A) As explained to us and on the basis of the records has not provided guarantees or security or granted loans.
examined by us, in our opinion, physical verification of the
inventories have been conducted at reasonable intervals (v) According to the information and explanations given to us, the
by the management and having regard to the size and Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are
nature of business of the Company and nature of its deemed to be deposits within the meaning of provisions of
inventory, the coverage and procedures of such sections 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and
verification by the management is appropriate. As the rules framed there under. Therefore, the clause (v) of
explained to us and on the basis of the records examined paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
by us, the value of the discrepancies noticed on physical
verification by management did not exceed 10% or more (vi) Pursuant to the rules made by the Central Government of India,
in aggregate of each class of inventory. the Company is required to maintain cost records as specified
under Section 148(1) of the Act in respect of its products. We

(B) As per the information and explanation given to us and have broadly reviewed the same, and are of the opinion that,
examination of books of accounts and other records prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been
produced before us, in our opinion the Company has been made and maintained. We have not, however, made a detailed
sanctioned working capital limits in excess of five crore examination of the records with a view to determine whether
rupees from banks on the basis of security of current they are accurate or complete.
assets. The Company has filed quarterly statement or
revised statement with such banks are in agreement with (vii) (a) According to the records of the Company examined by us,
the audited books of account. undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Service

tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income
tax, duty of customs, cess and any other material statutory
dues have generally been regularly deposited with
appropriate authorities except payment of provident fund.
According to the information and explanations given to us,
there were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of

(iii) With respect to investments made or any guarantee or security
provided or any loans or advances in the nature of loans,
secured or unsecured, granted during the year by the
Company to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or
any other parties:

(a) As per the information and explanations given to us and the aforesaid dues, which were outstanding as 31st March,
books of accounts and records examined by us, during 2025 for a period of more than six months from the date
the year Company has not provided any loans or they became payable except provident funds dues
advances in the nature of loans, not provided any amounting to Rs. 0.02 Crore which could not be deposited
guarantee or security to companies, firms, Limited Liability due to reasons mentioned in note no. 15.

Partnerships or any other entities. Therefore, the provision
of clause 3(iii) (a),(c),(d),(e) and (f) of the Order are not
applicable to the Company.

c

According to the information and explanations given to us,
there are no statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a)
which have not been deposited with the appropriate
authority on account of any dispute except as mentioned
below: -
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Name of the Statute Nature Of Dues Amount u: Perloc_:l to which amount Forur_n wherg dispute
Rs. Crore is relate (FY) is pending
Mines And Minerals (Development and ’
Regulation) Act, 1957 Royalty 3.00 2010-2011 Jabalpur High court
The M. P. Land Revenue Code, 1959 Royalty 5.99 2010-2011 Jabalpur High court
The Mineral Concession Rules, 1960 Royalty 3.1 2015-2016 Collector, Mandla
Mines And Minerals (Development and Rovalt 0.44 2021-2022 and Director (Geology and
Regulation) Act, 1957 valty : 2022-2023 mining) Gujarat
The Gujarat Mineral (Prevention of Additional Commissioner of
lllegal Miningand Transportation and Royalty 6.44 2016-2017 Geology & Mines,
Storage) Rules, 2005 Gandhinagar

*Net of amount paid

(viii) According to the information and explanations given to us and

representation given to us by the management, the Company
has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously
unrecorded in the books of account, in the tax assessment
under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.
Accordingly, the provision of clause 3(viii) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

(ix) (@) In our opinion and according to the information and

(b

(d

explanations given and books of accounts and records
examined by us, the Company has not defaulted in
repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment of
interest thereon to any lender.

-

In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has not been
declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution
or government or any government authority.

(c) In our opinion, and according to the information and

explanations given and records examined by us, the term
loan availed by the company were applied for the purpose
for which the loans were obtained. Money obtained by way
of term loans at the end of the previous financial year,
amounting to Rs. 200 Crore, pending utilisation which was
parked in bank fixed deposits, is applied during the year for
the purpose for which the loans was obtained.

-

According to the information and explanations given to us,
and the procedures performed by us, and on an overall
examination of the financial statements of the Company, we
report that, prima facie, no funds raised on short-term basis
have been used during the year for long-term purposes by
the Company.

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us

and on an overall examination of the financial statements of
the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any
funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the
obligations of its subsidiaries. The Company does not have
any associates or joint ventures.

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us

and procedures performed by us, we report that the
Company has not raised loans during the year on the
pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries. The Company
does not have any joint ventures or associate companies.

(x) (a) The Company has not raised money by way of initial public
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offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) and
hence clause (x)(a) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

(b) In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us and on the basis of our audit
procedures, the Company has not made any preferential
allotment or private placement of shares or convertible
debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during
the year hence clause (x)(b) of paragraph 3 of the Order is
not applicable to the Company.

(xi) (a

=

Based on the audit procedures performed for the purpose of
reporting the true and fair view of the financial statements
and as per information and explanations given to us, no
fraud by the Company or on the Company has been noticed
or reported during the year.

(b

=

According to the information and explanations given to us,
no report under sub-section 12 of section 143 of the Act has
been filed by auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under
Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with
the Central Government, during the year and upto the date
of this report.

(c) As represented to us by the management, there are no
whistle blower complaints received by the Company during
the year.

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting
under clause (xii) of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii) The Company has entered into transactions with related
parties in compliance with provisions Section 177 and 188 of
the Act. The details of such related party transactions have
been disclosed in the standalone financial statements as
required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv) (a)In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has an internal audit
system commensurate with the size and nature of its
business.

(b)We have considered the internal audit reports of the
Company issued till date, for the period under audit.

(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, during the year the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors
or persons connected with them. Therefore the provisions of
clause 3 (xv) of the order are not applicable to the Company.

(xvi) (a) The Company is not required to be registered under section
45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

(b)In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations provided to us and on the basis of our audit
procedures, the Company has not conducted any
Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities during
the year as per the Reserve bank of India Act 1934.
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(c)In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations provided to us, the Company is not a Core
Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations
made by the Reserve Bank of India.

(d)In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations provided to us, the Group has 4 Core
Investment Company (CIC).

(xvii) In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations provided to us, the Company has incurred cash
losses amounting to Rs. 48.05 crore in the current financial
year and did not incur any cash losses in the immediately
preceding financial year.

(xviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during
the year. Therefore, provisions of clause (xviii) of Paragraph 3
of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

(xix) According to the information and explanations given to us and
on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates
of realization of financial assets and payment of financial
liabilities, other information accompanying the financial
statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and
management plans and based on our examination of the
evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to
our attention, which causes us to believe that any material
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that
Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the
date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a
period of one year from the balance sheet date.
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(xx)

We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future
viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is
based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we
neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities
falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet
date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they
fall due.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the
requirements with respect to CSR contribution under section
135 of the Act is not applicable to the Company during the
year.

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registration No. 1017720W/W100355

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No. 109859
UDIN : 25109859BMMJPX3695

Place: Mumbai
Date: 14th May, 2025
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ANNEXURE B”TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 2 (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid standalone financial statements
under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to
standalone  financial  statements of DALMIA BHARAT
REFRACTORIES LIMITED (“the Company”) as of 31st March 2025
in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements
of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control
with reference to standalone financial statements criteria
established by the Company considering the essential components
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to
company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial
controls with reference to standalone financial statements of the
Company based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI") and the
Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) of the
Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal
financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial
statements was established and maintained and if such controls
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system with
reference to standalone financial statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference
to standalone financial statements included obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to
standalone financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the
Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to
standalone financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to
financial statements
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A Company’s internal financial control with reference to standalone
financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal financial control with reference to standalone
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the standalone financial
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference
to financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with
reference to standalone financial statements, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal
financial control with reference to standalone financial statements
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us, the Company has, in all material respects,
an adequate internal financial controls system with reference to
standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as
at 31st March, 2025, based on the internal control with reference to
financial statements criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in
the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the ICAL.

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registration No. 1017720W/W100355

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No. 109859

UDIN : 25109859BMMJPX3695

Place: Mumbai
Date: 14th May, 2025
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31,2025

(X in crore)
Particulars Note As at As at
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
ASSETS
Non - current assets
(a) Property, plant and equipment 4 226.26 237.80
(b) Right of use assets 4 3.39 3.58
(c) Investment property 4 0.21 0.21
(d) Capital work - in - progress de 73.70 717
(e) Other intangible assets 4 0.11 -
(f) Financial assets
(i) Investments 5.1 2,541.58 2,282.86
(ii)y Other financial assets 5.2 7.67 3.62
(g) Deferred tax assets (net) 6a - -
(h) Non-current tax assets (net) 6b 7.93 29.99
(i) Other non-current assets 7 1.27 2.72
Total non-current assets 2,862.12 2,567.95
Current assets
(a) Inventories 8 33.94 25.83
(b) Financial assets
(i) Investments 9.1 106.85 215.81
(ii)y Trade receivables 9.2 9.94 13.68
(iiiy Cash and cash equivalents 9.3 1.88 211.89
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above 9.4 8.79 19.70
(v) Loans and Advances 9.5 0.01 0.04
(vi) Other financial assets 9.6 2.49 0.38
(c) Other current assets 10 34.08 15.95
Total current assets 197.98 503.28
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,060.10 3,071.23
Equity
(a) Equity share capital 44.20 44.20
(b) Other equity 2,240.09 2,455.70
Total equity 2,284.29 2,499.90
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 12.1 674.70 484.25
(ii) Lease liabilities 12.2 0.39 0.61
(iii) Other financial liabilities 12.3 24.37 473
(b) Provisions 13 9.77 9.51
Total non-current liabilities 709.23 499.10
Current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Lease liabilities 12.2 0.28 0.22
(ii) Trade payables
(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 141 0.95 0.16
(b) Total outstanding dues of other than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  14.1 27.71 29.30
(iii) Other financial liabilities 14.2 20.63 27.08
(b) Other current liabilities 15 6.89 5.22
(c) Provisions 16 10.12 10.25
Total current liabilities
66.58 72.23
Total equity & liabilities 3,060.10 3,071.23
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W100355
Deepak Thombre Dr. C N Maheshwari
Chairman Whole time director and CEO
DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680
Vijay Napawaliya Place : Pune Place : New Delhi
Partner
Membership No.: 109859 Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma
Place : Mumbai Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: May 14, 2025 Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31,2025

(% in crore)
Particulars Note For the year ended  For the year ended
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Continuing operation
Income
I Revenue from operations 17 58.86 40.80
Il Other income 18 46.02 48.08
Il Total income (I + II) 104.88 88.88
IV Expenses
Cost of raw materials consumed 19 21.19 5.71
Purchase of stock-in-trade 20 12.96 7.48
Changes in inventories of finished goods, stock in trade and work- in-progress 21 1.76 8.97
Employee benefits expense 22 12.69 11.87
Finance costs 23 76.52 11.11
Depreciation and amortisation 24 18.00 21.67
Other expenses 25 27.95 36.56
Total expenses 171.07 103.37
V  Loss for the year before tax from continuing operations (llI-IV) (66.19) (14.49)
VI Exceptional ltems 26 - 29.24
VIl Profit / (Loss) before tax from continuing operations (66.19) 14.75
VIl Tax expense/(benefit) 27
(1) Current tax - -
(2) Deferred tax 0.07 717
(3) Tax adjustments for earlier years - 2.50
Total tax expense of continuing operations 0.07 9.67
IX Net Profit/(Loss) for the year after tax from continuing operations (VII - VII) (66.26) 5.08
Discontinued operation 30
Profit before tax from discontinued operation 0.08 61.93
Tax expense/ (credit) on discontinued operation 0.02 15.59
Net Profit for the year from discontinued operation 0.06 46.34
X  Profit/(Loss) for the year (66.20) 51.42
Xl Other comprehensive income (OCI) {including discontinued operation} 28
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Net loss on equity instruments through OCI (150.75) (230.25)
Income tax effect on above - 3.00
Re-measurement of defined benefit plans (0.37) (0.10)
Income tax effect on above 0.09 0.03
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or (151.03) (227.32)
loss in subsequent periods
ltems that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Net (loss)/gain on debt instruments through OCI 8.25 (8.25)
Income tax effect on above - -
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss 8.25 (8.25)
in subsequent periods
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (142.78) (235.57)
XIl Total comprehensive income for the year (X + XI) (208.98) (184.15)
Xl Earning/(Loss) per equity share (Face value of Rs. 10 each) 29
(1) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Continuing operations (14.99) 1.15
(2) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Discontinued operation 0.01 10.48
(8) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Continuing and discontinued operations (14.98) 11.63
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W100355
Deepak Thombre Dr. C N Maheshwari
Chairman Whole time director and CEO
DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680
Place : Pune Place : New Delhi
Vijay Napawaliya
Partner
Membership No.: 109859 Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma
Place : Mumbai Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: May 14, 2025 Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31,2025

(X in crore)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
A. Cash flow from operating activities :
Loss before tax from ordinary activities before exceptional items
-Continuing operations (66.19) (14.49)
-Discontinued operations 0.08 61.93
Profit/(Loss) before taxation and before exceptional items (66.11) 47.44
Exceptional items - 29.24
(Profit/(Loss) before taxation (66.11) 76.68
Adjustments for :
Depreciation, amortisation expense 18.07 21.73
Provision/liabilities no longer required written back 0.43 (71.95)
Provision for warranty 0.31 0.80
Finance cost 76.54 11.28
Interest income (9.77) (13.95)
Dividend income (9.63) (7.38)
Corporate guarantee income - (0.05)
Bad Debt Recovery (4.76) -
Gain on Sale of Investment in Subsidiary - (29.24)
Gain on investments carried at fair value through statement of profit and loss (11.57) (2.45)
Profit on Sale of current investments (8.18) (14.89)
(Profit) / loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (1.06) 0.15
Profit on termination of lease (0.01) (0.02)
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes (15.74) (29.29)
Working capital adjustments
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories (8.11) 9.70
Decrease in trade and other receivables 8.50 92.85
Decrease in loans and advances 0.03 0.49
Decrease/(Increase) in other financial assets (2.16) 25.15
Increase in other assets (16.68) (1.30)
Decrease in trade and other payables (1.28) (131.18)
(Decrease)/Increase in other financial liabilities 5.63 (277.72)
Decrease in provisions (0.55) (1.19)
Decrease in other liabilities (5.28) (19.32)
Cash used in operations (19.85) (302.52)
Income taxes refund/(paid) 22.77 3.81
Net cash used in operating activities (12.82) (328.00)
B. Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, equipment, intangible assets and capital work - in - progress (75.43) (7.31)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.62 0.02
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and Capital
work - in - progress to subsidiary company - 119.75
Interest income 9.11 14.93
Dividend income 9.63 7.38
Investment in subsidiary - (0.01)
Purchase of non current investments (450.64) (585.59)
Purchase of current investments (18.00) (70.00)
Proceed from sale of current investments 88.00 -
Proceed from sale of non current investments 60.00 -
Purchase of mutual funds (575.05) (525.31)
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds 623.18 821.90
Proceed from sale of Investment in Shares of Subsidiary - 114.28
Other bank balances (2.73) 72.47
Proceeds on slump sale of business - 90.80
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities (328.31) 53.31
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2025

(R in crore)

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

C. Cash flows from financing activities

Dividend paid

Proceeds of non-current borrowings (net of transaction costs)

Repayment of non-current borrowings

Repayment of lease liability

Interest paid

Net cash flow generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Change in Cash & Cash Equivalents

Components of cash and cash equivalents(refer note 9.3)

(6.63) (6.56)
190.45 597.25

- (113.00)

(0.35) (0.35)
(52.36) (0.97)
131.12 476.37
(210.01) 201.68
211.89 10.21
1.88 211.89
(210.01) 201.68

As at March 31,2025 As at March 31, 2024

Balances with banks

-in current accounts 1.86 10.87
Deposits with maturity of less than three months - 201.00

Cash in hand 0.02 0.02

Cash and cash equivalents 1.88 211.89
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Particulars As at April 01,2024 Cash flows Non cash As at March 31, 2025
Borrowings - Non current (Refer note 12.1) 484.25 190.45 - 674.70
Particulars As at April 01,2023 Cash flows Non cash As at March 31, 2024
Borrowings - Non current (Refer note 12.1) - 484.25 - 484.25

As per our report of even date attached For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W100355

Deepak Thombre
Chairman

DIN: 02421599
Place : Pune

Vijay Napawaliya
Partner

Membership No.: 109859
Place : Mumbai

Date: May 14, 2025

Rahul Sahni

Chief Financial Officer
Place: New Delhi

Dr. C N Maheshwari
Whole time director and CEO

DIN: 00125680
Place : New Delhi

Soumya Sharma
Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian X in crore)

2.1

2.2

23

61

Corporate information

Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited ('DBRL' or 'the Company') is a public listed company incorporated in India. The registered office
of the Company is located at Dalmiapuram, P.O. Kallakudi - 621651, Dist. Tiruchirapalli, Tamil Nadu. The Company is listed on
Metropolitan Stock Exchange of India Limited ("MSE") and The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited ("CSE"). The Company is engaged
in the business of refractories and tyres. The Company has effective from October 1, 2023 taken over Dalmia Magnesite Corporation
("DMC Unit") a refractory unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited under leave and license agreement. Continuing
Operations in the Company includes the operations under this agreement and trading of refractory products "Refratories" & "tyres".

These standalone financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025 were approved and adopted by
board of directors of the Company in their meeting held on May 14, 2025.

Basis of preparation, critical accounting estimates and judgement

The standalone financial statements have been prepared on the following basis:

Compliance with Ind AS

These standalone financial statements have been prepared to Comply with Indian accounting Standards (‘Ind AS") including the
Rules notified under the relevant provision of the Companies Act, 2013, (as amended from time to time) and presentation and
disclosure requirements of Division Il of Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013 (Ind AS compliant Schedule Ill) as amended from
time to time.

The Company follows indirect method prescribed in Ind AS - 7 "Statement of Cash Flow" for presentation of its cash flows.

Historical cost convention:

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the certain financial assets and
liabilities, and defined benefit plan — plan Assets which have been measured at fair value.

Assets acquired and liability assumed in business combination are fair valued at appointed date and accounted accordingly.

Basis of preparation

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Functional and presentation currency:

These financial statements are presented in Indian rupees, functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded off
to two decimal places to the nearest crore, unless otherwise stated.

Current vis-a-vis non-current classification:

The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification, consisting
an operating cycle of 12 months being the time elapsed between deployment of resources and realization in cash and cash
equivalents there against.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The presentation of financial statements under Ind AS requires management to take decisions and make estimates and assumptions
that may impact the value of revenues, costs, assets and liabilities and the related disclosures concerning the items involved as well
as contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The useful life and residual value of plant, property equipment and intangible assets are determined based on technical evaluation
made by the management of the expected usage of the asset, the physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence
of the asset. Due to the judgements involved in such estimations, the useful life and residual value are sensitive to the actual usage
in future period.

Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations:

The cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of such obligation are determined
using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the
future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and attrition rate. Due to the
complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian X in crore)

2.4
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Fair value measurement of financial instruments:

When the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on the quoted
market price in activate markets, their fair value is measures using valuation technique. The input to these models are taken from the
observable market where possible, but this is not feasible, a review of judgment is required in establishing fair values. Changes in
assumption relating to these assumption could affect the fair value of financial instrument.

Provisions:

Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting
from past operations or events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition and quantification
of the liability require the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change. Since the
cash outflows can take place many years in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities are reviewed regularly and
adjusted to take account of changing facts and circumstances.

Impairment of Financial and Non-Financial Assets:

The impairment provision for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected losses. The Company
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on Company’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. The Company assesses
at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a Non-financial asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount which is higher of an
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of trade receivables:

Judgements are required in assessing the recoverability of overdue trade receivables and determining whether a provision against
those receivables is required. Factors considered include the credit rating of the counterparty, the amount and timing of anticipated
future payments and any possible actions that can be taken to mitigate the risk of non-payment.

Income Tax:

The Company reviews at each Balance sheet date the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The factors used in estimates may
differ from actual outcome which could lead to an adjustment to the amounts reported in Financial Statements. Deferred tax asset are
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or tax credits
can be utilized. This involves assessment of when those assets are likely to reverse and a judgement as to whether or not there will
be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the asset. This requires assumptions regarding future profitability, which is inherently
uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding future profitability change, there can be an increase or decrease in the amounts
recognized in respect of deferred tax assets and consequential impact in the statement of profit and loss.

Contingencies:

Management has estimated the possible outflow of resources at the end of each annual reporting financial year, if any, in respect of
contingencies/claim/litigations against the company as it is not possible to predict the outcome of pending matters with accuracy.

Fair value business combinations:

On acquistion date May 06, 2022, the Company fair valued the asset acquired and liabilites assumed as part of business
combination; valuation by registered valuer to comply with the provision of arrangement under section 230 to 232 of the Companies
Act, 2013 and to comply with the reporting requirements of Ind AS as per section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 to incorporate effect
of scheme of demerger and arrangement approved by NCLT.

Exceptional items:

Exceptional items are those items that management considers, by virtue of their size or incidence, should be disclosed separately to
ensure that the financial information allows an understanding of the underlying performance of the business in the year, so as to
facilitate comparison with prior periods. Such items are material by nature or amount to the year’s result and / or require separate
disclosure in accordance with Ind AS. The determination as to which items should be disclosed separately requires a degree of
judgement.

Recent accounting pronouncements - Standard issued but not yet effective

Recent accounting pronouncements - Standards issued but not yet effective, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has notified the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2025. This notification has resulted into amendments in the existing
accounting standard i.e. Ind AS 21 — The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, which is applicable to the Company from
April 1, 2025 onwards. This amendment does not have any significant impact on the Company's financial statements.
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Material Accounting Policies

Business combinations, goodwill and capital reserve

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of
the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair values,
except certain assets and liabilities required to be measured as per the applicable standard. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed
include contingent liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the
fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised
for noncontrolling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair
value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company re-assesses whether it has
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the
amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as
capital reserve, without routing the same through other comprehensive income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in standalone
statement of profit and loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment:

All items of Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost net of tax/ duty credit availed which includes capitalised
borrowing cost, less depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. The
present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if
the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Expenditure incurred on assets which are not ready for their intended use comprising direct cost, related incidental expenses and
attributable borrowing cost are disclosed under Capital Work-in-Progress.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (PPE) is provided over the useful life of assets on straight line basis specified in
schedule Il to the Act. The useful life of assets which are different from those prescribed under Schedule Il are based on the technical
advice as under. PPE which are added / disposed off during the year, deprecation is provided pro-rata basis with reference to the
month of addition / deletion. leasehold land is amortised over the period of lease.

Estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed annually, taking into account commercial and
technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear.

The useful life of asset acquired as a part of business acquisition which are different from those prescribed under Schedule Il to the
Companies Act, 2013, are as follows:-

Assets Useful life
Buildings 3-20 Years
Plant and Machinery 110 14 Years
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets that the Company controls and from which it expects future economic benefits are capitalised upon acquisition and
measured initially:

a. for assets acquired in a business combination i.e. brand and mining rights; at fair value on the date of acquisition

b. for separately acquired assets, at cost comprising the purchase price and directly attributable costs to prepare the asset for its
intended use.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets that have finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives by the straight line method unless it is practical
to reliably determine the pattern of benefits arising from the asset. Computer softwares are capitalised at the amounts paid to acquire
the respective license for use and are amortised over the period of useful lives or period of three years, whichever is less. An
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized.

Assets Useful life
Brand 18 Years
Mining rights 10 Years

All intangible assets are tested for impairment. Amortization expenses and impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses are
taken to the statement of profit and loss. Thus, after initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less accumulated
amortization and / or impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine if a reset of such useful life is required for assets with finite
lives and to confirm that business circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for assets so classified.
Based on such review, the useful life may change or the useful life assessment may change from indefinite to finite. The impact of
such changes is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets:

Assets which are subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. However, trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are recognised at their transaction price,
less provision for impairment.

Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs specifically relating to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets that necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized (net of income on temporarily deployment of funds) as part of the cost of such
assets. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Company incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. For
general borrowing used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is
determined by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Company that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during a period does not
exceed the amount of borrowing cost incurred during that period. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
occur.

Employee benefits

Expenses and liabilities in respect of employee benefits are recorded in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS)-19 -
‘Employee Benefits’.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits in respect of salaries and wages, including non-monetary benefits are recognised as an expense at the
undiscounted amount in the statement of profit and loss for the year in which the related service is rendered.
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b. Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund, pension scheme and superannuation scheme and ESIC are a defined contribution
plan and the contributions are charged to the statement of profit and loss of the year when the contributions to the respective funds
are due. There are no other obligations other than the contribution payable to the provident fund.

c. Defined benefit plan

The Company’s liabilities on account of gratuity, earned leaves and post retirement medical benefits on retirement of employees are
determined at the end of each financial year on the basis of actuarial valuation certificates obtained from registered actuary in
accordance with the measurement procedure as per Indian Accounting Standard (INDAS)-19- ‘Employee Benefits’. Gratuity liability
is funded through Gratuity Fund Trust with an insurance company in the form of a qualifying insurance policy to the extent of gratuity
liability pertaining to employees of Birla Tyres Limited, which was acquired by the Company through scheme of demerger (refer note
31), balance liability of the Company is unfunded. The costs of providing benefits under these plans are also determined on the basis
of actuarial valuation at each year end. Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are recognized through other
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Accumulated leaves, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee benefit. The
Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused
entittlement that has accumulated at the reporting date. The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward
beyond twelve months, as long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long term compensated absences are
provided for based on actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation is done as per projected unit credit method at the year-end.

3.8 Inventories

Inventories are valued at lower of historical cost or net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises of cost of purchase, cost of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing them to their respective present location and condition. Materials and other supplies
held for use in the production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated
are expected to be sold at or above cost. However, when there has been a decline in the price of materials and it is estimated that
the cost of the finished products will exceed net realizable value, the materials are written down to net realizable value. In such
circumstances, the replacement cost of the material may be the best available measure of their net realizable value.

Historical cost is determined on the basis of real time weighted average method.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

3.9 Revenue recognition and other income:

The Company derives revenues primarily from sale of manufactured goods, traded goods and related services.

Revenue towards satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured at the amount of transaction price (net of variable
consideration) allocated to that performance obligation. The transaction price of goods sold and services rendered is net of variable
consideration on account of discounts.

Revenue is recognised on satisfaction of performance obligation upon transfer of control of promised products or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products or services.

Revenue is measured based on transaction price which is fair value of the consideration received or receivable, after deduction of
any discounts, sales incentives / schemes and any taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government such as goods and services
tax, etc. Accumulated experience is used to estimate the provision for such discounts and sales incentives / schemes. Revenue is
only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable a significant reversal will not occur.

Sale of goods:

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, which is
generally on dispatch/ delivery of the goods. The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are
separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated.

Sale of services:

Revenues from sale of services are recognized as per the term of contract with customers based on stage of completion when the
outcome of the transactions involving rendering of services can be estimated reliably. Percentage-of-completion method requires the
Company to estimate the services performed to date as a proportion of the total services to be performed.

Other income:

Incentives on exports and other Government incentives related to operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss after due
consideration of certainty of utilization/receipt of such incentives.

The quantum of accruals in respect of claims receivable such as from Railways, Insurance, Electricity, Customs Excise and the like
are accounted for on receipt basis.
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Interest income:

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income:

Dividend Income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

Corporate Guarantee Income:
Corporate Guarantee Income is as per the terms of arrangement in the normal course of business and settled through receipt.

Contract balances:

Contract assets:

Contract assets are recognized when there is excess of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract assets are classified as
unbilled receivables (only act of invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is
required, as per contractual terms.

Contract liabilities:

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the company has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the company transfers goods or
services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the company performs under the contract.

Foreign currency transactions

Initial recognition
Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency, using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction.

Conversion:

Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which
are measured in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Nonmonetary items, which are measured at fair value or other similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency, are
translated using the exchange rate at the date when such value was determined.

Exchange differences:

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognized in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively). Foreign
exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the statement of profit and loss, within finance
costs. All other finance gains / losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis.

Taxes

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

Current income-tax:

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Income-Tax Act, 1961
enacted in India. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the
reporting date.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of profit and loss.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax:

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet approach on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purpose at reporting date. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognized as income or expense in the period that
includes the enactment or the substantive enactment date. A deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits
will allow deferred tax assets to be recovered.

The Company offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities, where it has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized
amounts and where it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is
probable that the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settled the obligation in respect of which
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the expense relating to provision presented in the statement of profit & loss is net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are disclosed using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate,
the risk specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as
finance cost.

Mines reclamation liability

The Company records a provision for mines reclamation cost until the closure of mine. Mines reclamation costs are provided at the
present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows, with a corresponding amount being capitalised
at the start of each project. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the mine
reclamation liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a
finance cost. The estimated future costs of mine reclamation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the
estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are capitalised in property, plant and equipment and are depreciated over the
estimated commercial life of the related asset based on the unit of production method.

Contingent liability:
Contingent liability is disclosed in the notes in case of:

a) There is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company.

b) A present obligation arising from past event, when it is not probable that as outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation.

c) A present obligation arises from the past event, when no reliable estimate is possible.

d) A present obligation arises from the past event, unless the probability of outflow are remote.

Contingent assets:
A contingent asset is disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instruments of
another entity.

Investment and other Financial Assets

Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

e Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through Other Comprehensive Income or through profit or loss) and
e Those measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in the statement of profit and loss or Other Comprehensive
Income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments in subsidiaries, the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at cost.

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of profit and loss.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Company classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost:

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost is recognised
in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method.
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Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI):

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except
for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in
the statement of profit and loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/ (losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in other income using the effective interest rate method.

Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL):

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which it
arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income.

Equity investments:

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments, other than investments in subsidiaries, either through FVTPL or FVOCI.
Dividends from such investments are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss as other income when the Company’s right to
receive payments is established.

Investment in subsidiaries representing equity interest are carrying at cost in accordance with ind AS 27.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets:
The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables only, the Company applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109, ‘Financial Instruments’, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised only when:

The Company has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or retains the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients.

Where the entity has transferred an asset, the Company evaluates whether it has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset. In such cases, the financial asset is derecognised. Where the entity has not transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is not derecognised. Where the entity has neither
transferred a financial asset nor retains substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is
derecognised if the Company has not retained control of the financial asset. Where the Company retains control of the financial asset,
the asset is continued to be recognised to the extent of continuing involvement in the financial asset.

Contributed equity
Equity shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax from the proceeds.

Financial liabilities and Equity

Classification as debt or equity:

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Initial recognition and measurement:

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs. The Company'’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Borrowings:

Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit and loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawdown. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawdown, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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Trade and other payables:

These amounts represent obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Those payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less otherwise they are presented as
non-current liabilities. Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.

Derecognition:

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other gains /
(losses). When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
and loss.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period. Where there is a breach of a material provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or
before the end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting date, the entity
does not classify the liability as current, if the lender agreed, after the reporting period and before the approval of the financial
statements for issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach.

Offsetting of financial instrument

Financial assets and Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a legal enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the special purpose financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole.

Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

Dividend Distribution

Annual dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
shareholders. Any interim dividend paid is recognised on approval by Board of Directors. Dividend payable is recognised directly in
other equity.

Discontinued Operation:

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
- represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,
- is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as profit or loss before / after tax
from discontinued operation in the statement of profit and loss.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

(
(
(

(e) Capital work-in-progress (CWIP)

(i) Movement of capital work-in-progress

b) The Company has hypothecated certain assets against borrowings which has been disclosed in note 12(i).

c) Refer to note 32 for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
d) The Company has not revalued any of its property, plant and equipment during the year.
)

Particulars As at As at

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 7.7 0.02
Additions#/ 70.94 717
Capitalised (4.41) -
Transferred to expenses - (0.02)
Closing balance 73.70 717

A Capital work-in-progress additions during the year represents expenses incurred for revival of Tyre Undertaking.
#Details of expenses capitalised and carried forward as a part of capital work in progress are as follows:

. As at| During Capitalised / As at
Particulars March 31,2024 | 2024-25 | 1°% | Transferred | March 31, 2025
Professional charges 4.79 21.91 26.70 - 26.70
Rent - 0.02 0.02 - 0.02
Repairs others 0.54 0.28 0.82 - 0.82
Insurance - 0.01 0.01 - 0.01
Consumption of stores and spare parts 0.84 1.02 1.86 - 1.86
Power and fuel 0.40 2.43 2.83 - 2.83
Salaries, wages and bonus 0.21 2.2 2.41 - 2.41
Contribution to provident & other funds 0.01 0.09 0.10 - 0.10
Travelling & Conveyance 0.02 0.17 0.19 - 0.19
Exchange Fluctuation - 0.01 0.01 - 0.01
Security expenses - 1.2 1.20 - 1.20
Payment to contractors - 2.53 2.53 - 2.53
Staff welfare expense - 0.61 0.61 - 0.61
Rates and taxes - 0.24 0.24 - 0.24
Miscellaneous expenses 0.36 0.04 0.40 - 0.40

717 32.76 39.93 - 39.93

(il) Capital work in progress ageing schedule as at March 31,2025 and March 31, 2024:

As at March 31, 2025

Amount in CWIP for a period of
CwWIP*
Less than 1 year 1-2 Years 2-3Years |More than 3 Years Total
Project in progress 66.53 717 - - 73.70
Total 66.53 717 - - 73.70
As at March 31, 2024
Amount in CWIP for a period of
CwWIP*
Less than 1 year 1-2 Years 2-3Years |More than 3 Years Total
Project in progress 717 - - - 717
Total 717 - - - 717

* The Company do not have any Capital-work-in progress or intangible assets under development, whose completion is overdue or has
exceeded its cost compared to its original plan.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian X in crore)
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5.1

(M

(i)

(i)

Non- Current Assets: Financial Assets

Non-current investments

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Investment in equity shares

Subsidiaries

Measured at cost
Unquoted
Nil (March 31, 2024: 9,999) shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up in Birla Tyres Limited

100,000 (March 31, 2024: 100,000) shares of $ 1 each fully paid up in OCL Global Limited

1,49,999 (March 31, 2024: 1,49,999) shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up in Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer

Private Limited (formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited)

The list of subsidiaries along with proportion of ownership interest held and country of incorporation are

disclosed in Note 42 of Consolidated Financial Statements.

Others

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Unquoted

13,61,582 (March 31, 2024: 13,61,582) equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up of Veeda Clinical Research

Limited

67 (March 31, 2024: 67) equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up of Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private

Limited (% 670.00)

Quoted
27,020,000 (March 31, 2024: 27,020,000) shares of RHI Magnesita India Limited of ¥ 1.00 each#

31,91,952 (March 31, 2024: 15,91,952) shares of Dalmia Bharat Limited of ¥ 2.00 each#

Investments in debt instruments
Unquoted
Measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income:

32,50,00,000 (March 31, 2024: 27,50,00,000) 8% Optionally-Convertible Debenture of ¥ 10 each
full paid up of Hippostores Technology Private Limited

Measured at Amortised Cost:

Nil (March 31, 2024: 600 ) 12.87% Non convertible debenture ¥ 10,00,000 each fully paid up of
Piramal Retail Private Limited

Investment in Alternate Investment Funds
Unquoted
Measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss:

1,00,00,000 (March 31, 2024: Nil) of ¥ 100 each CLASS G3 - S1 Clarus Capital | (AlF)

Aggregate amount of Non-Current Investments:

Particulars
Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments

Notes on investments:

# As per the covenants for borrowing arrangements entered by the Company, the Company is bound to repay its secured borrowings i.e. Term Loan from

Others (refer note 12.1) in full wiithin stipulated time on disposal of such shares.

- 0.01

96.36 96.36
0.02 0.02
57.46 57.28
0.00 0.00
1,370.72 1,493.26
581.43 309.18
325.00 266.75

- 60.00

110.59 -
2,541.58 2,282.86
1,952.15 1,802.44
589.43 480.42

. . As at As at
5.2 Other non-current financial March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Fixed Deposit with Banks more than 12 Months Maturity
-Margin Money (refer note (a) below) 3.72 -
Interest Accrued but not due
-On Fixed Deposits with Bank 0.22 -
Security and Other Deposits
-Unsecured, considered good 3.73 3.62
Total 7.67 3.62

a) Margin money of ¥ 3.72 crore (March 31 2024: Nil ) kept with bank against bank guarantee given are hypothecated with various authorities for margin

money.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

6a

75

Deferred tax liabilities

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Deferred tax liability

Property, plant and equipment 36.24 37.92
Investments 0.11 _
Lease arrangements 0.69 0.69
Deferred tax liability, Gross (A) 37.04 38.61
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.06 0.02
Investments - 23.63
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.35 1.35
Employee benefits 1.27 1.20
Others related to section 43B 1.40 1.10
Interest on borrowings 4.95 1.23
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 2518 6.68
Provision for expenses 299 292
Others 0.61 1.18
Deferred tax assets, Gross (B) 37.04 38.61
Deferred tax assets (net) (B-A) - -
Movement in temporary differences
Opening Recognised in Recognised Closing
FY 24-25 Profit & Loss :
Balance A in OCI balance
ccount
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 37.92 (1.68 - 36.24
Investments - 0.11 - 0.11
Lease arrangements 0.69 0.00 - 0.69
38.61 (1.57) - 37.04
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.02 0.04 - 0.06
Investments 23.63 (23.63) - -
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.35 - - 1.35
Employee benefits 1.20 (0.02) 0.09 1.27
Others related to section 43B 1.10 0.03 - 1.40
Interest on borrowings 1.23 3.72 - 4.95
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 6.68 18.50 - 25.18
Provision for expenses 2.22 - - 2.22
Others 1.18 (0.57) - 0.61
38.61 (1.66) 0.09 37.04
Net Deferred tax liability / (asset) - (0.09) (0.09) -
Opening Recognised in Recognised Closing
FY 23-24 Profit & Loss .
Balance A in OCI balance
ccount
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 40.27 (2.35) - 37.92
Investments 3.00 - (3.00) -
Lease arrangements 0.69 - - 0.69
43.96 (2.35) (3.00) 38.61
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.09 (0.07) - 0.02
Investments - - 23.63 23.63
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.32 0.03 - 1.35
Employee benefits 3.98 (2.81) 0.03 1.20
Others related to section 43B 36.82 (35.72) - 1.10
Interest on borrowings - 1.23 - 1.23
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 1.61 28.70 (23.63) 6.68
Provision for expenses 18.17 (15.95) - 2.22
Others 1.69 (0.51) - 1.18
63.68 (25.10) 0.03 38.61
Net Deferred tax liability / (asset) (19.72) 22.75 (3.03) -
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

(i) The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

(iii) The Company has unabsorbed depreciation of ¥ 488.30 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 477.21 crore) that are available for offsetting for
indefinite life against future taxable profits of the Company. Business loss of the Company of ¥ 412.51crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 443.71
crore) are available for offsetting future taxable profits for 8 years from the year in which losses arose. The expiry dates of unused tax
losses are as follows:

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Year ended Year of Expiry
Unused Tax Losses Tax impact Unused Tax Losses Tax impact
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2025 - - 71.37 17.96
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2026 80.18 20.18 80.18 20.18
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2027 38.77 9.76 38.77 9.76
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2028 142.06 35.75 142.06 35.75
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2029 72.79 18.32 72.79 18.32
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2032 38.54 9.70 38.54 9.70
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2033 40.17 10.11 - -
412.51 103.82 443.71 111.67

(iv) In the absence of convincing evidence regarding availability of sufficient taxable profits against which the carried forwarded unused
tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation can be utilised, the Company has not recognised the deferred tax assets as mentioned
above. The same shall be reassessed at subsequent balance sheet date.

As at As at
6b Non-Current Tax Assets (net) March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax) 7.93 29.99
793 29.99
Movement in Advance Tax
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax) As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
At the beginning of Year 29.99 36.30
Tax Paid / (Refund) (net) (22.06) (6.31)
At the end of the year 7.93 29.99
As at As at
7 Other non-current Assets March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Capital advances
-Unsecured, considered good 1.27 2.72
127 2.72
8 Inventories As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
On hand:
Raw materials 13.42 5.43
Work -in-progress 0.33 -
Finished goods 17.04 19.05
Stock-in-trade 0.39 0.93
Stores and spares 2.08 0.42
In transit:
Stock-in-trade 0.23 -
Finished goods 0.45 -

33.94 25.83

Inventories are hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosed in note 12.1.
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9.1

9.2 Trade Receivables

Current financial assets

As at

Current Investments March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Investments in equity shares

Subsidiary
Measured at cost

Unquoted
9,999 (March 31, 2024: Nil) shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up in Birla Tyres Limited# 0.01
Investments in debt instruments - Others (Unquoted)

Measured at cost

Nil (March 31, 2024:400 ) 12.87% Non convertible debenture for ¥ 10,00,000 each fully paid up - 40.00

of Piramal Retail Private Limited

Nil (March 31, 2024:300 ) 14% Non convertible debenture for ¥ 10,00,000 each fully paid up of - 30.00

Zuari Infraworld India Limited

Investment in mutual funds (Unquoted)

Measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss

720,171.923 (March 31, 2024 : 11,51,248.561) units of Axis Overnight Fund Direct Growth 97.31 145.81

2,61,666.297 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of ABSL Corporate Bond Fund -Growth- Direct Plan 2.94 -

2,212.355 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of Axis Liquid Fund Direct Growth 0.64 -

19,70,775.526 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of Axis Short Duration Fund - Regular Growth - STGPG 5.95 -
106.85 215.81

Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof - -

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 106.85 215.81

# Pursuant to terms of the Resolution Plan duly approved by the NCLT, Kolkata Bench vide its order dated October 19, 2023 and upon
the recommendation of the audit committee, the consent of the Board of Directors be and is hereby accroded to sell equity shares of

Birla Tyres Limited. Hence accordingly present under Current Investment.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Trade Receivable considered good - Secured* 1.94 -
Trade Receivable considered good - Unsecured 8.00 13.68
Trade Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk - -
Trade Receivables - credit impaired 0.24 0.06
10.18 13.74

Less: Provision for expected credit loss 0.24 0.06
9.94 13.68
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

Trade receivable ageing schedule:

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Particulars Not Due Less | 6 months -1 1-2 years 2-3 years | More than 3 year Total
than 6 year
months

As at March 31, 2025
i) Undisputed Trade receivables 416 3.10 0.18 1.34 1.16 - 994
— consideredgood
i) Undisputed Trade Receivables— - - - - - - -
which have significant increase in credit
risk

iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - - 0.02 0.01 0.21 - 0.24
— credit impaired
iv) Disputed Trade - - - - - - -
Receivables-considered
good - - - - - - -
v) Disputed Trade Receivables—
which have significant increase in
credit risk

vi) Disputed Trade Receivables— credit - - - - - - -
impaired
Total 4.16 3.10 0.20 1.35 1.37 - 10.18

As at March 31, 2024
i) Undisputed Trade receivables - 5.32 1.58 5.40 1.38 - 13.68
— consideredgood
ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables— - - - - - - -
which have significant increase in credit
risk

iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - - 0.04 0.02 - - 0.06
— creditimpaired
iv) Disputed Trade - - - - - - -
Receivables-considered
good - - - - R - R
v) Disputed Trade Receivables—
which have significant increase in
credit risk

vi) Disputed Trade Receivables— credit - - - - - - -
impaired
Total - 5.32 1.62 5.42 1.38 - 13.74

Notes
a. No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 90 days
*Trade receivables are secured against Letter of credit for the financial year ended March 31, 2025.
Trade receivables are hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosed in note 12.1.
For information on financial risk management objectives and policies, refer note 40.
Expected credit loss Matrix.

paoyo

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Particulars Less | 6 months -1

Not Due than 6 year 1-2 years 2-3 years | More than 3 year Total

months

As at March 31, 2025
Trade receivables 4.16 3.10 0.20 1.35 1.37 - 10.18
ECL % - - 10% 1% 15% - 2%
ECL Amount - - 0.02 0.01 0.21 - 0.24
As at March 31, 2024
Trade receivables - 5.32 1.62 5.42 1.38 - 13.74
ECL % - - 2.47% 0.37% - - 0.44%
ECL Amount - - 0.04 0.02 - - 0.06
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

. As at As at

9.3 Cash and cash equivalents March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Balances with banks

- in Current Accounts 1.86 10.87
Deposits with maturity of less than three months - 201.00
Cash in hand 0.02 0.02
) 211.89

As at As at

9.4 Bank balances other than 9.3 above March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Fixed Deposits (of maturity exceeding three months but upto one year) 1.25 1.09
Margin Money (refer note (a) below) 6.24 8.02
Margin money with bank

- Earmarked for unpaid dividend (refer note (c) below) 0.25 0.14
- Earmarked for Debenture and Interest = 0.03
Other bank balances (refer note (d) below) 1.05 10.42

I ) 19.70

Notes:

a. Deposit of ¥ 6.24 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 5.80 crore) hypothecated with loan facility availed from non-banking financial institution towards
quarterly interest.

b.  Margin money of ¥ Nil crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 2.22 crore) kept with bank agianst bank guarantee given are hypothecated with various
authorities for margin money.

c.  Thereis no amount due and outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund. During the year,  0.02 Crore (March
31, 2024: % 0.03 crore) on account of unclaimed dividend was credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.

d. Other bank balances represents bank balances acquired from Tyre Undertaking which are under the control of Resolution Professional
(RP). These funds would be used by RP for settlement of financial creditors acquired pursuant to Scheme of Demerger reflected in other
current financial liability (refer note 14.2).

As at As at

9.5 Loans and Advances March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Amount recoverable from employees
- Unsecured, considered good 0.01 0.04
oot 0.04
Note:
Loans and Advances are hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosedin note 12.1.
) . As at As at
9.6 Other Current Financial Assets March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Unsecured, considered good
Interest receivable 0.33 0.38
Unbilled Revenue 2.16 -
2.49 0.38
Note:
Unbilled Revenue is hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosedin note 12.1.
As at As at

10 Other Current Assets March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Unsecured, considered good

Prepaid expenses 0.70 0.20

Advance to suppliers 1.25 1.44

Amount recoverable from others 0.02 0.19

Balance with statutory authorities 32.11 1412
34.08 15.95

Note:

(a) Other current assets are hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosedin note 12.1.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian X in crore)

1. Equity:
111 Share Capital As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Authorised
200,000,000 (March 31, 2024: 200,000,000) equity shares of ¥10 each 200.00 200.00
10 (March 31, 2024: 10) 8%, Redeemable, Preference Shares of ¥ 10 each* 0.00 0.00
*During F.Y.: 2023-24, Pursuant to the approved Resolution Plan and NCLT Order dated October 19, 2023, the Tyre Undertaking (as defined in
the Approved Resolution Plan and Schedule 8 - Scheme of Demerger therein) (hereinafter referrred to as "Demerger Scheme") of the Birla Tyre
Limited ("the Corporate Debtor") has been demerged into the Company with effect from the Demerger Appointed Date i.e. May 06, 2022. In
accordance with the Scheme, the purchase consideration of  10/- will be discharged by issue and allotment of 1 (one) redeemable preference
shares of face value ¥ 10/- of the Company to the shareholders of the Transferor Company, other than the Company itself i.e. Strategic Partner
namely Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited.
Issued, subscribed & fully paid up:
4,42,00,107 (March 31, 2024 4,42,00,107) equity shares of ¥10 each 44.20 44.20
44.20 44.20
(i) Reconciliation of number and amount of equity shares outstanding:
No. of shares Amount
As at April 01, 2023 4,42,00,107 44.20
Movement during the year - - -
As at March 31, 2024 4,42,00,107 44.20
Movement during the year - -
As at March 31, 2025 4,42,00,107 44.20
(i) Rights, restrictions and preferences attached to each class of shares
Terms/ rights attached to equity shares
The Company has only one class of equity shares having par value of ¥ 10/- per share. Each holder of equity share is entitled to one vote per
share. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive the assets of the Company. The
distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.
Terms/ rights attached to preference shares
Each Redeemable, preference shares (RPS) having face value of ¥ 10/- per share. These RPS are redeemable at the option of RPS Holder any
time within 5 years at par. These RPS carry dividend @ 8% on its face value on non-cummulative basis. These RPS are ranked ahead of the
equity shares in the event of a liquidation.
(iii) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company
As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid Number % Holding Number % Holding
Akhyar Estate Holding Private Limited 98,40,692 22.26% 98,40,692 22.26%
Garvita Solution Services And Holding Private Limited 26,84,391 6.07% 26,84,391 6.07%
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited 1,87,23,737 42.36% 1,87,23,737 42.36%
(iv) Details of shares held by promoters at the end of the year in the Company
As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
S. No. |Promoter’s Name No. of Shares % of total | % Change during No. of Shares| % of total shares % Change during
shares the Year the Year
1 Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (incl. nominees) - - 0.00% - - (42.36)%
2 |Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited 1,87,23,743 42.36% 0.00% 1,87,23,743 42.36% 42.36%
3 |Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited 98,40,692 22.26% 0.00% 98,40,692 22.26% 0.00%
4 |Garvita Solution Services And Holdings Private Limited 26,84,391 6.07% 0.00% 26,84,391 6.07% 0.00%
5 |Alirox Abrasives Limited 18,98,397 4.30% 0.00% 18,98,397 4.30% 0.00%
6 Himgiri Commercial Ltd 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
7 |Keshav Power Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
8 |Shree Nirman Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
9 |Valley Agro Industries Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
Total 3,31,47,379 74.99% 0.00% 3,31,47,379 74.99% 0.00%
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Other Equity

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Securities Premium Account

Opening balance 747.19 747.19
Movement during the year - -
Closing balance 747.19 747.19
Capital Reserve

Opening balance 496.05 496.05
Movement during the year -
Closing Balance 496.05 496.05
Retained Earnings

Opening balance 1,356.22 1,311.50
Add: Profit for the year (66.20) 51.42
Add: Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) (0.28) (0.07)
Less: Dividend on shares (6.63) (6.63)
Closing Balance 128311 1,356.22
Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive Income

Opening Balance (135.51) 91.74
Addition during the year (net of tax) (150.75) (227.25)
Closing Balance (286.26) (135.51)
Debt instruments through Other Comprehensive Income

Opening balance (8.25) -
Addition during the year (net of tax) 8.25 (8.25)
Closing Balance - (8.25)
Total 2,240.09 2,455.70

Nature and Purpose of Reserves

a.

b.

I3

Securities premium represents the amount received in excess of par value of securities. Securities Premium is utilised in accordance with
the Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

Capital Reserve arises pursuant to Business Combination in accordance with Ind AS 1083.

Retained earnings are the profits/(loss) that the Company has earned/incurred till date, less any transfers to general reserve, dividends or
other distributions paid to shareholders. Retained earnings include re-measurement loss / (gain) on defined benefit plans, net of taxes that
will not be reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss.

Equity instruments through other comprehensive income - The Company has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of investment
in equity instruments in other comprehensive income. The changes are accumulated with in Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income equity instruments reserve with in equity. The Company will transfer the amount from this reserve to retained earnings when the
relevant equity securities are derecognised.

The Company recognises changes in the fair value of debt instruments held with business objective of collect and sell in other
comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated within the Debt instruments through Other Comprehensive Income . The
Company transfers amounts from this reserve to the statement of profit and loss when the debt instrument is derecognised.

Non - current liabilities:

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Secured

0.001% Unrated, redeemable non-convertible debentures {refer sub note (a) below} 179.40 89.40

Term loan from others {refer sub note (b), (c) and (d) below} 495.30 394.85

Unsecured

8% Redeemable, preference shares {refer sub note (e) below} 0.00 0.00

674.70 484.25
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a. ¥ 179.40 crore (March 31, 2024: 89.40 crore) secured, unrated, redeemable, non-convertible debentures (NCDs) have been issued to Strategic
Partner Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (HSCL) for implementation of the Resolution Plan. These NCDs are secured by mortgage on all movable
and immovable assets of the Tyre Undertaking and investment in Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (formerly known as Dalmia Mining
and Services Private Limited). These NCDs carry fixed coupon rate of 0.001% per annum and variable coupon rate annual interest to be agreed
mutually between the Company and HSCL, subject to availability of surplus profits and cash flows in relation to Tyre Undertaking and shall be
payable only upon finalisation of accounts of the Tyre Undertaking. These NCDs are redeemable at premium subject to performance milestone to be

mutually agreed between parties.

The Company along with NCD Holder i.e. HSCL has prepared the business plan in relation to Tyre Undertaking and have determined the effective
interest rate based on future revenue streams expected to be paid to the NCD Holder. This rate represents the discount rate that equates present
value of estimated cash flows with the initial proceeds received from the NCD Holder and is used to compute the amount of interest expense to be
recognized each period. Basis, above the Company has calculated effective interest rate @ 13% p.a. (inclusive of fixed rate of interest).

b. ¥ 197.85 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 197.20 crore) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at 3-month
Reuters CP Index plus 3.90% p.a. (present 11.20% p.a.) are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Company
and second pari-passu charge on the current assets excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets
of Tyre Undertaking. It is repayable in equal annual installments of ¥ 66.67 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e,
December 27, 2023. Interest is payable on yearly basis.

c. ¥198.15 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 197.65 crore) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at Long-term
lending rate less 10.80% p.a. (present 11.20% p.a.) are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Company and
second pari-passu charge on the current assets excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets of
Tyre Undertaking. It is repayable in equal annual installments of ¥ 66.67 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e,
March 30, 2024. Interest is payable on quarterly basis.

d. ¥99.30 crore (March 31, 2024: Nil) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at Long-term lending rate
less 10.79% p.a. are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Company and second pari-passu charge on the
current assets excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets of Tyre Undertaking. It is repayable in
equal annual installments of ¥ 33.33 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e, April 05, 2024. Interest is payable on

quarterly basis.

e. One Redeemable, preference share (RPS) having face value of ¥ 10 have been issued to HSCL as consideration for acquisition of Tyre Undertaking
pursuant to Scheme of Demerger. These RPS is redeemable at the option of RPS Holder any time within 5 years at par. These RPS carry dividend @
8% on its face value on non-cummulative basis. These RPS are ranked ahead of the equity shares in the event of a liquidation. On issuance of the
RPS, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent instrument. This amount is classified as a financial

liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is redeemed.

12.2 Lease Liabilities

Lease Liabilities

Note (i) The following is the movement in lease liabilities during the year :

Opening Balance

Add: Addition during the year

Add: Finance cost accrued during the year
Less: Payment of lease liabilities

Less: Reversal of lease liabilities

Closing Balance

Non-current

Current

(ii) The following is the contractual maturity profile of lease liabilities:

Less than one year
One year to five years

(i) Operating Lease Disclosure

As at

March31, 2025

0.39
0.39

0.83
0.19
0.08

(0.35)

(0.08)
0.67
0.39
0.28

0.28
0.39
0.67

The Company has taken certain property, plant and equipments under lease either on short term period or low value and hence
minimum rental payable under short term/low value are as follows:

As at

March 31, 2024
0.61

0.61

074
1.22
0.08

(0.35)

(0.86)
0.83
0.61
0.22

0.22
0.61
0.83

not covered under IND AS 116. Future

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Within 1 Year 0.41 1.04
1 Year to 5 Years 0.01 0.35
12.3 Other non-current financial liabilities As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest accruedbut not due on NCDs 24.37 4.73
24.37 4.73
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14

141

a)

b)

14.2
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*

Provisions

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Provision for employee benefits

- Gratuity (Refer note 35) 0.44 0.28
- Leave Encashment (Refer note 35) 0.04 0.02
- Post Retirement Medical Benefit Obligation (Refer note 35) 3.91 3.83
Provision against asset retirement obligation* 5.38 5.38
9.77 9.51
The movement in provision for asset retirement obligation is as follows:
Opening Balance 538 5.24
Unwinding of discount - 0.14
Payments - _
Closing Balance 5.38 5.38
Current liabilities:
Financial Liabilities
Trade Payables As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises (Refer note below) 0.95 0.16
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small Enterprises 27.71 29.30
Total 28.66 29.46
Trade Payables aging schedule
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars Not Due Less th‘a,:aar 1-2 years 2-3 years | More than 3 years Total
As at March 31, 2025
Undisputed trade payables:
Micro and Small Enterprises 0.95 - - - - 0.95
Others 13.44 4.87 9.30 0.10 - 27.71
Disputed dues Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - - -
Disputed dues Others - - - - - -
Total 14.39 4.87 9.30 0.10 - 28.66
As at March 31, 2024
Undisputed trade payables:
Micro and Small Enterprises 0.16 - - - 0.16
Others 9.1 20.03 0.16 - - 29.30
Disputed dues Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - - -
Disputed dues Others - - - - - -
Total 9.27 20.03 0.16 - - 29.46
Details of amounts outstanding to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises based on information available with the Company is as under:
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Particulars
Principal amount and remaining unpaid 0.95 0.16
Interest due on above and unpaid interest - -
Interest paid - -
Payment made beyond the appointed day during the year - -
Interest due and payable for the period of delay - -
Interest accrued and remaining unpaid - -
Amount of further interest remaining due and payable in succeedingyears - -
0.95 0.16
Other financial liabilities As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Unpaid matured debentures and interest - 0.03
Unpaid dividend 0.25 0.14
Liability for capital expenditure 7.09 2.64
Advances refundable to customers - 6.95
Interest accruedbut not due on borrowings 9.94 5.50
Payable to financial creditors pursuant to Scheme of Demerger 2.06 11.73
Payable to operational creditors pursuant to Scheme of Demerger 0.78 0.07
Contribution from committee of creditors 0.02 0.02
Other liabilities 0.49 -
20.63 27.08
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Other current liabilities As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Advances received from customers 1.84 1.04
Security deposits 1.32 1.00
Statutory liabilities* 3.68 3.14

Other payables 0.05 0.04

6.89 5.22

* Includes statutory dues amounting to ¥0.02 crore on account of provident fund not deposited due to technical glitch at PF Portal, the necessary documents have been

submitted to concerned authorities, approval of which is awaited.

Provisions

As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Provision for employee benefits
- Leave Encashment (Refer Note 35)
- Gratuity (Refer Note 35)
- Post Retirement Medical Benefit Obligation (Refer Note 35)
Provision towards mining litigation
Provision for other payables
Provision for warranty

0.03 0.01
0.24 0.56
0.35 -
8.83 8.83
0.01 0.05
0.66 0.80
10.12 10.25

Note: Movement in provision

Provision towards mining litigation

Provision for warranty

: As at As at As at As at
Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31,2024 March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Opening 8.83 72.20 0.80 1.35
Created during the year - - 0.31 0.80
(Reversed) during the year - (63.37) (0.45) (1.35)
Closing 8.83 8.83 0.66 0.80
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Revenue from operations

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Revenue from contracts with customers
Manufactured goods

Traded goods

Sale of services

Other Operating Income:
Scrap Sales

Export incentives

Total

Revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated based on nature of products or services:

Sale of products

Manufactured goods
-Refractories
-Tyres

Traded goods
Total sale of products

Sale of services
Management service charge
Total sale of services

Other Operating Revenue
Scrap Sales
Export incentives

Total Other Operating Revenue

Total revenue from contract with customers

Reconciliation of Revenue from operations with contract price:
Contract price
Reduction towards variable consideration components

Revenue from operations

48.62 12.95
9.74 27.67
0.37 0.18
0.01 -
0.12 -

58.86 40.80

48.62 12.95

48.62 12.95
9.74 27.67

58.36 40.62
0.37 0.18
0.37 0.18
0.01 -
0.12 -
0.13 -

58.86 40.80

58.86 40.80

58.86 40.80

Other income

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Interest income from bank/securities/others

Profit on termination of lease

Dividend income

Provision/liabilities no longer required written back
Bad Debt Recovery

Gains/ (losses) on financial instruments measured at FVTPL (net):

Fair value gain on investments at fair value through profit and loss
Profit on sale of current investments (net)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipments

Other non-operating income

9.77 13.95
0.01 0.02
9.63 7.38
0.78 8.59
4.76 -
11.57 2.45
8.18 14.89
1.06 -
0.26 0.80
46.02 48.08

Cost of raw materials consumed

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Opening raw materials

Add: Purchase during the year
Less: Closing raw materials
Consumed during the year

5.43 -
29.18 11.14
13.42 5.43
21.19 5.71
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Purchase of stock-in-trade For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Purchase of stock-in-trade 1296 7.48
12.96 7.48

Change in inventories of finished goods, stock in trade and work-in-progress

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Inventories at the beginningof the year
Work-in-Progress
Stock in Trade
Finished Goods

Less: Inventories at the end of the year

Work-in-Progress
Stock in Trade
Finished Goods

Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress
- Discontinued operations
- Continuing operations

0.93 10.84
19.05 18.44
19.98 29.28
0.33 -
0.62 0.93
17.49 19.05
18.44 19.98
154 9.30
(0.22) 0.33
1.76 8.97

Employee benefits expense

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Salaries, wages and bonus”

Contribution to provident and other funds (Refer Note 35)/
Gratuity expense (Refer Note 35)

Post-retirement medical benefits (Refer Note 35)

Staff welfare expense A

N netof expenses capitalised during the year {refer note 4(e)}

11.72 9.55
0.19 0.27
0.05 0.23
0.28 1.25
0.45 0.57

12.69 11.87

Finance costs

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Interest on borrowing - at amortised cost
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest - Others

76.44 11.00
0.06 -
0.02 0.1

76.52 11.11

Depreciation and amortisation

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of right of use assets
Amortization of intangible assets

17.75 21.44
0.23 0.22
0.02 0.01

18.00 21.67
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Other expenses

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Consumption of stores and spare parts/ 0.93 0.04
Power and fuel” 0.03 1.41
Packing, freight and transport 2.09 0.52
Commission 0.52 -
RentA 1.21 0.37
Repairs and maintenance :

Repairs to buildings”® - 0.14
Repairs to machinery 0.53 0.11
Repairs others™ 1.51 1.83
Insurance” 0.72 0.73
Rates and taxes” 6.75 3.68
Payment to the auditors

- Statutory Audit fees 0.29 0.29

- Limited Review fees 0.17 0.17

- for reimbursement of expenses 0.03 0.02
Advertisement and publicity 0.21 0.13
Provision for Expected Credit Loss 0.18 -
Foreign Exchange fluctuation” 0.19 0.92
Travelling and conveyance” 2.01 1.42
Payment to contractors”® 1.46 1.13
Professional charges (net of reimbursement of expenses)? 6.38 16.45
Brick Lining Expenses 0.10 -
Directors sitting fees 0.13 0.15
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) - 0.15
Warranty expenses 0.31 0.80
Security Expenses/ 0.75 1.13
Miscellaneous expenses” 1.45 4.97

27.95 36.56

N netof expenses capitalised duringhe year {refer note 4(e)}
Exceptional ltems For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

Continuing operations:
Profit on disposal of investment in subsidiary company namely Dalmia
GSB Refractories GmbH. (refer note a)

Notes to exceptional items:

29.24

29.24

a.  Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement with RHI Magnesita Deutschland AG and shareholders’ approval, the Company has disposed off

wholly owned subsidiary company namely Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH.
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27 Tax expense For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

(a) Continuing operations
Current income tax:
Current income tax charge - -

Tax adjustments for earlier years - 2.50
Deferred tax:

Relation to origination of temporary differences 0.07 717
Total income tax expense for continuing operations 0.07 9.67

(b) Discontinued operation
Current income tax:

Current income tax charge - -
Deferred tax:

- Relation to origination of temporary differences 0.02 15.59
Total income tax expense/ (credit) for discontinued operation 0.02 15.59
Net income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 0.09 25.26

Other comprehensive income (OCI) section (including discontinued

Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year

Net loss/ (gain) on equity instruments through OCI ) (3.00)
Net (gain)/ loss on re-measurement of defined benefit plans (0.09) (0.03)
Net (loss)/gain on debt instruments through OCI - -
Income tax expense/ (credit) charged to OCI (0.09) (3.03)
Bifurcation of income tax recognised in OClI into :

Items that will not be reclassifiedto profit or loss (0.09) (3.03)
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss - -
Total income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income (0.09) (3.03)
Total income tax expense recognised in profit & loss account - 22.23

Reconciliation of income tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied
by Company’s tax rate:

Profit before tax from continuing operations (66.19) 14.75
Profit/ (loss) before tax from discontinued operation 0.08 61.93
Accounting profit before tax (66.11) 76.68
Income tax expense calculated at 25.168% (including surcharge and education 25.17% 25.17%
cess)

Computed tax expense/(credit) (16.64) 19.30
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years - 2.50
Effect of income chargeable atdifferent rate of tax - (0.16)
Deferred tax recognised on losses for previous years to the extent of liability - (16.32)
Deferred tax not recognised on losses (net off losses lapsed) for current year 16.73 -
Effect of expenses that are non-deductiblein determining taxable profit - 0.29
Previously unrecognised temporary differences now recognised on disposal of - 19.65

investment in subsidiary

0.09 25.26
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Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Re-measurement of defined benefit plans
Income tax effecton above
Net loss on equity instruments through OCI
Income tax effecton above

ltems that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Net (loss)/gain on debt instruments through OCI
Income tax effect on above

Total Other Comprehensive Income

(0.37) (0.10)
0.09 0.03
(150.75) (230.25)
- 3.00

8.25 (8.25)
(142.78) (235.57)

Earnings per Share (EPS)

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

(a) Continuing operations
Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS
Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (in )
Basic and Diluted

(b) Discontinued operation

Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS
Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (inX)

Basic and Diluted

(c) Continuing and Discontinued operations
Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS
Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (in %)

Basic and Diluted

(66.26)
4,42,00,107

(14.99)

0.06
4,42,00,107

0.01

(66.20)
4,42,00,107

(14.98)

5.08
4,42,00,107

1.15

46.34
4,42,00,107

10.48
51.42
4,42,00,107

11.63
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Transfer of refractory business on slump sale basis (Discontinued operation)

In view of transfer of its Refractory Business in India to RHI Magnesita India Ltd. ("RHI") which was concluded on January 4, 2023, then the
Indian Refractory Business have been considered as discontinued operations in accordance with Ind AS 105 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations).

The Company has effective October 01, 2023 taken over Dalmia Magnesite Corporation ("DMC Unit"), a refractory unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar
and industries Limited under Leave and License agreement. Continuing Operations in the Company includes the operation under this
agreement and trading of magnesite carbon refractories ("Refractories").

Financial performance and cash flow information of the Discontinued Operation are as below :-

Year Ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Particular

Financial Performance :

Revenue includingother income 3.01 78.22
Total expenses 2.93 16.29
Profit before tax 0.08 61.93
Tax expenses 0.02 15.59
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 0.06 46.34
Cashflow disclosure

Net cash flow (used in) operating activities (14.66) 106.72
Net cash flow (used in) investing activities - -
Net cash flow from financing activities - (0.17)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashflow from discontinued operation (14.66) 106.55

(a) Acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited and Tyre Undertaking

Pursuant to Order dated October 19, 2023 of Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench (NCLT), Dalmia Bharat Refractories
Limited (‘the Company’ or ‘Transferee Company’ or ‘Successful Resolution Applicant’), along with Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (‘HSCL’)
as ‘Strategic Partner’ had completed the acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited (‘Corporate Debtor’ or ‘Transferor Company’) which had undergone
the Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 which was initiated on May 05, 2022. The
Resolution Plan dated March 27, 2023 and modified as on July 27, 2023 (‘Approved Resolution Plan’) was submitted by the Company with
HSCL as ‘Strategic Partner’ and was approved by the NCLT on October 19, 2023. The Approved Resolution Plan also contains Financial
Restructuring Scheme (referred to as "FRS Scheme") (Schedule 7 of the Approved Resolution Plan) which provides for treatment of select
existing assets and liabilities of the Transferor Company from the Restructuring Appointed Date (i.e. May 05, 2022) and eventual capital
reduction of the share capital of the Transferor Company. The above schemes were filed with Registrar of Companies on November 04, 2023.

Under the Approved Resolution Plan, the Company along with the Strategic Partner became the 100% shareholder of the Corporate Debtor
through fresh issue of equity shares. As per the Approved Resolution Plan, the Company and the Startegic Partner acquired 9,999 and 1 equity
shares in Birla Tyres Limited respectively.

Pursuant to the approved Resolution Plan and NCLT Order dated October 19, 2023, the Tyre Undertaking (as defined in the Approved
Resolution Plan and Schedule 8 - Scheme of Demerger therein) (hereinafter referrred to as "Demerger Scheme") of the Corporate Debtor has
been demerged into the Company with effect from the Demerger Appointed Date i.e., May 06, 2022. To give the effect of the Demerger
Scheme, the financial statements of the Company for the FY 2022-23 had been restated during the previous year 2023-24.

The Company has given effect to accounting in terms of the Approved Resolution Plan and the Scheme of Demerger which provides for
accounting as per ‘Acquisition Method’ method in accordance with Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations read with other accounting standards
prescribed under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities pertaining to the Tyre Undertaking are
recorded at their respective fair value as per the Purchase Price Allocation report taken from the Registered Valuer. The difference between the
fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and consideration paid on the demerger has been accounted for as Capital Reserve amounting to
% 460.25 crore. In accordance with the Scheme, the purchase consideration of ¥ 10/- will be discharged by issue and allotment of 1 (one)
redeemable preference shares of face value ¥ 10/- of the Company to the shareholders of the Transferor Company, other than the Company
itself i.e. Strategic Partner namely Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited.
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The fair value of assets and liabilities of Tyre Undertaking assumed as on the Demerger Appointed Date is a below:

Particulars Amount
Assets transferred

Property, plant and equipment 232.46
Capital work-in-progress 83.03
Advance tax 0.03
Deferred tax assets 430.69
Inventories 540
Cash and bank balances 1.14
Other financial assets 4.07
Other current assets 0.03
Total assets transferred (A) 756.85
Liabilities transferred

Payable to financial creditors pursuant to FRS Scheme 135.47
Interest accrued on financial creditors pursuantto FRS Scheme 143.03
Payable tonon-financialcreditorspursuanttoFRSScheme 13.48
Statutory liabilities pursuantto FRS Scheme 4.62
Total liabilities transferred (B) 296.60
Net Assets transferred upon Demerger (A-B) 460.25
Fair value of consideration transferred 0.00
Amount transferred to Capital Reserve (A-B) 460.25

Transfer of identified assets of non-operational division

The Approved Resolution Plan also contained the Scheme of Arrangement which provided for transfer of identified assets in relation to the Non-
Operational Assets Division (as defined in the approved Resolution Plan) of the Company to Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited
(formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) (the “Transferee Company”) with effect from the Transfer Appointed Date i.e.

May 06, 2022. Details of assets transferred are as follows:

Particulars Amount
Transfer of identified assets
Freehold Land 5.60
Capital work-in-progress 83.03
Total assets transferred (A) 88.63
Sale Consideration (B) 119.75
Profit on Sale of Non-Operational Assets Division (B-A) 31.12
Capital Commitments
Particul As at As at
articulars March 31,2025 |  March 31, 2024
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for 7.25 12.32
Contingent Liabilities
i As at As at
Particulars March 31,2025 |  March 31, 2024
Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt and being contested before the appropriate authorities.
- Mineral taxes* 11.13 -
- Other matters 13.11 13.38
Note:

*On July 25, 2024, the Hon'ble Supreme Court, in a judgment delivered by a Nine-Judge Constitutional Bench, ruled that royalty is not a tax
and upheld the legislative competence of States to levy mineral taxes. Further, in its order dated August 14, 2024, the Court determined that
States could levy or demand tax on minerals from April 01, 2005, with payments to be made in 12 installments, starting from April 01, 2026.

Given the complexity of the issues involved and pending further clarity, the Company, based on management’s evaluation, has estimated a

contingent liability of *11.13 Crore. This will be reassessed periodically based on further developments in the matter.'
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34 Segment Information

Based on internal reorganization of its business segments, increased focus and business review carried out by the Whole-time director and
CEOQ (Chief Operating Decision Maker - CODM) of the Company, the Company has identified the two reportable segments, i.e. refractories and
tyres as per Ind AS 108 - "Operating Segments", including related disclosures.

In view of transfer of its Refractory Business in India to RHI Magnesita India Ltd (“RHI”) which was concluded on January 4, 2023, then the
Indian Refractory Business have been considered as discontinued operations in accordance with Ind AS 105 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations).

Revenue and expenses directly attributable to segments are reported under each reportable segment. All other expenses which are not
attributable or allocable to segments have been disclosed as unallocable expenses.

Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable or allocable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other assets and
liabilities are disclosed as unallocable.

Particulars Refractories Tyre Total

March 31, 2025 March 31,2024 | March 31,2025 | March 31,2024 | March 31,2025 | March 31, 2024
Revenue
External revenue (including other operatingrevenue) 58.85 40.80 0.01 - 58.86 40.80
Revenue from continuing operations 58.85 40.80 0.01 - 58.86 40.80
Revenue from discontinued operations 3.01 14.82 3.01 14.82
Total revenue from continuing and discontinued 61.86 55.62 0.01 - 61.87 55.62
operations
Results
Segment results of continuing operations (11.16) (16.79) (22.59) (34.16) (33.75) (50.95)
Less: Finance costs (76.52) (11.11)
Add: Interest income 9.41 13.42
Add: Dividend income 9.63 7.38
Add: Income from sale of investments 7.38 14.89
Add: Other Un-allocable Income (net expenditures) 17.66 11.88
Profit / (Loss) before exceptional items & tax from (66.19) (14.49)
continuing operations for the year ended
Exceptional ltems - 29.24
Profit / (Loss) before tax for the year ended from (66.19) 14.75

Continuing Operations

(i) Current Tax - -
(i) Deferred Tax 0.07 717

(iii) Tax adjustments for earlier years - 2.50
Net Profit / (Loss) operations for the year ended (66.26) 5.08
from Continuing Operations
Profit / (Loss) before tax for the year ended from 0.08 61.93
discontinued Operations
Tax expenses 0.02 15.59
Net Profit / (Loss) for the year ended from 0.06 46.34
Discontinued Operations
Profit after tax (66.20) 51.42
Segment assets
Segment assets of continuing operations (a) 17.57 17.56 281.67 216.76 299.24 234.32
Segment assets of discontinued operations (b) 8.82 23.00 - - 8.82 23.00
Unallocable assets (c) 2,752.04 2,813.91
1otal assets (a+b+c) 3,060.10 3,071.23
Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities of continuing operations (a) 13.14 10.29 218.60 111.45 231.74 121.74
Segment liabilities of discontinued operations (b) 18.14 32.24 - - 18.14 32.24
Unallocable liabilities (c) 525.93 417.35
Total liabilities (a+b+c) 775.81 571.33
Other disclosures
Capital expenditure of continuing operations 447 0.05 70.96 7.26 75.43 7.31
Capital expenditure of discontinuedoperation - -
Total capital expenditure 75.43 7.31
Depreciation and amortisation of continuing operations 0.40 041 17.60 2126 18.00 21.67
Depreciation and amortisation of discontinued operation 0.06 0.06
Total depreciation and amortisation 18.06 21.73
- 0.31 0.80 - -
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation and 0.31 0.80
amortisation
Unallocable - -
Total other significant non-cash expenses 0.31 0.80
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Geographical Segments
The Company's operating facilities are located in India.

Particular As at As at
articulars March31,2025 March31, 2024

Segment revenue:
From Continuing Operations

India 49.57 40.80

Rest of theworld 9.29 -

From discontinued Operation

India 3.01 13.92

Rest of the world - 0.90
61.87 55.62

Information about major customers

Revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to 10 percent or more of an entity's revenue during the current year and
previous year are as follows:

Particulars As at As at
March31,2025 March31, 2024
RHI Magnesita India Refractories Limited (Formerly know as Dalmia OCL Limited) - 22.84
Steel AuthorityoflndiaLimited - 14.96
Madhavi Enterprises 11.71 -
ESL Steel Limited 9.10 -
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and IndustriesLimited 8.29 -
35 Employee Benefits
Gratuity

The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. The gratuity is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employee who
has completed five years of service is entitled to gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service.
During the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 liability was funded through Gratuity Fund Trust with an insurance company in the
form of a qualifying insurance policy to the extent of employees pertaining to Birla Tyres Limited acquired by the Company through scheme of
demerger (refer note 31). The Trust is responsible for the administration of the plan assets and for the determination of investment strategy. The
Company makes provision of unfunded gratuity liability in the books of account on the basis of actuarial valuation carried out by an
independent actuary.

Post-retirement medical benefits plan (‘PRMB’)

The Company provides post-retirement medical benefits to its certain retired employees. The plan is not funded by the Company.

The following tables summarize the components of defined benefit costs recognised in the statement of profit and loss and
amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the above mentioned plan:

A. Statement of profit and loss
Net employee benefit expense

2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave PRMB Gratuity Leave PRMB
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
Current Service cost 0.10 0.03 - 0.10 0.00 -
Past Service Cost - 0.01 - - - 1.25
Interest Cost 0.06 0.00 0.28 0.13 0.02 -
Expectedreturn on plan asset - - - - - -
Total Expense 0.16 0.04 0.28 0.23 0.02 1.25
Continuing operations 0.05 0.04 0.28 0.23 0.02 1.25
Discontinued operations 0.11 0.00 - - 0.00
B. Balance Sheet
(i) Details of Plan assets/ (liabilities) for Gratuity and Leave Encashment
2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave PMRB Gratuity Leave PMRB
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
Present value of Obligation as at year-end 17.32 0.07 4.26 28.98 0.03 3.83
Fair value of plan assets 16.64 - - 28.14 - -
Net Asset/(Liability) recognized in (0.68) (0.07) (4.26) (0.84) (0.03) (3.83)
the Balance Sheet
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(i) Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave PMRB Gratuity Leave PMRB
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
Opening defined benefit obligation 28.98 0.03 3.83 38.45 0.28 2.87
Interest cost 0.06 0.00 0.28 0.13 0.02 -
Current service cost 0.10 0.03 - 0.10 0.00 -
Past service cost - 0.01 - - - 1.25
Benefit paid (11.69) (0.01) (0.35) (9.81) (0.18) (0.29)
Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation (0.13) 0.01 0.50 0.10 (0.09) -
Closing defined benefit obligation 17.32 0.07 4.26 28.98 0.03 3.83
(iii) Changes in the fair value of plan assets (gratuity) are as follows:
Particulars 2024-25 2023-24
Opening fair value of plan assets 28.14 37.05
Expectedreturn on Plan Assets - -
Benefits paid (11.50) (8.91)
Closing fair value of plan assets 16.64 28.14
Fair value of plan assets as at April 01, 2023 of ¥ 37.05 crore represents the amount recoverable from KICM Gratuity Fund pursuant to the
Scheme of Demerger (refer note 31). During the year ended March 31, 2025, KICM Gratuity funds released funds of ¥11.50 crore (March 31,
2024 : % 8.91 crore) towards payment of Gratuity. Balance funds of
%16.64 crore (March 31, 2024 : ¥ 28.14 crore) have been transferred from KICM Gratuity Fund to Birla Tyres Limited Employee's Gratuity Fund.
(iv) The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligations for the Company’s plans are shown below:
2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity PMRB Gratuity PMRB
(funded) (funded)
Discount rate (%) 6.69% - 6.78% 6.65% 6.97% - 7.23% 7.20%
Expected salary increase (%) 7.00% Not applicable 5.00% - 7.00% Not applicable
Medical cost inflation rate (%) Not applicable 5.00% Not applicable 5.00%
Demographic Assumptions
Retirement Age (year) B o 58 years Not applicable 58 vyears Not applicable
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability 100% of IALM/IIAM 90% of IALM 100% of 1ALM 90% of IALM
(2012 - 14)/(2012- 2015) (2012- 15) | (2012 - 14)/(2012-2015) (2012 - 15)
Withdrawal rate
Up to 30 Years 3% Not 1% - 3% Not
From 31 to 44 2% applicable 1% - 2% applicable
years 1% 1%
Above 44 years ) . Not . Not
applicable applicable
Not applicable Not applicable
The estimates of future salary increases considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant
factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market. The above information is certified by Actuary except for Gratuity pursuant to
the Scheme of Demerger (refer note 31)
(v) Contribution to defined contribution plans:
Particulars 2024-25| 2023-24
Continuing operations 0.19 0.27
Discontinued operations 0.08 0.10
Provident and other funds 0.27 0.37
(vi) Sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation:
2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave PMRB Gratuity Leave PMRB
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
Impact of the change in discount rate
Present value of obligation atthe end of the period
Impact due toincrease of 0.5%/ 1% (0.04) (0.00) (0.34) (0.52) (0.00) (0.31)
Impactdue to decrease of0.5% / 1% 0.03 0.00 0.40 0.51 0.00 0.35
Impact of Medical cost inflation rate
Impact due toincrease of 1% Not applicable Notapplicable 0.40 Not applicable Not applicable 0.35
Impactdue to decrease of 1% Not applicable Notapplicable (0.35) Not applicable Not applicable (0.32)
Impact of the change in salary increase
Present value of obligation atthe end of the period
Impact due toincrease of 0.5% / 1% 0.03 0.00 Not applicable 0.51 0.00 Not applicable
Impactdue to decrease 0f0.5% / 1% (0.04) (0.00) Not applicable (0.53) (0.00)  Not applicable
The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result
of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.
(vii) Other comprehensive income (OCI):
. 2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity
Actuarial gain/(loss) for the year on PBO (0.37) (0.10)
Actuarial gain/(loss) for the year on plan asset - -
Total actuarial gain/(loss) at the end of the year (0.37) (0.10)
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Maturity profile of Gratuity and Leave encashment

2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
0-1 Year 0.24 0.02 0.54 0.01
2-5 Years 0.10 0.01 0.08 0.00
More than 5 years 0.34 0.04 0.22 0.02
Maturity profile of PMRB (on undiscounted basis)

i 2024-25 2023-24
Particulars PMRB PMRB
0-1 year 0.35 0.31
2-5 Years 1.42 1.29
More than 5 years 6.08 6.01

The weighted average duration (based on discounted cash flows) of the defined benefit plan obligation for gratuity at the end of the reporting
period is 9.55-11.26 years (March 31, 2024: 10.53 years) and for PRMB is 9 years (March 31, 2024: 9 years).

Risk Exposure
Defined benefit plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: Investment Risk, Interest Risk, Longevity Risk and Salary Risk.

Investment Risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yields at
the end of the reporting period on government bonds.

Interest Risk
A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan's
debt investments.

Longevity Risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both
during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.

Salary Risk
The present value of the defined plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the
salary of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.

Related Party Disclosures

As per Ind AS 24, the disclosures of transactions with the related parties are given below:

A. Relationships

i Enterprises having significant influence over the Company
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited (w.e.f. April 25, 2023)
Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (Upto April 25, 2023)

ii. Subsidiaries of the Company
OCL Global Limited
Birla Tyre Limited
Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH (ceased to be subsidiary from April 28, 2023)
Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (Formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited)

iii. Step down subsidiaries of the Company
OCL China Limited

iv. Promoter/ Enterprises controlled by Promoters/ Key Management Personnel of the Significant shareholder:
Alirox Abrasives Limited
Dalmia Bharat Limited
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (w.e.f April 26, 2023)
Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research
Garvita Solution Services and Holdings Private Limited
Himgiri Commercial Limited
Hippostores Technology Private Limited
Keshav Power Limited
Shree Nirman Limited
Valley Agro Industries Limited

v. Key Managerial Person and Directors
Mr. Sameer Nagpal (till May 05, 2023 he was Managing Director & CEO and w.e.f. May 06, 2023 till June 17, 2024 Non Executive
Director)
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari, Whole Time Director and CEO (w.e.f. May 06, 2023, till May 05, 2023 he was Non-Executive
Director)
Mr. Rahul Sahni, CFO (w.e.f. April 21, 2023)
Mr. Prakash Dalmia, ED & COO-Tyre Undertaking on Deputation (w.e.f August 01,2024, till January 15,2025)
Ms Meghna Saini - Company Secretary (till September 13, 2024)
Ms Soumya Sharma - Company Secretary (w.e.f. September 24, 2024)
Mr. Mukund Choudhary Executive Director-Tyre Undertaking (w.e.f. February 01, 2025)
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The following transactions were carried out with the related parties in the ordinary course of business (Net of taxes):

Name of Related Party

Name of Related Party

For the year ended

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited Sale of Land 3.60 -
Purchase of services 0.02 0.06
Transfer of assets related to employee movement - 0.40
Transfer of liabilities related to employee movement - 0.51
Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH Corporate Guarantee income - 0.05
OCL China Limited Purchase of goods 4.37 0.27
Dalmia Bharat Limited Purchase of services 0.03 0.09
Transfer of liabilities related to employee movement 0.02 -
Dividend Received 2.87 0.63
Keshav Power Limited Purchase of shares of DBL 300.16 199.03
Dividend paid* 0.00 0.00
Hippostores Technology Private Limited Investment in OCDs 50.00 275.00
Govan Travels Air ticketing 1.19 0.95
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited) Managerial Services 0.27 -
Reimbursement of Expenses (Full Amount- ¥ 35,000) 0.00 -
Dalmia Magnesite Corporation Sale of Goods 8.04 4.09
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited) Purchase of goods 4.01 8.20
Leave & License Fee 1.04 0.61
Manpower Support Services 5.62 3.06
Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research Services Availed 0.01 -
Alirox Abrasives Limited Managerial Services 0.40 0.50
Dividend paid 0.28 0.28
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited Dividend paid 2.81 2.81
Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited Dividend paid 1.48 1.48
Garvita Solution Services and Holdings Private Limited Dividend paid 0.40 0.40
Himgiri Commercial Limited Dividend paid* 0.00 0.00
Shree Nirman Limited Dividend paid*# 0.00 0.00
Valley Agro Industries Limited Dividend paid* 0.00 0.00
Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited
(Formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) Reimbursement of Expenses - 0.12
Birla Tyre Limited Reimbursement of Expenses 0.96 0.02
TDS Liability of the Company paid by BTL - 0.02
Mr. Sameer Nagpal - 0.66
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari 1.39 0.74
Mr. Rahul Sahni Salary & 0.60 0.67
Key Managerial Personnel mrs 2’:282;: SZ::{:ia perquisites 85 0'28_
of Parent Company . .
Ms Soumya Sharma 0.06 -
Mr. Mukund Choudhary 0.06 -
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari along with his relatives Dividend paid 0.00 -

(Full Amount- ¥ 5074.50)

# Dividend paid is ¥ 58.50 (March 31, 2024: ¥ 58.50)
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Balances outstanding at year end:.

Particulars For the year ended
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Outstanding receivable

Dalmia Magnesite Corporation - 4.09
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited)

Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (Formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) - 0.12
Investment in subsidiaries

OCL Global Limited 96.36 96.36
Birla Tyres Limited 0.01 0.01
Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (Formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) 0.02 0.02
Investment in Promoter/ Enterprises controlled by Promorters / Key Management Personnel of the Significant shareholder:

Dalmia Bharat Limited 581.43 309.18
Hippostores Technology Private Limited 325.00 266.75
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited (full value: ¥ 670.00) 0.00 0.00
Outstanding payable

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited 0.01 0.01
Dalmia Bharat Limited 0.03 -
Dalmia Magnesite Corporation 6.12 8.02
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited) (Net Balance)

Govan Travels 0.15 0.01
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited)

Alirox Abrasives Limited 0.1 -
Birla Tyres Limited 0.32 -
Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research 0.01 -
OCL China Limitedia 261 348

Details of Loans Given, Investment made and Guarantee given covered u/s 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013

i No loan has been given by the Company to any body corporate as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.
ii. Investment made by the Company as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 are disclosed under note no 5.1 and 9.1.
iii.  No guarantee has been given by the Company as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.

Dividend

The Board of Directors has recommended final dividend of 10%, i.e. ¥ 1 per equity share for the year ended March 31, 2025 subject to the
approval of shareholders

Events occurring After the Balance Sheet date

a.  Pursuant to the Resolution Plan approved by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench, vide order dated October 19,
2023, for the acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited (“BTL") jointly by the Company and Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (“HSCL”) under the
Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process (“CIRP”) in accordance with the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 (“IBC”), HSCL has
exercised its option to convert the Optionally Convertible Debentures issued by BTL into equity shares of ¥10/- each. Consequent to the
said conversion and allotment, the post-issue equity shareholding of the Company along with its nominees in BTL has reduced from
99.99% to 0.33%, resulting in BTL ceasing to be a subsidiary of the Company with effect from April 01, 2025. Further, the Company has
transferred its remaining 0.33% equity shareholding in BTL to HSCL pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement executed on April 03, 2025.

b.  Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (“HSCL”) on April 01, 2025 has exercised its option to convert the Optionally Convertible Debentures
issued by Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (“HBTMPL”) into equity shares of ¥10/- each. Pursuant to the said conversion
and allotment, the post-issue equity shareholding of the Company in HBTMPL stood reduced from 99.99% to 51% as on April 01,
2025.Subsequently, the Company has entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement (“SHA”) with HSCL and HBTMPL. Further, on April 15, 2025,
the Board of Directors of the Company approved the transfer of 2% equity stake held by the Company in HBTMPL to Akhyar Estate
Holdings Private Limited, a promoter group entity. Post the said transfer, the Company’s shareholding in HBTMPL stands reduced to 49%,
thereby resulting in HBTMPL ceasing to be a subsidiary of the Company in terms of Section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013.
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40 Financial Risk Management

Financial Risk Factors

The Company's operational activities expose to various financial risks i.e. market risk, credit risk and risk of liquidity. The Company realizes that
risks are inherent and integral aspect of any business. The primary focus is to foresee the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to
minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance. The Company's senior management oversees the management of these risks
and devise appropriate risk management framework for the Company. The senior management provides assurance that the Company'’s financial
risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in
accordance with the Company'’s policies and risk objectives.

A. Credit Risk :

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial
loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables and advances to suppliers) and from its
financing activities, including deposits, investments and other financial instruments.

To manage this, Company periodically assesses the financial reliability of customers, taking into account factors such as credit track record in
the market and past dealings with the Company for extension of credit to customer Company monitors the payment track record of the
customers Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. An impairment analysis is performed at each quarter end on an individual
basis for major customers In addition, a large number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment
collectively. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in note
41. The Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, the trade receivables are located in several
jurisdictions and operate in largely independent markets.

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Upto 6 More than 6| Upto 6 months More than 6

months months months
Gross carrying amount (A) 7.26 2.92 5.32 8.42
Allowance for creditlosses (B) - (0.24) - (0.06)
Net Carrying Amount (A-B) 7.26 2.68 5.32 8.36

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company’s treasury department in accordance with the
Company’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved authorities. Credit limits of all authorities are reviewed by the
management on regular basis. All balances with banks and financial institutions is subject to low credit risk due to good credit ratings assigned
to the Company. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at March 31, 2025 and March 31,
2024 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in note 41.

B. Liquidity Risk :
The Company'’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of debentures, term loan, cash
credit facilities and short term loans.

Table hereunder provides the current ratios of the Company as at the year end:

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Total current assets 197.98 503.28
Total current liabilities 66.58 72.23
Current ratio 2.97 6.97

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contracted undiscounted payments (excluding
transaction cost on borrowings):

Particulars Carrying Payable on Less than1 1to3 3to5 Total
Value demand year Years Years

As at March 31, 2025

Borrowings 674.70 - - 333.33 346.07 679.40
Other financial Liabilities 45.00 - 20.63 - 24.37 45.00
Lease Liabilities 0.67 - 0.33 0.35 0.09 0.77
Trade and other payables 28.66 - 28.66 - - 28.66
Total 749.03 - 49.62 333.68 370.53 753.83
As at March 31, 2024

Borrowings 484.25 - - 133.33 356.07 489.40
Other financial Liabilities 31.81 - 27.08 - 4.73 31.81
Lease Liabilities 0.83 - 0.22 0.61 - 0.83
Trade and other payables 29.46 - 29.46 - - 29.46
Total 546.35 - 56.76 133.94 360.80 551.50
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Market Risk :

Market risk is the risk that the future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market price. The company is
exposed to the risk of movement in intrest rates and foreign currency exchange rates that affects its assets, liabialities and future transcations.
The company is exposed to following key market risks:

Interest Rate Risk :

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s non-current borrowing
obligations in the form of non- convertible debentures and term loan carrying floating interest rates.

. Fixed Rate Variable Rate Total Borrowing
Particulars Borrowing Borrowing
As at March 31, 2025 - 679.40 679.40
As at March 31, 2024 - 489.40 489.40

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the unhedged portion of loans and
borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Company'’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as
follows:

Impact on Statement of Profit & Loss
Particulars For the yearended For the year ended
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Interest rate increase by 1% 6.45 0.91
Interest rate decrease by 1% (6.45) (0.91)

Foreign Currency Risk :

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Company is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash
flows. Exposure arises primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations between the functional currency and other currencies from the Company's
operating, investing and financing activities.

The details of foreign currency exposure is as follows:

i Foreign FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24

Particulars Currency (FC) (in crore) (in crore)

Unhedged Foreign Currency In FC In% In FC In%

Trade Payables UsSb 0.03 2.78 0.02 1.66
Euro 0.02 1.81 0.02 1.83
CNY - - 0.03 0.30

Trade Receivable UsDh 0.01 0.47 - -
Euro - - - -

Rate Sensitivity

Sensitivity analysis is computed based on the changes in the income and expenses in foreign currency upon conversion into functional
currency, due to exchange rate fluctuations between the previous reporting period and the current reporting period.

| /D . Impact on Profit & Loss Account

Particulars ncrease b eqreasg ;n For the year ended For the year ended
asis points March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

USD Sensitivity +1% (0.02) (0.02)
-1% 0.02 0.02

Euro Sensitivity +1% 0.02 0.02
-1% (0.02) (0.02)

CNY Sensitivity +1% - 0.00
-1% - (0.00)

Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Non-current equity investments are held for strategic rather than

trading purposes. The Company does not actively trade these investments.
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4. Fair values - Finacial instrument by catagory

(i) Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are

recognised in the financial statements

Fai I As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Note h?'r va :e Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
lerarchy Amount Value Amount Value
1| Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss:
Non-Current
- Investment in AIF (CLASS G3 - S1) A Level-2 110.59 110.59 - -
Current
- Investment in mutual funds (Unquoted) Level-2 106.84 106.84 145.81 145.81
2 | Financial assets designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income:
Non-Current
- Investment in Equity shares (Quoted) B Level-1 1,952.15 1,952.15 1,802.44 1,802.44
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) Level-3 57.46 57.46 57.28 57.28
- Investments in debt instruments (Unquoted) Level 3 325.00 325.00 266.75 266.75
3 | Financial assets designated at amortised cost: D
Non-Current
a)| Investments in debt instruments Level 3 - - 60.00 60.27
b)| Other financial assets 7.67 7.67 - -
Current
a)| Investments in debt instruments Level 3 - - 70.00 70.25
b)| Trade receivables 9.94 9.94 13.68 13.68
c)| Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.88 1.88 211.89 211.89
d)| Other Bank Balances 8.79 8.79 19.70 19.70
e)| Loans and Advances 0.01 0.01 0.04 0.04
f) | Other financial assets 2.49 2.49 4.00 4.00
4 | Investment in subsidiaries (at cost) Level 2 96.39 96.39 96.39 96.39
C
2,679.21 2,679.21 2,747.97 2,748.49
Financial Liabilities
Fair val As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particulars ?'r value 2025 2024
hierarchy Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value|
1 | Financial liability designated at amortised D
cost:
Non-Current
- Borrowings Leveld 674.70 674.70 484.25 485.91
- Lease liabilities 0.39 0.39 0.61 0.61
- Other financial liability 24.37 24.37 4.73 4.73
Current
- Trade payables 28.66 28.66 29.46 29.46
- Lease liabilities 0.28 0.28 0.22 0.22
- Other financial liability 20.63 20.63 27.08 27.08
749.03 749.03 546.35 548.01

The Company has adopted effective rate of interest for calculating Interest. This has been calculated as the weighted average of effective interest

rates calculated for each loan. In addition processing fees and transaction cost relating to each loan has also been considered for calculating

A.  The Company has opted to fair value its mutual funds and AIF investment through profit & loss.
B.  The Company has opted to fair value its quoted/unquoted investments in equity share/debt instruments through OCI.
C. The Company has opted to value its investments in subsidiaries at cost.
D.
effective interest rate.
100
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(i) Fair Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

The Company maintains procedures to value financial assets or financial liabilities using the best and most relevant data available. The fair
values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

a.  Fair value of trade receivable, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, trade payables, loans & advances, other financial assets
and liabilities are approximate at their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

b.  The fair values of non-current borrowings, lease liabilities and other financial liabilities are approximate at their carrying amount due to
interest bearing features of these instruments.

c. The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

d.  Fair values of quoted financial instruments are derived from quoted market prices in active markets.

e.  The fair value for level 3 instruments is valued using inputs based on information about market participants assumptions and other data
that are available.

f. The fair value of the remaining financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow analysis.

g. Equity Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost.

(iii) Fair value hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation techniques:
Level 1-Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets and are based
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

Level 2 - Inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly
(that is, derived from prices). It includes fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on the Company specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable then instrument is included in level
2.

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
(iv) Description of the inputs used in the fair value measurement:

Following table describes the valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation for level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at March 31, 2025,
March 31, 2024 respectively:

: As at Valuation Inputs e
Particulars March 31, 2025 Technique Used Sensitivity
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) 57.46 Market Approach  Earning before 0.5x increase/(decrease) in
- Comparable Interest, EBITDA Multiple would result
Companies Depreciation and in increase/(decrease) in fair
Multiple (CCM) Tax (EBITDA) to value by ¥ 0.82/% (0.95).
Method Enterprise  Value
(EV)- 19.49 Times 0.1x increase/(decrease) in
Revenue to EV - Revenue Multiple would result
6.39 Times in increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 0.54 /% (0.82).
- Investments in debtinstruments (Unquoted) 325.00 Black Schole Volatility - 35.39% 5% increase/(decrease) in
Option Risk free rate - 7%  volatility would result
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 8.77 /% (9.10).
1% increase/(decrease) in
Risk free rate would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 4.88/% (3.90) .
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v)
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; As at Valuation i
Particulars March 31, 2024 Technique Inputs Used Sensitivity
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) 57.28 DCF Method Growth rate 4.5% 1% increase/(decrease) in
Weighted cost of growth rate would result in
capital (WACC) - increase/(decrease) in
18.50% fair value by ¥ 2.73 /% (2.37).
1% increase/(decrease) in
WACC would result in
(decrease)fincrease in fair
value by % (5.92) /% 1.72.
- Investments in debtinstruments (Unquoted) 266.75 Black Schole Volatility - 35.39% 5% increase/(decrease) in
Option Risk free rate - volatility would result
7.05% increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 7.98/% (8.25) .
1% increase/(decrease) in
Risk free rate would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 5.23/% (5.23) .

Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Particulars For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 324.03 -
Purchase / (Sale) of financial instruments 50.00 325.00
Gain/(Loss) on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss (net) 8.43 (0.97)
Closing balance 382.46 324.03

Description of the valuation processes used by the Company for fair value measurement categorised within level 3:

At each reporting date, the Company analyses the movements in the values of financial assets and liabilities which are required to be
remeasured or reassessed as per the accounting policies. For this analysis, the Company verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation
by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The Company also compares the change in the fair value of each financial asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether
the change is reasonable. The Company also discusses of the major assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of financial assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Capital Management

For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, equity includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity reserves
attributable to the equity shareholders and net debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The primary
objective of the Company’s capital management is to safeguard continuity, maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and provide adequate return to shareholders through continuing growth.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the
financial covenants. The funding requirement is met through a mixture of equity, internal accruals, long term borrowings and short term
borrowings. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial
covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.

. As at Asat
Particulars March 31,2025  March 31,2024
Debt 674.70 484.25
Cash & bank balances 10.67 231.59
Net Debt 664.03 252.66
Total Equity 2,284.29 2,499.90
Net debt to equity ratio (Gearing Ratio) 0.29 0.10
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43. Financial performance ratios
Ratios Numerator Denominator Marcl2103‘21§ Marc’z‘(g"i % change
1| Current ratio Current assets Current liabilities 297 6.97 (57.32)%
2 | Debt equity ratio Total debt= Total Equity = Issued sharecapital + 0.30 0.19 52.48%
[Longterm borrowingsincluding current maturities + Other equity
current borrowings]
3 | Debt Service Coverage Ratio Earnings available for debt service = Profit after tax |Debt service=Finance costs & 0.35 1.65 (78.47)%
- gain on disposal of discontinued operation +finance | Lease Payment + scheduled principal
costs + depreciation and amortisation expense + repayments of long term borrowings
Other Adjustments like loss/(gain) on sale of Fixed (excluding prepayment /re-financing)
Assets etc during the year)
4| Return on equity Net profits after taxes Average total equity 2.77)% 0.20% (1515.07)%
5| Inventory Turnover ratio Revenue from operations Average inventory 1.97 1.33 48.10%
6 | Trade receivablesturnover ratio |Revenue from sale of productsand services (excluding | Average Accounts Receivable - 4.98 0.68 634.21%
subsidies) Average
rebate to customers
7 | Trade payables turnover ratio Net purchases of goods = Purchase of raw materials Average Trade Payables 1.45 0.19 673.69%
included incost of raw materials consumed +
Purchases of stock in trade
8| Net capital turnover ratio Revenue from sale of productsand services (excluding | Working capital = Current assets - 0.45 0.09 373.24%
subsidies) Current liabilities
9 | Net profit ratio Net profit after tax Revenue from operations (112.57)% 12.45% (1004.09)%
10| Return on capital employed Earnings before interest and taxes (includingother Capital Employed = Average total 0.35% (0.12)% 391.90%
income) equity excluding fair value of
investments through OCl+ Average
Total Debt
11| Return on investment Interest income on fixed deposits, bonds + dividend Current investment + Non current (3.88)% (7.93)% 51%
income + profiton sale of investments + fair valuation  |investments + other bank balances
gain of investments carried at FVTPL + fair valuation
gain of investment carried at FVTOCI

Explanations for change in ratio by more than 25%:
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1 Current Ratio: Decreased primarily due to a reduction in current assets, notably in investments and cash & cash equivalents.
2. Debt Equity Ratio: Increased due to additional borrowings during the year.
3. Debt Service Coverage Ratio: Decreased due to an increase in finance cost on account of additional borrowing
4 Return on Equity: Decreased due to a decrease in net profits, primarily driven by higher finance costs during the year resulting

from additional borrowings.

oo

receivables.

Inventory Turnover Ratio: Increased due to increase in revenue during the year.
Trade Receivables Turnover Ratio: Increased due to an increase in revenue and also due to reduction in average trade

7. Trade Payables Turnover Ratio: Increased due to increase in purchase cost and also due to reduction in average trade

payables.

8. Net Capital Ratio: Increased primarily due to increased in revenue and also due to reduction in current assets.
9. Net Profit Ratio: Decreased due to an decrease in net profit during the year majorly because of increase in finance costs during

the year.

Return on Capital Employed: Increased due to increase in EBIT during the year.

11. Return on Investment: Increased primarily due to a rise in the fair value of investments during the year.
12. Al the ratios has been calculated on continuing business.

Disclosure on Bank/Financial institutions compliances

During the year ending March 31, 2025 (previous year : March 31, 2024) the company does not have any borrowing in which statements of
current assets are required to be filed. However, during the year company has availed a working capital facility from banks specifically for the
refractories i.e.” DMC Unit “. Accordingly, in compliance with the terms of the sanctioned facility, the quarterly statement/ revised statement
submitted to the bank are in agreement with books of accounts, which are as follows:

Quarter Particulars of Securities Provided As per Eg:okusn‘t); As per Statement of c:srgee?; Difference
i.e. DMC Unit

December, 2024 Inventories and Trade Receivables 23.02 23.02 -

March, 2025 Inventories and Trade Receivables 15.93 15.93 -

Note: The Company has availed working capital limit for refractory business during the quarter ended December 2024 therefor statement of
current assets was not required to be submitted for June, 2024, September 2024 quarter and for previous year i.e. F.Y. 2023-24.
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45. Other statutory information

i The Company do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding
any Benami property.

ii. There is no balance outstanding as on March 31, 2025 & March 31, 2024 on account of any transaction with companies struck off under
section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956.

iii.  The Company have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

iv.  The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person or entity, including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with
the understanding that the Intermediary shall:
a. directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company
(Ultimate Beneficiaries); or
b. provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

v.  The Company has not received any fund from any person or entity, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding
(whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall :
a. directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party
(Ultimate Beneficiaries); or
b. provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

vi.  The Company has not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as
income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions
of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

vii. The Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender (as defined under the Companies
Act, 2013) or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank of India.

vii. The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with Companies
(Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017.

46. Pursuant to the demerger of the tyre undertaking of Birla Tyres Limited into the Company, as approved by the Hon’ble National Company Law
Tribunal (NCLT) vide order dated October 19, 2023, certain immovable properties were vested in the Company. However, the title deeds for
these properties continue to remain in the names of the erstwhile entities—Kesoram Industries Limited and Birla Tyres Limited—as the No Dues
Certificates (NDCs) from certain banks are still awaited. Upon receipt of all requisite NDCs, the transfer of title deeds in the name of the
Company will be effected. Subsequently, a charge will be created in favor of M/s Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (HSCL) in respect of
Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) issued by the Company.

47. The Board of Directors of the Company on February 02, 2024, have approved the Scheme of Amalgamation (“Scheme”) between Dalmia
Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited (“Demerged Company”) and the Company and their respective shareholders under Sections 230 to 232
and all other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for transfer and vesting of Demerged Undertaking 1 or “DMC Unit” i.e. the
refractory business of Demerged Company which is engaged in the business of manufacturing of refractories and Demerged Undertaking 2
or “GT Unit” i.e. the tours and travel service business of Demerged Company into the Company on a going concern basis. In consideration of
it, the Company shall issue and allot New Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10/- each, to the equity shareholders holding fully paid up equity
shares of the Demerged Company in the proportion defined in the Scheme. The appointed date of the said Scheme is July 01, 2023. Pursuant
to a "no objection” letter from the Metropolitan Stock Exchange under Regulation 37 of the SEBI LODR, the Scheme was subsequently filed with
NCLT. Further, in terms of the Order dated December 20, 2024, passed by the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench, the Company
has held its Shareholders and Creditors Meeting on February 09, 2025 to seek their respective approvals to the aforementioned Scheme and
both the Shareholders and Creditors of the Company have approved the Scheme with requisite majority. Now, the Scheme is pending before
NCLT, Chennai for its approval. Pending necessary regulatory approvals and other compliances, no accounting effects have been included in
the financial statements.

48. The figures for the previous year have been rearranged & regrouped wherever necessary.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W100355

Deepak Thombre Dr. C N Maheshwari
Chairman Whole time director and CEO
DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680
Place : Pune Place : New Delhi

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No.: 109859 Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma

Place : Mumbai Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Date : May 14, 2025 Place : New Delhi Place : New Delhi

104 Annual Report 2024-2025



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
YLV NS

22222222222222222222



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF
DALMIA BHARAT REFRACTORIES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the ‘Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding
Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”),
which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March,
2025, and the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flows Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policies (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated
financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to
the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of their
consolidated state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2025,
of consolidated profit / (loss) and other comprehensive income,
consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows for
the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Companies
Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st March 2025. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. We have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to
be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter

How Our audit addresses the Key Audit Matter

Accounting of Investments by Holding Company

Financial Instrument by Category”)

(Refer Note 3.14 and 3.15 — “Material Accounting Policy” of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements, Refer Note 2.4 (c) and
(e) — “Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgement” of Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments and Impairment of Financial and
non-financial Assets”, Refer note 5.1 — Non-Current Investment and note 10.1 Current Investments”, Refer note 44 — “Fair Values -

The Holding Company has carrying values of non-current and
current investments aggregating to Rs. 2646.76 crore in equity
shares in other companies, debentures, alternative investments
funds, liquid mutual funds, short term funds, as at 31 March
2025. These investments are measured either at amortised cost,
fair value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’) or Fair Value through
Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI’) based on fulfilment of
required criteria. These investments constitute 79.81 % of the
Group’s total assets, hence, we considered it to be Key Audit
Matter.

In view of the significance of the matter, we applied the following
audit procedures in this area, among others to obtain sufficient
audit evidence

e Performed inquiry procedures with the key managerial
persons of the Holding Company for investments made.

e Obtained and read the minutes of meeting of board of
directors, audit committee, investment committee and
shareholders for investments.

e Performed test of controls on a sample basis on the
operating effectiveness of internal controls on
investments.

e (Obtained the demat statement / physical certificates and
verified that the title of investments is in the name of
Holding Company.

e FEvaluating whether the initial and subsequent
recognition, measurement, classification and disclosure
of investments are in accordance with applicable Indian
Accounting Standard.

e \erified the fair valuation of quoted investments at active
market price and obtained independent valuer’s report
engaged by the management for unquoted investments.

* Assessing whether the accounting entries recorded in the
books is in line with the accounting treatment assessed
above, including the arithmetical accuracy of the same.

e Obtained management representations on the judgments
exercised.

e Review of disclosures provided in the consolidated
financial statements in this regard.
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Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s
Report Thereon

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. Other information so far as it relates to the
subsidiaries not audited by us, is traced from their financial
statements audited by the other auditors.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the
preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013
that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position,
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows of
the Group in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified
under section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of
the companies included in the Group are responsible for
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies;
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for
ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used
for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective
Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are
responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the
Group are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting
process of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain Professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

® |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

® Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances Under section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act,
2013, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on
whether the company has adequate internal financial controls
with reference to consolidated financial statements in place and
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

® Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

® FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group of which we are the independent auditors and whose
financial information we have audited, to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors.
For the other entities included in the consolidated financial
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such
other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the
Holding Company of which we are the independent auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31st March 2025 and are therefore the key audit
matter. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
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not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

We did not audit the financial statements / financial information of 4
subsidiaries, whose financial statements / financial information
reflect total assets of Rs. 406.59 Crore as at 31st March, 2025, total
revenues of Rs. 132.82 Crore and net cash inflow/(outflows)
amounting to Rs. 69.85 Crore for the year ended on that date, as
considered in the consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements / financial information have been audited by other
auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the
Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures
included in respect of these subsidiaries, and our report in terms of
sub-sections (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the
aforesaid subsidiaries are based solely on the reports of the other
auditors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report
on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified
in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the
work done and the reports of the other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent
applicable, that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid
consolidated financial statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law
relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements have been kept so far as it appears from our
examination of those books and the reports of the other
auditors.

c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated
Statement of Profit and Loss, and the Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement
with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the
directors of the Holding Company as on 31st March, 2025
taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding
Company and the reports of the statutory auditors of its
subsidiary companies, incorporated in India, none of the
directors of the Group companies, is disqualified as on 31st
March, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of
Section 164 (2) of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls
with reference to the consolidated financial statements and
the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our
separate Report in Annexure A, which is based on the
auditor’s reports of the holding company, subsidiaries
companies incorporated in India to whom internal financial
controls with reference to the financial statements is
applicable.

-

In our opinion and based on the explanation given to us and
based on the other auditor’s reports of its subsidiary
companies which are incorporated in India, the managerial
remuneration has been paid / provided by the Holding
Company and subsidiary company is in accordance with
provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act. In
case of one subsidiary, the provision of section 197 read with
Schedule V to the Act was applicable however, the company
has not paid/provided the managerial remuneration to its
directors.

g
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h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the

Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our opinion
and to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us and representation given to us :

i) The consolidated financial statements disclose the
impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial
position of the Group — Refer note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

i) The Group did not have any material foreseeable losses
on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.

i) There has been no delay in transferring amounts,
required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Holding Company during the year
ended 31st March 2025 and in case of subsidiary
incorporated in India there were no amounts which were
required to be transferred to the investor education and
protection fund during the year ended 31st March 2025.

iv) a) The respective Managements of the Holding
Company and its subsidiaries which are companies
incorporated in India whose financial statements have
been audited under the Act have represented to us
and the other auditors of such subsidiaries
respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned
or invested (either from borrowed funds or share
premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries to or in
any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign
entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the
Intermediary shall, directly or indirectly lend or invest
in other persons or entities identified in any manner
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company or any of
such subsidiaries (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide
any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries.

b) The respective Managements of the Holding
Company and its subsidiaries which are companies
incorporated in India whose financial statements have
been audited under the Act have represented to us
and the other auditors of such subsidiaries
respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no funds have been received by the
Company or any of such subsidiaries from any
person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding
Company or any of such subsidiaries shall, directly or
indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide
any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries.

c) Based on audit procedure performed by us that are
considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come to our attention that
cause us to believe that the representation given by
the management under paragraph (1) (h) (iv) (a) & (b)
contain any material misstatement.

v) The final dividend paid by the holding Company during
the year which was declared for the previous year is in
accordance with section 123 of the Companies Act 2013
to the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

As stated in note no 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Board of Directors of the Holding
Company have proposed final dividend for the year which
is subject to the approval of the members at the ensuing
Annual General Meeting. The dividend declared is in
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Vi)

accordance with section 123 of the Act to the extent it
applies to declaration of dividend. No dividend is
declared or paid during the year by the subsidiaries
companies incorporated in India.

Based on our examination, which included test checks
and based on the other auditor’s reports of its subsidiary
companies which are incorporated in india, the holding
company and subsidiary companies has used an
accounting softwares, for maintaining its books of
account, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit
log) facility and the same has operated throughout the
year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
softwares.

Further, during the course of our audit, we and respective
other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us
by the management of the holding company have not
come across any instance of audit trail feature being
tampered with in respect of the accounting software for
the period for which the audit trail feature was operating.

Additionally, the audit trail has been preserved by the
company as per the statutory requirements for record
retention, except In case of one subsidiary, the audit trail
has been preserved by the Company from January 7,
2024, the date from which the subsidiary Company
started using new software with an audit trail feature, as
per the statutory requirements for record retention.

2 With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 3(xxi) and 4
of the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”)
issued by the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of
the Act, to be included in the Auditor’s report, according to the
information and explanations given to us, and based on the
CARO reports issued by the auditors of the subsidiaries included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company,
to which reporting under CARO is applicable, provided to us by
the Management of the Holding Company and based on the
identification of matters of qualifications or adverse remarks in
their CARO reports by the respective component auditors and
provided to us, we report that there following qualification or
adverse remarks by the respective auditors in the CARO report of
the said companies included in the consolidated financial
statements:-

Sr. No.

Name CIN

Clause number of the
CARO report which is
qualified or adverse

Holding
Company/subsidiary

Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

L26100TN2006PLC061254

Holding vii(a)

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registration No. 101720W/W100355

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No. 109859
UDIN : 25109859BMMJPW8488

Place: Mumbai
Date: 14th May, 2025
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ANNEXURE A”’TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 1 (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)
Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid consolidated financial statements
under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31st
March, 2025, we have audited the internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements of Dalmia Bharat
Refractories Limited (“hereinafter referred to as the Holding
Company”) and its subsidiaries incorporated in India, as of that
date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its
subsidiaries, which are company incorporated in India, are
responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal control with reference to consolidated
financial statements criteria established by the respective
companies considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAl). These responsibilities include the
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to
the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets,
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation
of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies
Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of the
Holding company, its subsidiaries, which are company,
incorporated in India, based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on
Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act,
2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial
controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements was established and maintained and if such controls
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system with
reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference
to consolidated financial statements included obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit
evidence obtained by the other auditor of the subsidiary company,
which is company incorporated in India, in terms of their reports
referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal
financial controls system with reference to consolidated financial
statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiary company, which
is a company incorporated in India.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements
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A company’s internal financial control with reference to
consolidated financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal financial control with reference to consolidated
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detalil,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference
to consolidated financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal
financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the
reports of the other auditors referred to in the Other Matters
paragraph below, the Holding and its subsidiaries which are
company incorporated in India, have, in all material respects, an
adequate internal financial controls system with reference to
consolidated financial statements and such internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements were operating
effectively as at 31st March, 2025, based on the criteria for internal
financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements
established by the Group considering the essential components of
internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the
adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements in so far
as it relates to two subsidiaries companies, which are companies
incorporated in India, is based solely on the corresponding report of
the auditors of such companies incorporated in India. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of the above matter.

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registration No. 101720W/W100355

Vijay Napawaliya

Partner

Membership No. 109859

UDIN : 25109859BMMJPW8488

Place: Mumbai
Date: 14th May, 2025
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Da

Imia Bharat Refractories Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31,2025

(% in crore)
Particulars Note As at As at
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
ASSETS
Non - current assets
(a) Property, plant and equipment 4 271.19 285.61
(b) Right of use assets 4 13.32 13.58
(c) Investment property 4 0.21 0.21
(d) Capital work - in - progress de 152.24 90.20
(e) Other intangible assets 4 0.11 -
(f) Goodwill 0.02 0.02
(g) Financial assets
(i) Investments 5.1 2,538.03 2,293.40
(iiy Other financial assets 5.2 7.68 3.62
(h) Non-current tax assets (net) 7 7.94 29.99
() Other non-current assets 8 14.17 2.72
Total non-current assets 3,004.91 2,719.35
Current assets
(a) Inventories 9 38.97 28.86
(b) Financial assets
(i) Investments 10.1 108.73 218.59
(ii)y Trade receivables 10.2 19.11 23.53
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 10.3 91.62 231.79
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above 10.4 8.92 19.70
(v) Loans and Advances 10.5 0.01 0.04
(vi) Other financial assets 10.6 5.74 3.05
(c) Other current assets " 38.36 33.95
Total current assets 311.46 559.51
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,316.37 3,278.86
Equity
(a) Equity share capital 12.1 44.20 44.20
(b) Other equity 12.2 2,377.62 2,5661.75
(c) Non controlling interests 5.24 5.78
Total equity 2,427.06 2,611.73
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 13.1 767.28 576.83
(i) Lease liabilities 13.2 0.39 0.61
(iii) Other financial liabilities 13.3 32.13 4.73
(b) Provisions 14 9.77 9.56
(c) Deferred tax liabilities (net) 6 2.59 -
Total non-current liabilities 812.16 591.73
Current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Lease liabilities 13.2 0.28 0.22
(ii)y Trade payables
(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 15.1 0.95 0.16
(b) Total outstanding dues of other than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  15.1 36.41 31.15
(iii) Other financial liabilities 15.2 21.07 27.56
(b) Other current liabilities 16 8.30 6.11
(c) Provisions 17 10.14 10.20
Total current liabilities 7715 75.40
Total equity & liabilities 3,316.37 3,278.86
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants Deepak Thombre Dr. C N Maheshwari
Firm Regn. No.- 101720W/W100355 Chairman Whole time director and CEO
DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680
Place : Pune Place : New Delhi
Vijay Napawaliya
Partner
Membership No.: 109859 Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma
Place : Mumbai Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: May 14, 2025 Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025

(R in crore)
Particulars Note For the year ended For the year ended
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Continuing operation
Income
I Revenue from operations 18 106.29 115.96
Il Other income 19 93.08 63.08
Il Total income (I + II) 199.37 179.04
IV Expenses
Cost of raw materials consumed 20 46.21 46.26
Purchase of stock-in-trade 21 16.90 16.79
Changes in inventories of finished goods, stock in trade and work- in-progress 22 0.98 6.79
Employee benefits expense 23 18.22 18.61
Finance costs 24 84.31 13.85
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense 25 26.07 24.25
Other expenses 26 44.00 54.92
Total expenses 236.69 181.47
V  Loss for the year before tax from continuing operations (llI-1V) (37.32) (2.43)
VI Exceptional ltems 27 - 12.09
VIl Profit / (Loss) before tax from continuing operations (37.32) 9.66
VIl Tax expense/(benefit) 28
(1) Current tax - -
(2) Deferred tax (0.61) 6.22
(8) Tax adjustments for earlier years - 2.64
Total tax expense of continuing operations (0.61) 8.86
IX Net Profit/(Loss) for the year after tax from continuing operations (VII - VIIl) (36.71) 0.80
Discontinued operation 31
Profit before tax from discontinued operation 0.08 61.88
Tax expense on discontinued operation 0.02 15.59
Net Profit for the year from discontinued operation 0.06 46.29
X  Profit/(Loss) for the year (36.65) 47.09
Xl Other comprehensive income (OCI) {including discontinued operation}
Iltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 29
Net loss on equity instruments through OCI (150.75) (230.25)
Income tax effect on above - 3.00
Re-measurement of defined benefit plans (0.37) (0.10)
Income tax effect on above 0.09 0.03
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or (151.03) (227.32)
loss in subsequent periods
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Net (loss)/gain on debt instruments through OCI 8.25 (8.25)
Income tax effect on above - -
Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations 4.74 (1.50)
Income tax effect on above - -
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss 12.99 (9.75)
in subsequent periods
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (138.04) (237.07)
Xl Total comprehensive income for the year (X + XI) (174.69) (189.98)
Net profit/ (loss) Attributable to (Continuing and Discontinued Operation)
(a) Owners of the Company (36.11) 4713
(b) Non controlling interest (0.54) (0.04)
Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to (Continuing and Discontinued Operation)
(a) Owners of the Company (138.04) (236.86)
(b) Non controlling interest (0.21)
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to (Continuing and Discontinued Operation)
(a) Owners of the Company (174.15) (189.73)
(b) Non controlling interest (0.54) (0.25)
Xlll Earning/(Loss) per equity share (Face value of Rs. 10 each) 30
(1) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Continuing operations (8.18) 0.19
(2) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Discontinued operation 0.01 10.47
(3) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (%) - Continuing and discontinued operations (8.17) 10.66
accompanying n he financial men
See accompanying notes to the financial statements For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
As per our report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP Deepak Thombre Dr. C N Maheshwari
Chartered Accountants Chairman Whole time director and CEO
Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W100355 DIN: 02421599 DIN: 00125680
Place : Pune Place : New Delhi
Vijay Napawaliya
Partner
Membership No.: 109859 Rahul Sahni Soumya Sharma
Place : Mumbai Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: May 14, 2025 Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited

Co

nsolidated Cash Flow for the year ended March 31,2025

Particulars

A. Cash flow from operating activities :
Profit/ (loss) before tax from ordinary activities before exceptional items

-Continuing operations
-Discontinued operations

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation and before exceptional items
Exceptional items

(Loss)/Profit before taxation

Adjustments for :

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense
Provision no longer required written back

Bad debts Recovery

Gain on sale of subsidiary

Provision for warranty

Finance cost

Interest income

Dividend income

Profit on termination of lease

Gain on investments carried at fair value through statement of profit and loss
Profit on Sale of current investments

(Profit) / loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

Operating loss before working capital changes

Adjustments for working capital
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories

Decrease in trade receivables

Decrease in loans

(Increase)/Decrease in other financial assets
Increase in other assets

Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables
Increase/(Decrease) in other financial liabilities
Decrease in provisions

Decrease in other liabilities

Cash used in operations
Income taxes (paid)/refund

Net cash flow used in operating activities

B. Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, equipment, intangible assets and capital work - in - progress
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Dividend income
Investment in subsidiary
Purchase of non current investments
Purchase of current investments
Proceeds from sale of non current investments
Proceeds from sale of current investments
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds
Purchase of mutual funds
Proceed from sale of Investment in Shares of Subsidiary
Other bank balances
Proceeds on slump sale of business

(% in crore)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(37.32) (2.43)
0.08 61.88
(37.24) 59.45

- 12.09

(37.24) 71.54
26.13 24.31
(0.43) (71.95)
(4.76) -

- (12.09)

0.43 0.80
84.33 14.02
(34.68) (27.88)
(9.63) (7.38)
(0.01) (0.02)
(11.52) (2.48)
(29.70) (14.89)
(1.06) 0.15
(18.14) (25.87)
(10.11) 13.51
9.18 93.59
0.03 0.49
(2.28) 21.82
(15.86) (16.58)
6.05 (112.08)
5.61 (277.38)
(0.22) (5.16)
(4.76) (8.75)
(12.36) (290.54)
25.32 (6.14)
(5.18) (322.55)
(76.13) (5.84)
3.62 0.02
33.94 27.52
9.63 7.38

- (0.01)
(543.64) (692.52)
(18.00) (70.00)
179.38 -
88.00 -
634.65 821.93
(575.05) (528.09)
- 114.28

(2.54) 58.99

- 90.80
(266.14) (175.54)

Net cash flow used in investing activities
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31,2025

(% in crore)

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

C. Cash flows from financing activities

Dividend paid

Proceeds of non-current borrowings (net of transaction costs)

Repayment of non-current borrowings

Repayment of lease liability
Interest paid

Net cash flow generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Components of cash and cash equivalents

(6.63) (6.56)
190.45 725.79
- (113.00)

(0.18) 0.77)
(52.49) (3.79)
131.15 601.67
(140.17) 103.58
231.79 128.21
91.62 231.79

For the year end
March 31, 2025

For the year end
March 31, 2024

Cash in hand 0.05 0.05
Balances with banks

in current accounts 5.86 29.10
Deposits with maturity of less than three months 85.71 202.64
Cash and cash equivalents 91.62 231.79
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Particulars As at April 01,2024 Cash flows Non cash As at March 31, 2025
Borrowings - Non current (Refer note 13.1) 576.83 190.45 - 767.28
Particulars As at April 01,2023 Cash flows Non cash As at March 31, 2024
Borrowings - Non current (Refer note 13.1) 58.85 612.79 (94.81) 576.83
Borrowings - Current 30.54 - (30.54) -

As per our report of even date attached

For Chaturvedi & Shah LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No.: 101720W/W 100355

Vijay Napawaliya
Partner

Membership No.: 109859
Place : Mumbai

Date: May 14, 2025

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Deepak Thombre
Chairman

DIN: 02421599
Place : Pune

Rahul Sahni
Chief Financial Officer
Place: New Delhi

Dr. C N Maheshwari

Whole time director and CEO
DIN: 00125680

Place : New Delhi

Soumya Sharma
Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian  in crore)

1 Corporate information

Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited (‘'DBRL' or 'the Parent Company') is a public listed company incorporated in India. The registered
office of the Group is located at Dalmiapuram, P.O. Kallakudi - 621651, Dist. Tiruchirapalli, Tamil Nadu. The Parent Company is listed
on Metropolitan Stock Exchange of India Limited ("MSE") and The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited ("CSE"). The Group is engaged
in the business of refractories and tyres. The Parent Company has effective from October 1, 2023 taken over Dalmia Magnesite
Corporation ("DMC Unit") a refractory unit of Dalmia Bharat Suger and Industries Limited under leave and license agreement.
Continuing Operations in the Group includes the operations under this agreement and manufacturing & trading of refractory products
"Refratories" & "Tyres".

The consolidated financial statements comprise financial statements of Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited ("the parent company")
and its subsidiaries namely, OCL Global Limited, OCL China Limited, Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (formerly known
as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) and Birla Tyres Limited(collectively, "the Group") as at March 31, 2025. The group also
comprised of subsidiary namely Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH (Il April 27, 2023) along with above subsidiaries as at March 31,
2024.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025 were approved and adopted by
board of directors of the Parent Company in their meeting held on May 14, 2025.

2 Basis of preparation, critical accounting estimates and judgement

The financial statements have been prepared on the following basis:

21 Compliance with Ind AS
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared to Comply with Indian accounting Standards ("Ind AS") including the
Rules notified under the relevant provision of the Companies Act, 2013, (as amended from time to time) and presentation and
disclosure requirements of Division Il of Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013 (Ind AS compliant Schedule Ill) as amended from
time to time.
The Group follows indirect method prescribed in Ind AS - 7 "Statement of Cash Flow" for presentation of its cash flows.

Historical cost convention:

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the certain financial assets and
liabilities, and Defined Benefit Plan — Plan Assets which have been measured at fair value.

Assets acquired and liability assumed in business combination are fair valued at appointed date & accounted accordingly.

2.2 Basis of preparation

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Functional and presentation currency:

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupees (%), functional currency of the Group. All amounts have been
rounded off to two decimal places to the nearest crores, unless otherwise stated. Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates are
presented in ¥ which is also the Parent Company functional currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest crores, unless otherwise
stated. The functional currency for all the entities in the Group is Indian ¥ except following subsidiaries:-

a) Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH - EURO
b) OCL China Limited - RMB
c) OCL Global Limited - USD

Current vis-a-vis non-current classification:

The Group presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification, consisting an
operating cycle of 12 months being the time elapsed between deployment of Resources and Realization in cash and cash
equivalents there against.

2.3 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 March
2025. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising
from other contractual arrangements, the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights and the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of the holdings of the other voting rights holders.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired during the
year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group obtains control and assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of a subsidiary disposed off during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements till the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian  in crore)

2.4

117

Consolidation procedure:

Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its subsidiaries. For this
purpose, income and expenses of the subsidiaries are based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at the acquisition date.

Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent's investment in each subsidiary and the Parent's portion of equity of each
subsidiary. The difference between the cost of investment in the subsidiaries and the Parent's share of net assets at the time of
acquisition of control in the subsidiaries is recognised in the consolidated financial statement as goodwill. However, resultant gain
(bargain purchase) is recognized in other comprehensive income on the acquisition date and accumulated to capital reserve in

equity.

Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra Group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances. If an entity of the Group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the consolidated financial statements
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that Group member’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Consolidated financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to same reporting date as that of
the parent company, i.e., year ended on 31st March. When the end of the reporting period of the parent is different from that of a
subsidiary, if any, the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial information as of the same date as the
consolidated financial statements of the parent to enable the parent to consolidate the financial information of the subsidiary, unless
it is impracticable to do so.

For the acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries, where there is no change in the control, the Group recognises a reduction to
the noncontrolling interest of the respective subsidiary with the difference between this figure and the cash paid, inclusive of
transaction fees, being recognised in equity. In addition, upon dilution of controlling interests, the difference between the cash
received from sale or listing of the subsidiary shares and the increase to non-controlling interest is also recognised in equity. If the
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and
other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss. Any investment
retained is recognised at fair value. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements:

The presentation of financial statements under Ind AS requires management to take decisions and make estimates and assumptions
that may impact the value of revenues, costs, assets and liabilities and the related disclosures concerning the items involved as well
as contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The useful life and residual value of plant, property equipment and intangible assets are determined based on technical evaluation
made by the management of the expected usage of the asset, the physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence
of the asset. Due to the judgements involved in such estimations, the useful life and residual value are sensitive to the actual usage
in future period.

Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations

The cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of such obligation are determined
using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the
future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and attrition rate. Due to the
complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on the quoted
market price in active markets, their fair value is measures using valuation technique. The input to these models are taken from the
observable market where possible, but this is not feasible, a review of judgment is required in establishing fair values. Changes in
assumption relating to these assumption could affect the fair value of financial instrument.

Provisions

Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting
from past operations or events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition and quantification
of the liability require the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change. Since the
cash outflows can take place many years in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities are reviewed regularly and
adjusted to take account of changing facts and circumstances.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian  in crore)

e. Impairment of Financial and Non-Financial Assets

The impairment provision for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected losses. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. The Group assesses at each
reporting date whether there is an indication that a Nonfinancial asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount which is higher of an asset’s or CGU'’s
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

f. Recoverability of trade receivables:

Judgements are required in assessing the recoverability of overdue trade receivables and determining whether a provision against
those receivables is required. Factors considered include the credit rating of the counterparty, the amount and timing of anticipated
future payments and any possible actions that can be taken to mitigate the risk of non-payment.

g. Income Tax:

The Group reviews at each Balance sheet date the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The factors used in estimates may differ
from actual outcome which could lead to an adjustment to the amounts reported in Financial Statements. Deferred tax asset are
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or tax credits
can be utilized. This involves assessment of when those assets are likely to reverse and a judgement as to whether or not there will
be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the asset. This requires assumptions regarding future profitability, which is inherently
uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding future profitability change, there can be an increase or decrease in the amounts
recognized in respect of deferred tax assets and consequential impact in the statement of profit and loss.

h. Contingencies:

Management has estimated the possible outflow of resources at the end of each annual reporting financial year, if any, in respect of
contingencies/claim/litigations against the Group as it is not possible to predict the outcome of pending matters with accuracy.

i.  Fair value business combinations:

On acquistion date May 05, 2022, the Group fair valued the asset acquired and liabilites assumed as part of business combination;
valuation by registered valuer to comply with the provision of arrangement under section 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 and
to comply with the reporting requirements of Ind AS as per section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 to incorporate effect of scheme of
demerger and arrangement approved by NCLT.

j.  Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those items that management considers, by virtue of their size or incidence, should be disclosed separately to
ensure that the financial information allows an understanding of the underlying performance of the business in the year, so as to
facilitate comparison with prior periods. Such items are material by nature or amount to the year’s result and / or require separate
disclosure in accordance with Ind AS. The determination as to which items should be disclosed separately requires a degree of
judgement.

2.5 Recent accounting pronouncements - Standard issued but not yet effective

Recent accounting pronouncements - Standards issued but not yet effective, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has notified the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2025. This notification has resulted into amendments in the existing
accounting standard i.e. Ind AS 21 — The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, which is applicable from April 1, 2025
onwards. This amendment does not have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

3 Material Accounting Policies

3.1 Business combinations, goodwill and capital reserve

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of
the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree.
For each business combination,Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair values,
except certain assets and liabilities required to be measured as per the applicable standard. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed
include contingent liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the
fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised
for noncontrolling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair
value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the
amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as
capital reserve, without routing the same through other comprehensive income.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian  in crore)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit and loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

3.2 Property, plant and equipment

All items of Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost net of tax/ duty credit availed which includes capitalised
borrowing cost, less depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. The
present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if
the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Expenditure incurred on assets which are not ready for their intended use comprising direct cost, related incidental expenses and
attributable borrowing cost are disclosed under Capital Work-in-Progress.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (PPE) is provided over the useful life of assets on straight line basis specified in
schedule Il to the Act. The useful life of Asset which are different from those prescribed under Schedule Il are based on the technical
advice as under. PPE which are added / disposed off during the year, deprecation is provided pro-rata basis with reference to the
month of addition / deletion. leasehold land is amortised over the period of lease.

Estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed annually, taking into account commercial and
technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear.

The useful life of asset acquired as a part of business acquisition which are different from those prescribed under Schedule Il to the
Companies Act, 2013, are as follows:-

Assets Useful life

Buildings 3-20 Years

Plant and Machinery 110 14 Years
3.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets that the Group controls and from which it expects future economic benefits are capitalised upon acquisition and
measured initially:

a. For assets acquired in a business combination i.e. brand and mining rights; at fair value on the date of acquisition

b. For separately acquired assets, at cost comprising the purchase price and directly attributable costs to prepare the asset for its
intended use. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Intangible assets that have finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives by the straight line method unless it is
practical to reliably determine the pattern of benefits arising from the asset. Computer softwares are capitalised at the amounts
paid to acquire the respective license for use and are amortised over the period of useful lives or period of three years, whichever
is less. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized.

Assets Useful life
Mining rights 10 Years
Brand 18 Years

All intangible assets are tested for impairment. Amortization expenses and impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses are
taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss. Thus, after initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less
accumulated amortization and / or impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine, if a reset of such useful life is required for assets with finite
lives and to confirm that business circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for assets so classified.
Based on such review, the useful life may change or the useful life assessment may change from indefinite to finite. The impact of
such changes is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3.4 Impairment of non-financial assets:

Assets which are subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

3.5 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. However, trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are recognised at their transaction
price, less provision for impairment.

3.6 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs specifically relating to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets that necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized (net of income on temporarily deployment of funds) as part of the cost of such
assets. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. For
general borrowing used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is
determined by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during a period does not
exceed the amount of borrowing cost incurred during that period. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
occur.

3.7 Employee benefits

Expenses and liabilities in respect of employee benefits are recorded in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS)-19 -
‘Employee Benefits’.

a. Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits in respect of salaries and wages, including non-monetary benefits are recognised as an expense at the
undiscounted amount in the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year in which the related service is rendered.

b. Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund , pension scheme and superannuation scheme and ESI are a defined contribution
plan and the contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of profit and loss of the year when the contributions to the
respective funds are due. There are no other obligations other than the contribution payable to the provident fund.

c. Defined benefit plan

The Group’s liabilities on account of gratuity, earned leaves and post retirement medical benefits on retirement of employees are
determined at the end of each financial year on the basis of actuarial valuation certificates obtained from registered actuary in
accordance with the measurement procedure as per Indian Accounting Standard (INDAS)-19- ‘Employee Benefits’. Gratuity liability
is funded through Gratuity Fund Trust with an insurance company in the form of a qualifying insurance policy to the extent of gratuity
liability pertaining to employees of Birla Tyres Limited, which was acquired by the Parent Company through scheme of demerger
(refer note 32), balance liability of the Group is unfunded. The costs of providing benefits under these plans are also determined on
the basis of actuarial valuation at each year end. Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are recognized through other
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Accumulated leaves, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee benefit. The Group
measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement
that has accumulated at the reporting date. The Group treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve
months, as long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long term compensated absences are provided for based
on actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation is done as per projected unit credit method at the year-end.

3.8 Inventories

Inventories are valued at lower of historical cost or net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises of cost of purchase, cost of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing them to their respective present location and condition. Materials and other supplies
held for use in the production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated
are expected to be sold at or above cost. However, when there has been a decline in the price of materials and it is estimated that
the cost of the finished products will exceed net realizable value, the materials are written down to net realizable value. In such
circumstances, the replacement cost of the material may be the best available measure of their net realizable value.

Historical cost is determined on the basis of real time weighted average method.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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3.9 Revenue recognition and other income:
Group derives revenues primarily from sale of manufactured goods, traded goods and related services.

Revenue towards satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured at the amount of transaction price (net of variable
consideration) allocated to that performance obligation. The transaction price of goods sold and services rendered is net of variable
consideration on account of discounts.

Revenue is recognised on satisfaction of performance obligation upon transfer of control of promised products or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for those products or services.

Revenue is measured based on transaction price which is fair value of the consideration received or receivable, after deduction of
any discounts, sales incentives / schemes and any taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government such as goods and services
tax, etc. Accumulated experience is used to estimate the provision for such discounts and sales incentives / schemes. Revenue is
only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable a significant reversal will not occur.

Sale of goods:

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, which is
generally on dispatch/ delivery of the goods. The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated.

Sale of services:

Revenues from sale of services are recognized as per the term of contract with customers based on stage of completion when the
outcome of the transactions involving rendering of services can be estimated reliably. Percentage-of-completion method requires the
Group to estimate the services performed to date as a proportion of the total services to be performed.

Other income:

Incentives on exports and other Government incentives related to operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss after due
consideration of certainty of utilization/receipt of such incentives.

The quantum of accruals in respect of claims receivable such as from Railways, Insurance, Electricity, Customs Excise and the like
are accounted for on receipt basis.

Interest income:

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income:

Dividend Income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

Contract balances:

Contract assets:

Contract assets are recognized when there is excess of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract assets are classified as
unbilled receivables (only act of invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is
required, as per contractual terms.

Contract liabilities:

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to
the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

3.10 Foreign currency transactions

Initial recognition
Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency, using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction.

Conversion:

Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which
are measured in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value or other similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency, are
translated using the exchange rate at the date when such value was determined.

Exchange differences:

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in other
comprehensive income (OCI) or profit or loss are also recognized in OCI or profit or loss, respectively). Foreign exchange differences
regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the statement of profit and loss, within finance costs. All other finance
gains / losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis.
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3.1 Taxes

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

Current income-tax:

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Income-Tax Act, 1961
enacted in India. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the
reporting date.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of profit and loss.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax:

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet approach on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purpose at reporting date. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized as income or expense in the period
that includes the enactment or the substantive enactment date. A deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits
will allow deferred tax assets to be recovered. The Group offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities, where it has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and where it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

3.12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable
that the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settled the obligation in respect of which reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
expense relating to provision presented in the statement of profit & loss is net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are disclosed using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate,
the risk specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as
finance cost.

Mines reclamation liability

The Group records a provision for mines reclamation cost until the closure of mine. Mines reclamation costs are provided at the
present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash fows, with a corresponding amount being capitalised at
the start of each project. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that refects the risks specific to the mine reclamation
liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a finance cost.
The estimated future costs of mine reclamation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future
costs or in the discount rate applied are capitalised in property, plant and equipment and are depreciated over the estimated
commercial life of the related asset based on the unit of production method.

Contingent liability:
Contingent liability is disclosed in the notes in case of:

a) There is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

b) A present obligation arising from past event, when it is not probable that as outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation.

c) A present obligation arises from the past event, when no reliable estimate is possible.

d) A present obligation arises from the past event, unless the probability of outflow are remote.

Contingent assets:
A contingent asset is disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
3.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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3.14 Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instruments of
another entity.

Investment and other Financial Assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

e Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through Other Comprehensive Income or through profit or loss) and
e Those measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in the statement of profit and loss or Other Comprehensive
Income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments in subsidiaries, the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at cost.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of profit and loss.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost:

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost is recognised
in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method.

Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI): Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/ (losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.

Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the Statement of
profit and loss in the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value either through FVTPL or FVOCI. Dividends from such
investments are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets:
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables only, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109, ‘Financial Instruments’, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised only when:

e The Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or

¢ Retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash
flows to one or

Where the entity has transferred an asset, the Group evaluates whether it has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset. In such cases, the financial asset is derecognised. Where the entity has not transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is not derecognised. Where the entity has neither
transferred a financial asset nor retains substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is
derecognised if the Group has not retained control of the financial asset. Where the Group retains control of the financial asset, the
asset is continued to be recognised to the extent of continuing involvement in the financial asset.
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Contributed equity
Equity shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax from the proceeds.

Financial Liabilities & Equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Initial recognition and measurement:

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank
overdrafts.

Subsequent measurement:
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Borrowings:

Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawdown. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawdown, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Trade and other payables:

These amounts represent obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Those payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less otherwise they are presented as
non-current liabilities. Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.

Derecognition:

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other gains /
(losses). When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
and loss.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Where there is a breach of a material provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the
end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting date, the entity does not
classify the liability as current, if the lender agreed, after the reporting period and before the approval of the financial statements for
issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach.

Offsetting of financial instrument

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Compound Instruments

An issued financial instrument that comprises of both the liability and equity components are accounted as compound financial
instruments. The fair value of the liability component is separated from the compound instrument and the residual value is recognised
as equity component of other financial instrument. The liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost, whereas the
a equity component is not remeasured after initial recognition. The transaction costs related to compound instruments are allocated
to the liability and equity components in the proportion to the allocation of gross proceeds. Transaction costs related to equity
component is recognised directly in equity and the cost related to liability component is included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and amortised using effective interest method.

3.15 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

3.16 Dividend Distribution

Annual dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
shareholders. Any interim dividend paid is recognised on approval by Board of Directors. Dividend payable is recognised directly in
other equity.

3.17 Discontinued Operation:

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
- represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,
- is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as profit or loss before / after tax
from discontinued operation in the statement of profit and loss.
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Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31,2025 (Currency: Indian % in crore)

(b) The Group has hypothecated certain assets against borrowings which has been disclosed in note 13.1.
(c) Refer to note 33 for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
(d) The Group has not revalued any of its property, plant and equipment during the year.

(e) Capital work-in-progress (CWIP)
(i) Movement of capital work-in-progress

Particulars As at As at

March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 90.20 83.05
Additions#/ 70.94 717
Capitalised (4.41) -
Impairment of PCR CWIP (4.49) -
Transferred to expenses - (0.02)
Closing balance 152.24 90.20

A Capital work-in-progress additions during the year represents expenses incurred for revival of Tyre Undertaking.
#Details of expenses capitalised and carried forward as a part of capital work in progress are as follows:

Particulars As at During Total Capitalised / As at
March 31,2024 | 2024-25 Transferred | March 31, 2025

Professional charges 4.79 21.91 26.70 - 26.70
Rent - 0.02 0.02 - 0.02
Repairs to buildings - - - - -
Repairs others 0.54 0.28 0.82 - 0.82
Insurance - 0.01 0.01 - 0.01
Consumption of stores and spare parts 0.84 1.02 1.86 - 1.86
Power and fuel 0.40 2.43 2.83 - 2.83
Salaries, wages and bonus 0.21 2.2 2.41 - 2.41
Contribution to provident & other funds 0.01 0.09 0.10 - 0.10
Travelling & Conveyance 0.02 0.17 0.19 - 0.19
Exchange Fluctuation - 0.01 0.01 - 0.01
Security expenses - 1.2 1.20 - 1.20
Payment to contractors - 2.53 2.53 - 2.53
Staff welfare expense - 0.61 0.61 - 0.61
Rates and taxes - 0.24 0.24 - 0.24
Miscellaneous expenses 0.36 0.04 0.40 - 0.40
717 32.76 39.93 - 39.93

(ii) Capital work in progress ageing schedule as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024:
As at March 31, 2025

Amount in CWIP for a period of
CWIP*
Less than 1 year 1-2 Years 2-3Years |More than 3 Years Total
Project in progress 66.53 717 - - 73.70
Project temporarily suspended** - - 78.54 - 78.54
Total 66.53 717 78.54 - 152.24

As at March 31, 2024

Amount in CWIP for a period of
CWIP*
Less than 1 year 1-2 Years 2-3Years |More than 3 Years Total
Project in progress 7.7 - - - 7.7
Project temporarily suspended** - 83.03 - - 83.08
Total 717 83.03 - - 90.20

* The Group do not have any Capital-work-in progress or intangible assets under development, whose completion is overdue or has exceeded
its cost compared to its original plan.

** Pursuant to Order dated October 19, 2023 of Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench (NCLT), the Group acquired capital
work-in-progress of Passenger Car Radial (PCR) Division from Birla Tyres Limited and transferred it to the subsidiary company namely
HBTMPL. The Group's is currently focussed on revival of BIAS Division. Thus, the completion schedule for the Capital Work in Progress for
PCR division cannot be ascertained.
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5.1

A
(M

U]

(if)

5.2

Non- Current Assets: Financial Assets

As at

Non-current investments March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Investment in equity shares - at cost
Others
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Unquoted

13,61,582 (March 31, 2024: 13,61,582) equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up of Veeda Clinical
Research Limited

67 (March 31, 2024: 67) equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up of Sarvapriya Healthcare
Solutions Private Limited (X 670.00)

Quoted

27,020,000 (March 31, 2024: 27,020,000) shares of RHI Magnesita India Limited of ¥ 1.00 each#

57.46

0.00

1,370.72

31,91,952 (March 31, 2024: 15,91,952) shares of Dalmia Bharat Limited of ¥ 2.00 each# 581.43

Investments in debt
Unquoted
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

32,50,00,000 (March 31, 2024: 27,50,00,000) 8% Optionally-Convertible Debenture of ¥ 10 each

full paid up of Hippostores Technology Private Limited 325.00

10.86 Million USD (March 31, 2024: Nil) 11.25% Vedanta Resources Finance || PLC 92.83

Measured at Amortised Cost:

Nil (March 31, 2024: 600 ) 12.87% Non convertible debenture ¥ 10,00,000 each fully paid up of
Piramal Retail Private Limited -

Nil (March 31, 2024: 23,000) 5.375% Bonds for $ 100 each fully paid up of CA Magnum Holdings -

Nil (March 31, 2024: 1,49,390) 13.875% Bonds for $ 99.96 each fully paid up of Vedanta
Resources PLC -

Investment in Alternate Investment Funds
Unquoted
Measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss:

1,00,00,000 (March 31, 2024: Nil) of ¥ 100 each CLASS G3 - S1 Clarus Capital | (AlF)

110.59

57.28

0.00

1,493.26

309.18

266.75

60.00

17.24

89.69

Aggregate amount of Non-Current Investments: 2,538.03

2,293.40

Particulars
Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments

1,952.15
585.88

Notes on investments:

1,802.44
490.96

As per the covenants for borrowing arrangements entered by the Parent Company, the Parent Company is bound to repay its secured borrowings i.e.

Term Loan from Others (refer note 13.1) in full wiithin stipulated time on disposal of such shares.

As at

Other non-current financial March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Fixed Deposit with Banks more than 12 Months Maturity

-Margin Money (refer note (a) below) 3.72 -
Interest Accrued but not due
-On Fixed Deposits with Bank 0.22 -
Security and Other Deposits
-Unsecured, considered good 3.74 3.62
Total 768 3.62

a) Margin money of ¥ 3.72 crore (March 31 2024: Nil ) kept with bank against bank guarantee given are hypothecated with various authorities for margin

money.
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Deferred tax liabilities (net)

March 31, 2025

As at

As at

March 31, 2024

Deferred tax liability

Property, plant and equipment 39.46 37.92
Investments 0.16 -
Lease arrangements 0.69 0.69
Deferred tax liability, Gross (A) 40.31 38.61
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.06 0.02
Investments - 23.63
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.35 1.35
Employee benefits 1.27 1.20
Others related to section 43B 1.40 1.10
Interest on borrowings 4.95 1.23
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 25 .86 6.67
Others 0.61 1.19
Provision for expenses 202 299
Deferred tax assets, Gross (B) 3772 38.61
Deferred tax assets (net) (B-A) (2.59) -
Movement in temporary differences
Opening Recognised in Recognised in Recogmsgtc:‘:: Closing
FY 24-25 Capital  Profit & Loss .
Balance R comprehensive balance
eserve Account .
income
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 37.92 3.27 (1.73) - 39.46
Investments - - 0.16 - 0.16
Lease arrangements 0.69 - - — 0.69
38.61 3.27 (1.57) - 40.31
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.02 - 0.04 - 0.06
Investments 23.63 - (23.63) - -
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.35 - - - 1.35
Employee benefits 1.20 - (0.02) 0.09 1.27
Others related to section 43B 1.10 - 0.30 - 1.40
Interest on borrowings 1.23 - 3.72 - 4.95
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 6.67 - 19.19 - 25.86
Provision for expenses 2.22 - - - 2.22
Others 1.19 - (0.58) - 0.61
38.61 - (0.98) 0.09 37.72
Net Deferred tax liability / (asset) - 3.27 (0.59) (0.09) 2.59
Opening Recognised in Recognised in Recogmsgtc:‘:: Closing
FY 23-24 Capital  Profit & Loss .
Balance R comprehensive balance
eserve Account .
income
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 40.60 0.58 (3.26) - 37.92
Other intangibles - - - - -
Investments 3.00 - - (3.00) -
Lease arrangements 0.69 - - - 0.69
44.29 0.58 (3.26) (3.00) 38.61
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful debts 0.09 - (0.07) - 0.02
Investments - - 23.63 - 23.63
Provision for asset retirement obligation 1.32 - 0.03 - 1.35
Employee benefits 3.98 - (2.81) 0.03 1.20
Others related to section 43B 36.82 - (85.72) - 1.10
Interest on borrowings - - 1.23 - 1.23
Brought forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 1.61 - 5.06 - 6.67
Provision for expenses 18.17 - (15.95) - 2.22
Others 1.69 - (0.50) - 1.19
63.68 - (25.10) 0.03 38.61
Net Deferred tax liability / (asset) (19.39) 0.58 21.84 (3.03) -
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(i) The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

(ii

=

(iv)

The Parent Company has unabsorbed depreciation of ¥ 488.30 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 477.21 crore) that are available for offsetting
for indefinite life against future taxable profits of the Parent Company. Business loss of the Parent Company of ¥ 412.51crore (March
31, 2024: ¥ 443.71 crore) are available for offsetting future taxable profits for 8 years from the year in which losses arose. The expiry

dates of unused tax losses are as follows:

Year ended Year of Expiry

As at March 31, 2025
Unused Tax Losses Tax impact

As at March

31,2024

Unused Tax Losses Tax impact

March 31, 2017
March 31, 2018
March 31, 2019
March 31, 2020
March 31, 2021
March 31, 2024
March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024
March 31, 2025
March 31, 2026
March 31, 2027
March 31, 2028
March 31, 2029
March 31, 2032

- - 71.37 17.96
80.18 20.18 80.18 20.18
38.77 9.76 38.77 9.76

142.06 35.75 142.06 35.75
72.79 18.32 72.79 18.32
38.54 9.70 38.54 9.70
40.17 10.11 - -

412.51 103.82 443.71 111.67

In the absence of convincing evidence regarding availability of sufficient taxable profits against which the carried forwarded unused
tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation can be utilised, the Parent Company has not recognised the deferred tax assets as
mentioned above. The same shall be reassessed at subsequent balance sheet date.

Non-Current Tax Assets (net)

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Advance income tax (net of provision for tax) 7.94 29.99
7.94 29.99
Movement in Advance Tax
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax) As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
At the beginning of Year 29.99 36.30
Tax Paid / (Refund) (net) (22.05) (6.31)
At the end of the year 7.94 29.99
As at As at

Other non-current Assets

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

Capital advances

-Unsecured, considered good 1.27 2.72
Balance with statutory 12.90 -
authorities
14.17 2.72
Inventories As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
On hand:

Raw materials
Work -in-progress
Finished goods
Stock-in-trade
Stores and spares

Goods in transit:
Stock-in-trade
Finished goods

16.60 7.37
0.33 -
18.38 19.61
0.41 0.93
2.57 0.95
0.23 -
0.45 -
38.97 28.86

Inventories are hypothecated against the secured borrowings of the Parent Company as disclosed in note 13.1.
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10.1

10.2

Current financial assets

Current Investments

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Investments in debt instruments - Others (Unquoted)

Measured at cost
Nil (March 31, 2024: 400 ) 12.87% Non convertible debenture for ¥ 1,000,000 each fully

paid up of Piramal Retail Private Limited - 40.00

Nil (March 31, 2024: 300 ) 14% Non convertible debenture for ¥ 1,000,000 each fully paid

up of Zuari Infraworld India Limited - 30.00

Investment in mutual funds (Unquoted)

Measured at Fair Value through profit and loss

720,171.923 (March 31, 2024 : 11,51,248.561) units of Axis Overnight Fund Direct Growth 97.51 145.81

2,61,666.297 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of Aditya Birla Sun Life Corporate Bond

Fund -Growth- Direct Plan 2.87 -

2,212.355 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of Axis Liquid Fund Direct Growth 0.64 -

19,70,775.526 (March 31, 2024 : Nil) units of Axis Short Term Fund - Regular Growth - STGP 5.82 -

3,612.008 (March 31, 2024 : 5,701.925) units of Invetsment in Kotak Liquid Fund Direct Growth 1.89 2.78

108.73 218.59

Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof - -

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 108.73 218.59
As at As at

Trade Receivables

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

Trade Receivable considered good - Secured*

Trade Receivable considered good - Unsecured

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk
Trade Receivables - credit impaired

Less: Provision for expected credit loss

1.94 -
1717 23.53
2.71 0.72
21.82 24.25
2.71 0.72
19.11 23.53
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Trade receivable ageing

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Particulars -
NotDue  -°S5ihan6 S 1-2 years 2-3years  More than 3 years Total
As at March 31, 2025
i) Undisputed Trade 416 12.17 0.39 1.24 1.15 - 19.11
receivables

— considered good
i) Undisputed Trade - - - - - - -
Receivables — which have
significant increase in credit
risk

iii) Undisputed Trade - 0.51 0.31 0.10 0.21 158 271
Receivables — credit impaired

iv) Disputed Trade
Receivables—considered good
v) Disputed Trade Receivables - -
~— which have significant
increase in credit risk

vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - - - - - - _
— credit impaired
Total 4.16 12.68 0.70 1.34 1.36 1.58 21.82

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Particulars Notpue  -essthan6 6 months - 1-2 years 2-3years  More than 3 years Total
months 1 year
As at March 31, 2024
i) Undisputed Trade 6.02 2.33 5.28 5.40 297 1.53 23.53
receivables — considered
good
i) Undisputed Trade - 0.00 - - - - 0.00

Receivables — which have
significant increase in
credit risk

iii) Undisputed Trade - - 0.04 0.02 - 0.66 0.72
Receivables — credit
impaired

iv) Disputed Trade - - - - - - -
Receivables—considered good
v) Disputed Trade Receivables - - - - - - -
which have significant
increase in credit risk
vi) Disputed Trade - - - - - - -
Receivables — credit
impaired

Total 6.02 233 5.32 5.42 297 219 24.25

Notes

(a)  Notrade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 90 days.

(b)  *Trade receivables are secured against Letter of credit for the financial year ended March 31, 2025.
(c) Trade receivables of parent company are hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosed in note 13.1
(d)  For information on financial risk management objectives and policies, refer note 43
(e) Expected Credit Loss Matrix
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars Not Due I;ﬁ:: 6 months -1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 year Total
6 months
As at March 31, 2025
Trade receivables 4.16 12.68 0.70 1.34 1.36 1.58 21.82
ECL % - 4% 44% 7% 15% 100% 12%
ECL Amount - 0.51 0.31 0.10 0.21 1.58 2.7
As at March 31, 2024
Trade receivables 6.02 2.33 532 542 297 219 24.25
ECL % - - 0.74% 0.39% 0.00% 30.15% 2.97%
ECL Amount - - 0.04 0.02 - 0.66 0.72
i As at As at
10.3 Cash and cash equivalents March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balances with banks
- in Current Accounts 5.86 29.10
Deposits with maturity of less than three months 85.71 202.64
Cash in hand 0.05 005
91.62 231.79
As at As at
10.4 Bank balances other than 10.3 above March 31,2025 March 31,2024
Fixed Deposits (of maturity exceedingthree months but upto one year) 1.38 1.09
Margin Money {refer note (a), (b) and (c) below} 6.24 8.02
Margin money with bank
- Earmarked for unpaid dividend{refer note (d) below} 025 0.14
- Earmarked for Debenture and Interest - 0.03
Other bank balances {refer note (e) below} 1.05 1042
8.92 19.70
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Notes

a. Deposit of ¥ 6.24 crores (March 31, 2024: ¥ 5.80 crores) pledged with loan facility availed from non banking financial institution towards
quarterly interest.

b. Margin money of Nil (March 31, 2024: ¥ 2.22 crores) kept with banks against bank guarantee given/ are pledged with various authorities
for margin money.

c. Thereis no amount due and outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund. During the year, ¥ 0.02 crores (March
31, 2024: % 0.03 crore) on account of unclaimed dividend was credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.

d. Other bank balances represents bank balances acquired from Tyre Undertaking which are under the control of Resolution Professional
(RP). These funds would be used by RP for settlement of financial creditors acquired pursuant to Scheme of Demerger reflected in other
current financial liability (refer note 15.3).

As at As at

10.5 Loans and Advances March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Amount recoverable from employees
- Unsecured, considered good 0.01 0.04
0.01 0.04

Note:
Loans are hypothecatedagainst the secured borrowings as disclosedin note 13.1.

10.6 Other Current Financial As at As at
Assets March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Unsecured, considered good
Interest receivable 3.58 3.05
Unbilled Revenue 2.16 -

5.74 3.05

Unbilled Revenue is hypothecated against the secured borrowings as disclosed in note 13.1.

As at
11 Other Current Assets MA%A 31,2025  March 31,2024
Prepaid expenses 1.26 1.02
Advanceto suppliers 1.27 1.51
Amount recoverable from others 273 3.53
Balance with statutory authorities 33.10 27.89
38.36 33.95
Note:
Other current assets are hypothecatedagainst the secured borrowings as disclosedin note 13.1.
12 Equity:

As at As at

12.1 Share Capital March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Authorised
200,000,000 (March 31, 2024: 200,000,000) equity shares of 10 each 200.00 200.00
10 (March 31, 2024: 10) 8%, Redeemable, Preference Shares of ¥ 10 each* 0.00 0.00

*During FY. 2023-24, Pursuant to the approved Resolution Plan and NCLT Order dated October 19, 2023, the Tyre Undertaking (as defined in
the Approved Resolution Plan and Schedule 8 - Scheme of Demerger therein) (hereinafter referred to as "Demerger Scheme") of the Birla Tyre
Limited ("the Corporate Debtor") has been demerged into the Parent Company with effect from the Demerger Appointed Date i.e. May 06, 2022.
In accordance with the Scheme, the purchase consideration of INR 10/- will be discharged by issue and allotment of 1 (one) redeemable
preference shares of face value ¥ 10/- of the Parent Company to the shareholders of the Transferor Company, other than the Parent Company
itself i.e. Strategic Partner namely Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited.

Issued, Subscribed & fully paid up
4,42,00,107 (March 31, 2024 4,42,00,107) equity shares of 10 each 44.20 44.20
44.20 44.20

(i) Reconciliation of number and amount of equity shares outstanding:

No. of shares Amount
As at April 01,2023 4,42,00,107 44.20
Movement during the year N N
As at March 31, 2024 4,42,00,107 44.20
Movement during the year
As at March 31, 2025 4,42,00,107 44.20

(ii) Rights, restrictions and preferences attached to each class of shares
Terms/ rights attached to equity shares

The Parent Company has only one class of equity shares having par value of ¥ 10/- per share. Each holder of equity share is entitled to one vote per share. In the event
of liquidation of the Parent company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive the assets of the Parent company. The distribution will be in proportion to the
number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Terms/ rights attached to preference shares

Each Redeemable, preference shares (RPS) having face value of ¥ 10/- per share. These RPS are redeemable at the option of RPS Holder any time within 5 years at par.
These RPS carry dividend @ 8% on its face value on non-cummulative basis. These RPS are ranked ahead of the equity shares in the event of a liquidation.

(iii) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Parent company

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Equity shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid Number % holding Number % holding
Akhyar Estate Holding Private Limited 98,40,692 22.26% 98,40,692 22.26%
Garvita Solution Services And Holding Private Limited 26,84,391 6.07% 26,84,391 6.07%
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited 1,87,23,737 42.36% 1,87,23,737 42.36%
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(iv) Details of shares held by promoters at the end of the year in the parent company

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
L 1 L)
S. No. |Promoter’s Name No. of Shares | % of total shares % Change during No. of Shares % of total shares . % Change
the Year during the Year
1 Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (incl. nominees) - - 0.00% - - (42.36)%
2 |Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited 1,87,23,743 42.36% 0.00% 1,87,23,743 42.36% 42.36%
3 | Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited 98,40,692 22.26% 0.00% 98,40,692 22.26% 0.00%
4 Garvita Solution Services And Holdings Private 26,84,391 6.07% 0.00% 26,84,391 6.07% 0.00%
Limited
5 | Alirox Abrasives Limited 18,98,397 4.30% 0.00% 18,98,397 4.30% 0.00%
6 |Himgiri Commercial Ltd 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
7 |Keshav Power Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
8 |Shree Nirman Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
9 |Valley Agro Industries Limited 39 0.00% 0.00% 39 0.00% 0.00%
Total 3,31,47,379 74.99% 0.00% 3,31,47,379 74.99% 0.00%
12.2 Other Equity As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
a. Securities Premium Account
Opening balance 746.88 746.88
Movement during the year
Closing balance 746.88 746.88
b. Capital Reserve
Opening balance 515.01 515.08
Less: Deferred tax liability recognised on PPE (3.27)
Movement during the year (0.08) (0.07)
Closing Balance 511.66 515.01
c. General Reserve
Opening Balance 0.99 0.99
Add: Transfer from surplus balance - -
Closing Balance 0.99 0.99
d. Retained Earnings
Opening balance 1,373.78 1,333.94
Add: Profit for the year (36.11) 4713
Less: Deffered tax adjustment - (0.58)
Add: Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) (0.28) (0.08)
Less: Dividend on shares (6.63) (6.63)
Closing Balance 1,330.76 1,373.78
e. Equity portion of optionally convertible debentures
Opening balance 45.75 -
Additions during the year - 45.75
Closing balance 45.75 45.75
f. Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive Income
Opening Balance (135.50) 91.75
Addition during the year (net of tax) (150.75) (227.25)
Closing Balance (286.25) (135.50)
g. Debt instruments through Other Comprehensive Income
Opening balance (8.25) -
Addition during the year (net of tax) 8.25 (8.25)
Closing Balance - (8.25)
h. Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance 23.09 24.59
Additions during the year 4.74 (1.50)
Closing balance 27.83 23.09
Total 2,377.62 2,561.75

Nature and Purpose of Reserves
(@) Securities premium represents the amount received in excess of par value of securities. Securities Premium is utilised in accordance with the Provisions of the Companies Act,
2013.

(b) Capital Reserve arises pursuant to Business Combination in accordance with Ind AS 103.

(c) Retained earnings are the profits/(loss) that the Group has earned/incurred till date, less any transfers to general reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to
shareholders. Retained earnings include re-measurement loss / (gain) on defined benefit plans, net of taxes that will not be reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss.

(d) Equity instruments through other comprehensive income - The Group has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of investment in equity instruments in other
comprehensive income. The changes are accumulated with in Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income equity instruments reserve with in equity. The Group will
transfer the amount from this reserve to retained earnings when the relevant equity securities are derecognised.

(e) The Group recognises changes in the fair value of debt instruments held with business objective of collect and sell in other comprehensive income. These changes are
accumulated within the Debt instruments through Other Comprehensive Income . The Group transfers amounts from this reserve to the statement of profit and loss when
the debt instrument is derecognised.

(f)  Foreign Currency Translation Reserve - Exchange differences arising on translating of the foreign operations as described in accounting policy are accumulated in a separate
reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment in foreign subsidiaries are disposed off.
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Non-current liabilities:

13 Financial Liabilities

As at As at

13.1 Borrowings March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Secured

0.001% Unrated, redeemable non-convertible debentures {refer sub note (a) below} 179.40 89.40
Term loan from others {refer sub note (b), (c) and (d) below} 495.30 394.85
Unsecured

8% Redeemable, unlisted preference shares {refer sub note (h) below} 0.00 0.00

Liability component of compound financial instrument

Secured

0.01% optionally convertible debentures {refer sub note (e) below} 9.49 10.12
Unsecured

0.01% optionally convertible debentures {refer sub note (f) and (g) below} 83.09 82.46

767.28 576.83

(@) ¥ 179.40 crore (March 31, 2024: 89.40 crore) secured, unrated, redeemable, non-convertible debentures (NCDs) have been issued by the Parent Company to
Strategic Partner Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (HSCL) for implementation of the Resolution Plan. These NCDs are secured by mortgage on all movable
and immovable assets of the Tyre Undertaking of the parent Company and investment in Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (formerly known as
Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited). These NCDs carry fixed coupon rate of 0.001% per annum and variable coupon rate annual interest to be agreed
mutually between the Parent Company and HSCL, subject to availability of surplus profits and cash flows in relation to Tyre Undertaking and shall be payable
only upon finalisation of accounts of the Tyre Undertaking. These NCDs are redeemable at premium subject to performance milestone to be mutually agreed
between parties.

The Parent Company along with NCD Holder i.e. HSCL has prepared the business plan in relation to Tyre Undertaking and have determined the effective interest
rate based on future revenue streams expected to be paid to the NCD Holder. This rate represents the discount rate that equates present value of estimated
cash flows with the initial proceeds received from the NCD Holder and is used to compute the amount of interest expense to be recognized each period. Basis,
above the Parent Company has calculated effective interest rate @ 13% p.a. (inclusive of fixed rate of interest).

(b) ¥ 197.85 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 197.20 crore) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at 3-month Reuters CP
Index plus 3.90% p.a. (present 11.20% p.a.) are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Parent Company and second
pari-passu charge on the current assets excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets of Tyre Undertaking. It
is repayable in equal annual installments of ¥ 66.67 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e, December 27, 2023. Interest is
payable on yearly basis.

(c) ¥ 198.15 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 197.65 crore) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at Long-term lending rate
less 10.80% p.a. (present 11.20% p.a.) are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Parent Company and second pari-passu
charge on the current assets excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets of Tyre Undertaking. It is repayable
in equal annual installments of ¥ 66.67 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e, March 30, 2024. Interest is payable on quarterly
basis.

(d) ¥99.30 crore (March 31, 2024: Nil) (net of processing fees) from a non-banking financial institution carrying interest rate at Long-term lending rate less 10.79%
p.a. are secured by way of first pari-passu charge on moveable fixed assets of the Parent Company and second pari-passu charge on the current assets
excluding non-current investments, current investments, cash and cash equivalents and assets of Tyre Undertaking. It is repayable in equal annual installments
of ¥ 33.33 crore at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th year from the loan availment date i.e, April 05, 2024. Interest is payable on quarterly basis.

(e) 1,50,00,000 0.01% Secured Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD) of ¥ 10 each, an aggregate amount of ¥ 15.00 crores have been issued by Himadri Birla
Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (the subsidiary company or HBTMPL) to Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited. These OCD are convertible into one equity
share for each OCD at the option of the Debenture Holder any time within 5 years. These OCD have coupon rate @0.01% on the face value.These OCD are
secured by all the moveable and immoveable assets of HBTMPL relating to the Non-Operational Asset Division.

(f) 11,80,00,000 0.01% Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD) of ¥ 10 each, an aggregate amount of ¥ 118.00 crores have been issued by HBTMPL
to Himadri Specialty Chemical Limited. These OCD are convertible into one equity share for each OCD at the option of the Debenture Holder any time within 5
years. These OCD have coupon rate @0.01% on the face value.

(9) 49,99,999 (March 31, 2024: 50,00,0000) 0.01% Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD) of ¥ 10 each, an aggregate amount of ¥ 5.00 crores have
been issued by Birla Tyres Limited (Subsidiary Company) to Himadri Specialty Chemical Limited. These OCD are convertible into one equity share for each OCD
at the option of the Debenture Holder any time within 5 years These OCD have coupon rate @0.01% on the face value.

(h) One Redeemable, preference share (RPS) having face value of ¥ 10 have been issued by the Parent Company to HSCL as consideration for acquisition of Tyre
Undertaking pursuant to Scheme of Demerger. These RPS is redeemable at the option of RPS Holder any time within 5 years at par. These RPS carry dividend
@ 8% on its face value on non-cummulative basis. These RPS are ranked ahead of the equity shares in the event of a liquidation. On issuance of the RPS, the
fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent instrument. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at
amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is redeemed.

13.2 Lease Liabilities As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Lease Liabilities ggg 82}
Note (i) The following is the movement in lease liabilities during the year :
Opening Balance 0.83 2.40
Add: Addition during the year 0.19 1.22
Add: Finance cost accruedduring the year 0.08 0.08
Less: Payment of lease (0.35) (0.41)
Less: Reversal of lease liabilities (0.08) (0.86)
Less: Transfer on slump sale (refer note 31) - (1.60)
Closing Balance 067 0.83
Non-current 0.39 0.61
Current 0.28 0.22
(i) The following is the contractual maturity profile of lease liabilities:
Less than one year 0.28 0.22
One year to five years 0.39 0.61
0.67 0.83
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" [ As at As at
13.3 Other non-current financial liabilities March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Interest accrued but not due on NCDs & OCDs 32.13 4.73
32.13 4.73
. As at As at
14 Provisions March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Provision for employee benefits
- Gratuity (Refer Note 36) 0.44 0.28
- Leave Encashment (Refer Note 36) 0.04 0.02
- Post Retirement Medical Benefit Obligation (Refer Note 36) 3.91 3.83
Provision for other payables - 0.05
Provision against asset retirement obligation* 5.38 5.38
9.77 9.56
* The movement in provision for asset retirement obligation is as follows:
Opening Balance 5.38 5.24
Unwinding of discount - 0.14
Payments - -
Closing Balance 5.38 5.38
Current liabilities:
15  Financial Liabilities
15.1 Trade Payables As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises (Refer note below) 0.95 0.16
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small Enterprises 36.41 31.15
Total 37.36 31.31
a) Trade Payables aging schedule
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars
NotDue | Less than ayear 1- 2years 2-3 years | More than 3 years Total
As at March 31, 2025
Undisputedtrade payables:
MSME 0.95 - - - i 095
Others 18.29 9.92 7.71 0.35 0.14 36.41
Disputed dues MSME - - - - - -
Disputed dues Others - - - - - -
Total 19.24 9.92 7.7 0.35 0.14 37.36
As at March 31, 2024
Undisputedtrade payables:
MSME - 0.16 - - - 0.16
Others 3.80 17.64 9.43 012 0.16 3115
Disputed dues MSME - - - - - -
Disputed dues Others - - - - - -
Total 3.80 17.80 9.43 0.12 0.16 31.31
b) Details of amounts outstanding to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises based on information available with the Group is as under:
Particul As at As at
articulars March 31,2025  March 31,2024
Principal amount and remaining unpaid 0.95 0.16
Interest due on above and unpaidinterest R B
Interest paid
Payment made beyond the appointedday during the year
Interest due and payable for the period of delay
Interest accruedand remaining unpaid . )
Amount of further interest remaining due and payablein succeeding years - -
0.95 0.16
" o As at As at
15.2 Other financial liabilities March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Unpaid matured debentures and interest - 0.03
Unpaid dividend 0.25 0.14
Liability for capital expenditure 7.09 264
Advancesrefundableto customers - 6.95
Interest accruedbut not due on borrowings 9.94 550
Contribution from committee of creditors 0.02 0.02
Payable to financial creditors pursuant to Scheme of Demerger (refer note 32(a)) 2.06 11.73
Payable to operational creditors pursuant to Scheme of Demerger (refer note 32(a)) 0.78 0.07
Other liabilities 0.93 0.48
21.07 27.56
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g As at As at
16  Other current liabilities March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Advances received from customers 2.29 1.04

Security deposits 1.62 1.00
Statutory liabilities* 3.68 3.51

Other payables 0.71 0.56

8.30 6.11

* Includes statutory dues amounting to 0.02 crore on account of provident fund not deposited due to technical glitch at PF Portal, the necessary documents have been

submitted to concerned authorities, approval of which is awaited.

17 Provisions

As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Provision for employee benefits (Refer Note 36)

- Leave Encashment

- Gratuity

- Post Retirement Medical Benefit Obligation
Provision towards mining litigation (Refer Note Below
Provision for other payables

Provision for warranty

0.03 0.01
0.24 0.56
0.35 -
8.83 8.83
0.01 -
0.68 0.80
10.14 10.20

Note: Movement in provision

Provision towards mining litigation

Provision for warranty

Particulars As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Opening 8.83 72.20 1.35 1.35
Created during the year - - 0.43 0.80
(Reversed) during the year - (63.37) (0.55) (1.35)
Closing 8.83 8.83 0.68 0.80

18 Revenue from operations For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

A. Revenue from contracts with customers
Manufactured goods
Traded goods
Sale of services
Total sale of products and services
B. Other Operating Revenue
Scrap Sales

Export incentives
Others

(i) Revenuefrom contracts with customers disaggregated based on nature of products or
services: Sale of products
Manufactured goods
-Refractories

-Tyres

Traded goods
Total sale of products

Sale of services
Management service charge

Total sale of services

Other Operating Revenue
Scrap Sales

Export incentives

Others

Total revenue from contracts with customers

(ii) Reconciliation of Revenue from operations with contract price:

Contract Price
Reduction towards variable consideration components
Revenue from Operations

139

93.51 84.33
12.08 31.41
0.37 0.18
105.96 115.92
0.21 .
0.12 -
- 0.04
0.33 0.04
106.29 115.96
93,51 8433
93.51 84.33
12.08 31.41
105.59 115.74
0.37 0.18
0.37 0.18
0.21 -
0.12 -
- 0.04
106.29 115.96
106.29 115.96
106.29 115.96
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Other income For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Interest income from bank/Securities/others 34.68 27.88

Profit on termination of lease 0.01 0.02

Dividend income 9.63 7.38

Provision/liabilities no longer required written back 0.78 8.59

Bad Debt Recovery 4.76 -
Gains/ (losses) on financial instruments measured at FVTPL (net):

Fair value gain on investments at fair value through profit and loss 11.52 2.48

Profit on sale of investments (net) 29.70 14.89

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipments 1.06 -

Other non-operating income 0.94 1.84

93.08 63.08

. For the year ended For the year ended

Cost of material consumed March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Opening raw materials 7.37 16.10

Add: Purchase during the year 55.44 37.53

Less: Closing raw materials 16.60 7.37

Consumed during the year 46.21 46.26

. For the year ended For the year ended

Purchase of stock-in-trade March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Purchase of stock-in-trade 16.90 16.79

16.90 16.79

Change in inventories of finished goods, stock in trade and work-in-progress

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Inventories at the beginning of the year
Work-in-Progress
Stock in Trade
Finished Goods

Less: Inventories transferred pursuant to disposal of Subsidiary
Company (refer note 31(b))

Work-in-Progress
Stock in Trade
Finished Goods

Less: Inventories at the end of the year
Work-in-Progress
Stock in Trade
Finished Goods

Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress
- Discontinued operations
- Continuing operations
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- 2.28
0.93 10.93
19.61 28.63
20.54 41.84
- 435

- 9.83

- 14.18
0.33 -
0.64 0.93
18.83 19.61
19.80 20.54
0.74 712
(0.24) 0.33
0.98 6.79
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23

24

25

Emplovee benefits expense For the year ended For the year ended
ploy s expe March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Salaries, wages and bonus” 15.67 14.64
Contributionto provident& other funds (refer note 36)A 1.09 1.54
Gratuity expense (refer note 36) 0.06 0.25
Post-retirement medical benefits (refer note 36) 0.28 1.25
Staff welfare expense 1.12 0.93
18.22 18.61

net of expenses capitalisedduringthe year {refer note 4(e)}
Finance costs For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest on borrowing - at amortised cost 84.22 11.00
Unwinding Discount - 0.12
Interest on lease liabilities 0.06 -
Interest - Others 0.03 2.73
84.31 13.85
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment For maergﬁa;fgggg For maerXﬁa;.'eZ%gg
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19.56 23.31
Amortization of right of use assets 0.46 0.57
Amortization of intangible assets 0.02 0.37
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 6.03 -
26.07 24.25

For th r en For th ren
26 Other expenses O Narent: 2005 O Maren1: 2054
Consumption of stores and spare parts” 1.60 1.00
Power and fuelr 2.01 3.75
Packing, freight & transport 6.17 3.53
Commission 1.42 0.51
Rent 1.38 0.43
Repairs to buildings 0.08 0.41
Repairs to machinery 1.20 2.78
Repairs others” 1.52 0.93
Insurance 0.74 0.83
Rates and taxes 7.49 4.82
Payment to the auditors

- Statutory Audit fees 0.42 0.67
- Limited Review fees 0.17 0.17
- for reimbursement of expenses 0.03 0.02
Advertisement & publicity 0.21 0.15
Provision for expected credit loss 1.45 -
Foreign exchange fluctuation 0.34 1.74
Travelling and conveyance/ 211 1.49
Payment to contractors 1.46 1.56
Professional Charges (net of reimbursement of expenses) 9.98 16.94
Security Charges 0.75 -
Brick Lining Expenses 0.10 -
Director Sitting Fees 0.13 0.15
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) - 0.15
Warranty expenses 0.43 0.80
Miscellaneous expenses” 2.81 12.09
44.00 54.92
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27 E tional It For the year ended For the year ended
Xceptional ltems March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Continuing operations:
Profit on disposal of subsidiary company namely Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH. - 12.09
(refer note (a) below)

- 12.09
Notes to exceptional items:
(a) Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement with RHI Magnesita Deutschland AG and shareholders’ approval, the Parent Company
has disposed off wholly owned subsidiary company namely Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH.
For the year ended For the year ended
28 Tax expense
8 P March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(a) Continuing operations
Current income tax
Current income tax charge - -
Tax adjustments for earlier years - 264
Deferred tax:
Relation to origination of temporary differences (0.61) 6.22
Total income tax expense for continuing operations (0.61) 8.86
(b) Discontinued operation
Current income tax
Current income tax charges - -
Deferred tax:
- Relation to origination of temporary differences 0.02 1559
Total income tax expense/ (credit) for discontinued operation 0.02 15.59
Net income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss (0.59) 24.45
Other comprehensive income (OCI) section (including discontinued operation):
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year
Net (gain)/ loss on re-measurement of defined benefit plans (0.09) (0.08)
Net loss/ (gain) on equity instruments through OCI - (8.00)
Income tax expense/ (credit) chargedto OCI (0.09) (3.03)
Bifurcation of income tax recognised in OCI into :
Items that will not be reclassifiedto profit or loss (0.09) (3.03)
Items that will be reclassifiedto profit or loss - -
Total income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income (0.09) (3.03)
Total income tax expense recognised in profit & loss account (0.68) _ 21.42
Reconciliation of income tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Company's tax rate:
Company's tax rate:
(Loss)/Profit before tax from continuing operations (87.32) 9.66
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 0.08 61.88
Accounting profit before tax (37.24) 7.54
Income tax expense calculated at 25.168% (including surcharge and education cess) 25.17% 25.17%
Computed tax expense (9.37) 18.01
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years - 2.65
Effect of income that is not chargableto tax (11.66) -
Effect of income chargableat different rate of tax - (3.87)
Deferred tax recognised on losses for previous years to the extent of liability (0.38) (16.32)
Deferred tax not recognisedon losses (net off losses lapsed) for current year 20.82 -
Impact of changein tax rate - (0.19)
Effect of expense that are non- deductiblein determining taxable profit - 4.52
Utilisation of previously unrecognised temporary differences - 19.65
Total income tax expense recognised in profit & loss account (0.59) 24.45
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29 Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Re-measurement of defined benefit plans (0.37) (0.10)
Income tax effect on above 0.09 0.03
Net (loss)/gain on equity instruments through OCI (150.75) (230.25)
Income tax effect on above - 3.00
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Net (loss)/gain on debt instruments through OCI 8.25 (8.25)
Income tax eftect on above - -
Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations 474 (1.50)
Income tax effect on above - -
Total Other Comprehensive Income (138.04) (237.07)
For the year ended For the year ended

30 Earnings per Share (EPS)

31

143

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

(a) Continuing operations
Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributableto Shareholders
Weighted average number of equity shares for basicand diluted EPS

Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (in %)
Basic and Diluted

(b) Discontinued operation

Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS
Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (in )

Basic and Diluted

(c) Continuing and discontinued operations

Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS
Earnings/(Loss) per share of ¥ 10 each (in )

Basic and Diluted

(a) Transfer of refractory business on slump sale basis (Discontinued operation)

(36.17)
4,42,00,107

(8.18)

0.06
4,42,00,107

0.01

(36.11)
4,42,00,107

8.17)

0.84
4,42,00,107

0.19
46.29
4,42,00,107

10.47

4713
4,42,00,107

10.66

In view of transfer of its Refractory Business in India to RHI Magnesita India Ltd. ("RHI") which was concluded on January 4, 2023, then
the Indian Refractory Business have been considered as discontinued operations in accordance with Ind AS 105 (Non-current Assets

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations).

The Parent Company has effective October 01, 2023 taken over Dalmia Magnesite Corporation ("DMC Unit"), a refractory unit of Dalmia
Bharat Sugar and industries Limited under Leave and License agreement. Continuing Operations in the Company includes the
operation under this agreement and trading of magnesite carbon refractories ("Refractories").

Financial performance and cash flow information: (X in crore)
Particular Year Ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Financial Performance :
Revenue including other income 3.01 78.22
Total expenses 293 16.34
Profit before tax 0.08 61.88
Tax expenses 0.02 15.59
Profit for the period / year from discontinued operation 0.06 46.29
Cashflow disclosure
Net cash flow (used in) operating activities (14.66) 106.72
Net cash flow (used in) investing activities - -
Net cash flow from financing activities - (0.17)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashflow from discontinued operation (14.66) 106.55
(b) Disposal of subsidiary namely Dalmia GSB Refractories GmbH
. As on
Particulars April 27, 2023
Cash Consideration received during the year (A) 114.28
Less: Carrying amount of net assets transferred (refer below) (103.41)
Less: Foreign currency translation reserve 1.22
Gain on disposal of subsidiary 12.09
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The carrying amount of assets and liabilities of Dalmia GSB Germany GmbH as at the date of sale i.e. April 27, 2023 are as follows:

Particulars

Property, plant and equipments 19.60
Right of use assets 157
Other intangible assets 27.49
Goodwill 97.69
Inventories 24.31
Trade receivables 31.14
Bank Balances 13.48
Other financial assets 9.42
Other assets 7.53
Total assets (A) 232.23
Borrowings 79.60
Lease liabilities 1.60
Trade payables 33.45
Other financial liabilities 0.46
Other current liabilities 12.67
Provisions 1.04
Total liabilities (B) 128.82
Carrying amount of net assets transferred (A-B) 103.41

32 (a) Acquisition of Tyre Undertaking

Pursuant to Order dated October 19, 2023 of Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench (NCLT), Dalmia Bharat
Refractories Limited (‘the Parent Company’ or ‘Transferee Company’ or ‘Successful Resolution Applicant’), along with Himadri Speciality
Chemical Limited (‘HSCL’) as ‘Strategic Partner’ had completed the acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited (‘Corporate Debtor’ or ‘Transferor
Company’) which had undergone the Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016
which was initiated on May 05, 2022. The Resolution Plan dated March 27, 2023 and modified as on July 27, 2023 (‘Approved
Resolution Plan’) was submitted by the Company with HSCL as ‘Strategic Partner’ and was approved by the NCLT on October 19, 2023.
The Approved Resolution Plan also contains Financial Restructuring Scheme (referred to as "FRS Scheme") (Schedule 7 of the
Approved Resolution Plan) which provides for treatment of select existing assets and liabilities of the Transferor Company from the
Restructuring Appointed Date (i.e. May 05, 2022) and eventual capital reduction of the share capital of the Transferor Company. The
above Schemes were filed with Registrar of Companies on November 04, 2023.

Under the Approved Resolution Plan, the Parent Company along with the Strategic Partner became the 100% shareholder of the
Corporate Debtor through fresh issue of equity shares.

Pursuant to the approved Resolution Plan and NCLT Order dated October 19, 2023, the Tyre Undertaking (as defined in the Approved
Resolution Plan and Schedule 8 - Scheme of Demerger therein) (hereinafter referrred to as "Demerger Scheme") of the Corporate
Debtor has been demerged into the Company with effect from the Demerger Appointed Date i.e., May 06, 2022. To give the effect of
the Demerger Scheme, the financial statements of the parent Company for the FY 2022-23 had been restated during the previous year
2023-24.

The Group has given effect to accounting in terms of the Approved Resolution Plan and the Scheme of Demerger which provides for
accounting as per ‘Acquisition Method’ method in accordance with Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations read with other accounting
standards presribed under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities pertaining to the Tyre
Undertaking are recorded at their respective fair value as per the Purchase Price Allocation report taken from the Registered Valuer.
The difference between the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and consideration paid on the demerger has been accounted
for as Capital Reserve amounting to ¥ 460.25 Crores. In accordance with the Scheme, the purchase consideration of ¥ 10/- will be
discharged by issue and allotment of 1 (one) redeemable preference shares of face value ¥ 10/- of the Company to the shareholders of
the Transferor Company, other than the Company itself i.e. Strategic Partner namely Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.
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The fair value of assets and liabilities of Birla Tyres Limited assumed as on the Appointed Date i.e. May 05, 2023 is as below:

(% in crore)
Particulars Amount
Assets transferred
Property, plant and equipment 232.46
Capital work-in-progress 83.08
Advance tax 0.03
Deferred tax assets 430.69
Inventories 5.40
Cash and bank balances 1.14
Other financial assets 4.07
Other current assets 0.03
Total assets transferred (A) 756.85
Liabilities transferred
Payable to financial creditors pursuant to FRS Scheme 135.47
Interest accrued on financial creditors pursuant to FRS Scheme 143.08
Payable to non-financial creditors pursuant to FRS Scheme 13.48
Statutory liabilities pursuant to FRS Scheme 4.62
Total liabilities transferred (B) 296.60
Net Assets transferred upon Demerger (A-B) 460.25
Fair value of consideration transferred -
Amount transferred to Capital Reserve (A-B) 460.25

(b) Acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited

The Group has consolidated the financial statement of Corporate Debtor as per ‘Acquisition Method’ method in accordance with Ind AS
103 - Business Combinations read with other accounting standards presribed under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013.
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities pertaining to BTL are recorded at their respective fair value as per the Purchase Price Allocation
report taken from the Registered Valuer. To give the effects of the Financial Restructuring Scheme, the financial statements of the parent
Company for the FY 2022- 23 had been restated duirng the previous year 2023-24.

The fair value of assets and liabilities of BTL included in Consolidated Results from Appointed Date (i.e. May 05, 2022) are as below:

(% in crore)
Particulars Amount
Assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 21.36
Other financial assets 0.01
Total assets acquired (A) 21.37
Liabilities acquired -
Other financial liabilities -
Total liabilities acquired (B) -
Net Assets transferred upon Demerger (A-B) 21.37
Fair value of consideration transferred 0.01
Amount transferred to Capital Reserve (A-B) 21.36

(c) Transfer of identified assets of non-operational division

The Approved Resolution Plan also contained the Scheme of Arrangement which provided for transfer of identified assets in relation to
the Non-Operational Assets Division (as defined in the approved Resolution Plan) of the Company to Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer
Private Limited (formerly known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited) (the “Transferee Company”) with effect from the
Transfer Appointed Date i.e. May 06, 2022. Details of assets transferred are as follows:

Particulars Amount
Transfer of identified assets

Freehold Land 5.60
Capital work-in-progress 83.03
Total assets transferred(A) 88.63
Sale Consideration (B) 119.75
Profit on Sale of Non-Operational Assets Division (B-A) 31.12
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(d) Acquisitions of Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited

On March 10, 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited
("HBTMPL")(formely known as Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited), a non-listed company based in India.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of HBTMPL Limited as at the date of acquisition were:

Particulars Fair value recognised on acquisition
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 5.60
Capital work- in- progress 83.08
Cash and cash equivalents 0.01
88.64
Liabilities
Other financial liabilities 119.76
Other current liabilities 0.00
119.76
Total identifiable net assets at fair value (31.12)
Goodwill 31.14
Purchase consideration transferred 0.02
33 Capital Commitments
. As at As at
Particulars March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital accountand not provided for 725 12.32
34 Contingent Liabilities
Particulars As at As at

March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt and being contested before the appropriate authorities.
-Mineral taxes* 11.13 -
-Other matters 13.11 13.38

*

On July 25, 2024, the Hon'ble Supreme Court, in a judgment delivered by a Nine-Judge Constitutional Bench, ruled that royalty is not a
tax and upheld the legislative competence of States to levy mineral taxes. Further, in its order dated August 14, 2024, the Court
determined that States could levy or demand tax on minerals from April 01, 2005, with payments to be made in 12 installments, starting
from April 01, 2026.

Given the complexity of the issues involved and pending further clarity, the Parent Company, based on management’s evaluation has
estimated a contingent liability of ¥11.13 Crore. This will be reassessed periodically based on further developments in the matter.

35 Segment Information

Based on internal organization of its business segments, focus and business review carried out by the Whole-time director and CEO
(Chief Operating Decision Maker - CODM) of the Parent Company, the Group has indentified two reportable segments "Refractories’
and "Tyres" as per IND AS 108- Operating Segments" , including related disclosures.

Revenue and expenses directly attributable to segments are reported under each reportable segment. All other expenses which are
not attributable or allocable to segments have been disclosed as unallocable expenses.

Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable or allocable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other
assets and liabilities are disclosed as unallocable.
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Particul Refractories Tyre Total

articulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2025] March 31, 2024| _March 31, 2025] March 31, 2024
Revenue
External revenue (includingother operating revenue) 106.28 115.96 0.01 - 106.29 115.96
Inter segment revenue - - - - - -

106.28 115.96 0.01 - 106.29 115.96
Less: Eliminations - - - - - -
Revenue from continuing operations 106.28 115.96 0.01 - 106.29 115.96
Revenue from discontinued operation 3.01 14.82 3.01 14.82
Total revenue from continuing and discontinued 109.29 130.78 0.01 - 109.30 130.78
operations
Results
Segment results of continuing operations 29.85 (0.51) (26.93) (35.63) 2.92 (36.14)
Less: Finance costs (84.31) (13.85)
Add: Interest income 9.41 13.42
Add: Dividend income 9.63 7.38
Add: Income from sale of investments 7.38 14.89
Add: Other unallocated income (net expenditures) 17.65 11.87
Profit / (Loss) before exceptional items & tax 29.85 (0.51) (26.93) (35.63) (37.32) (2.43)
from continuing operations for the year
Exceptional ltems - 12.09
Profit / (Loss) before tax for the year from 29.85 (0.51) (26.93) (35.63) (37.32) 9.66
Continuing Operations
(i) Current Tax - -
(i) Deferred Tax (0.61) 6.22
(iii) Tax adjustments for earlier years - 2.64
Net Profit / (Loss) operations for the year ended (36.71) 0.80
from Continuing Operations
Profit before tax for the year from Discontinued 0.08 61.88
Operations
Tax expenses 0.02 15.59
Net Profit for the year from Discontinued 0.06 46.29
Operations
Profit / (Loss) after tax (36.65) 47.09
Refractories Tyre Total

Particulars March 31,2025 | March 31,2024 | March 31, 2025| March 31,2024 | March 31,2025 | March 31, 2024
Segment assets
Segment assets of continuing operations (a) 277.51 194.57 403.95 343.77 681.46 538.34
Segment assets of discontinuedoperations (b) 7.59 23.00 - - 7.59 23.00
Unallocable assets
Unallocable assets (c) 2,627.32 2,717.52
Total assets (a+b+c) 3,316.37 3,278.86
Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities of continuing operations (a) 23.56 18.61 321.65 204.40 345.21 223.01
Segment liabilities of discontinuedoperations (b) 18.14 26.76 18.14 26.76
Unallocable liabilities (c) 525.96 417.36
Total liabilities (a+b+c) 889.31 667.13
Other disclosures
Capital expenditure of continuing operations 519 0.05 70.94 7.26 76.13 7.31
Capital expenditure of discontinuedoperation - -
Total capital expenditure 76.13 7.31
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 4.86 2.74 21.21 21.51 26.07 24.25
continuingoperations
Depreciationand amortisation of discontinued 0.06 0.06
operation
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 26.13 24.31
Significant non-cash expenses other than 0.43 0.80 - - 043 0.80
depreciation,amortisation and impairment
Unallocable _ _
Total other significant non-cash expenses 0.43 0.80
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Geographical Segments
The Group's operating facilities are located in India.

As As

Particulars at March 31, at March 31,

2025 2024
Revenue including other income from external customers:
From continuing operations
India 80.13 40.80
Rest of the world 26.16 75.16
From discontinued Operation
India 3.01 13.92
Rest of the world - 0.90
Revenue from continuing and discontinued operations 109.30 130.78
Non-current operating assets
India 409.60 358.32
Rest of the world 27.49 31.30
Total non-current operating assets 437.09 389.62

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties, intangible assets, capital work in

progress and goodwill.

Information about major customers

Revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to 10 percent or more of an entity's revenue during the current year and previous

year are as follows:

As As

Particulars at March31, at March 31,
2025 2024

RHI Magnesita India Refractories Limited (Formerly know as Dalmia OCL Limited) - 22.84
Steel Authority of India Limited - 14.96
Madhavi Enterprises 11.71 -
ESL Steel Limited 910 -
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited . 8.29 -

Employee Benefits

Gratuity

The Group has a defined benefit gratuity plan. The gratuity is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employee who has
completed five years of service is entitled to gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service. During
the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 liability was funded through Gratuity Fund Trust with an insurance company in the form of a
qualifying insurance policy to the extent of employees pertaining to Birla Tyres Limited acquired by the Parent Company through scheme of
demerger (refer note 32). The Trust is responsible for the administration of the plan assets and for the determination of investment strategy. The
Group makes provision of unfunded gratuity liability in the books of account on the basis of actuarial valuation carried out by an independent
actuary.

Post-retirement medical benefits plan (‘PRMB’)
The Parent Company provides post-retirement medical benefits to its certain retired employees. The plan is not funded by the Parent Company.

The following tables summarize the components of defined benefit costs recognised in the statement of profit and loss and amounts
recognised in the balance sheet for the above mentioned plan:

Statement of profit and loss
Net employee benefit expense

. 2024-25 . 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave PRMB Gratuity Leave PRMB
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
Current Service cost 0.10 0.02 - 0.12 0.00 -
Past Service Cost - 0.01 - - - 105
Interest Cost 0.06 0.00 0.28 0.13 0.02 -
Expectedreturn on plan asset - - - - - -
Total Expense 0.16 0.03 0.28 0.25 0.02 1.25
Continuing operations 0.05 0.03 0.28 0.25 0.02 125
Discontinued operations 0.1 0.00 - - - -
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B. Balance Sheet
(i) Details of Plan assets/ (liabilities) for Gratuity and Leave Encashment

2024-25 2023-24

Particulars Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave

(funded) encashment PMRB (funded) encashment PMRB
Present value of Obligationas at year-end 17.32 0.07 4.26 28.98 0.03 3.83
Fair value of plan assets ) 16.64 - - 28.14 - -
Net Asset/(Liability) recognizedin the Balance Sheet (0.68) (0.07) (4.26) (0.84) (0.03) (3.83)

(ii) Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2024-25 2023-24

Particulars Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave

(funded) encashment PNRB (funded) encashment PMRB
Opening defined benefit obligation 28.98 0.03 3.83 38.45 0.28 2.87
Interest cost 0.06 0.00 0.28 0.13 0.02 -
Current service cost 0.10 0.03 - 0.12 0.00 -
Past service cost - 0.01 - - - 125
Benefit paid (11.69) (0.01) (0.35) (9.82) (0.18) (0.29)
Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation (0.13) 0.01 0.50 0.10 (0.09) -
Closing defined benefit obligation 17.32 0.07 4.26 28.98 0.03 3.83

(iii) Changes in the fair value of plan assets (gratuity) are as follows:

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24
Openingfair value of plan assets 28.14 37.05
Benefits paid (11.50) (8.91)
Closing fair value of plan assets 16.64 28.14

Fair value of plan assets as at April 01, 2023 of ¥ 37.05 crore represents the amount recoverable from KICM Gratuity Fund pursuant to the Scheme of
Demerger (refer note 32). During the year ended March 31, 2025, KICM Gratuity funds released funds of ¥11.50 crore (March 31, 2024 : ¥ 8.91 crore)
towards payment of Gratuity. Balance funds of ¥16.64 crore (March 31, 2024 : ¥ 28.14 crore) have been transferred from KICM Gratuity Fund to Birla Tyres
Limited Employee's Gratuity Fund.

(iv) The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligations for the Company’s plans are shown below:

. 2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity PVRB Gratuity PMRB
(funded) (funded)
Discount rate (%) 6.69% - 6.78% 6.65% 6.97% - 7.23% 7.20%
Expected salary increase (%) 7.00% Not applicable 5.00% - 7.00% Not applicable
Medical cost inflation rate (%) Not applicable 5.00% Not applicable 5.00%
Demographic Assumptions
Retirement Age (year) 58 years Not applicable 58 years Not applicable
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability 100% of IALM/ 1AM 90% of IALM 100% of IALM/ IIAM 90% of IALM
(2012 - 14)/(2012-2015) (2012 - 15) (2012 - 14)/(2012-2015) (2012 - 15)
Withdrawal rate
Up to 30 Years 3% Not applicable 1% - 3% Not applicable
From 31 to 44 years 2% Not applicable 1% - 2% Not applicable
Above 44 years 1% . Not applicable 1% Not applicable

The estimates of future salary increases considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, such
as supply and demand in the employment market. The above information is certified by Actuary except for Gratuity pursuant to the Scheme of Demerger
(refer note 32)

(v) Contribution to defined contribution plans:

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24
Continuing operations 0.19 0.27
Discontinued operations 0.08 0.10
Provident and other funds 0.27 0.37
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(vi) Sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation:

(vii)

(viii)

Impact of the change in salary increase

Present value of obligationat the end of the period
Impact due toincrease of 0.5% / 1%

Impactdue to decrease of 0.5% / 1%

003
(0.04)

0.00
(0.00)

Not applicable
Not applicable

051
(0.53)

2024-25 2023-24

Particulars Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave

(funded) encashment PMRB (funded) encashment PMRB
Impact of the change in discount rate
Present value of obligationat the end of the period
Impactdue to increase of 0.5%/ 1% (0.04) (0.00) (0.34) (0.52) (0.00) (0.31)
Impactdue to decrease of 0.5% / 1% 0.03 0.00 0.39 0.51 0.00 0.35
Impact of Medical cost inflation rate
Impactdue to increase of 1% Not applicable ~ Not applicable 0.40 Not applicable Not applicable 0.35
Impact due to decrease of 1% Not applicable ~ Not applicable (0.35) Not applicable Not applicable (0.32)

0.00
(0.00)

Not applicable
Not applicable

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of

reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.

Other comprehensive income (OCI):

. 2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity
Actuarial gain/(loss) for the year on PBO (0.37) (0.10)
Actuarial gain/(loss) for the year on plan asset - -
Total actuarial gain/(loss) at the end of the year (0.37) (0.10)

Maturity profile of Gratuity and Leave encashment
2024-25 2023-24
Particulars Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave
(funded) encashment (funded) encashment
0-1 year 0.24 0.02 0.54 0.01
2-5 Years 0.10 0.01 0.08 0.00
More than 5 years 0.34 0.04 0.22 0.02
Maturity profile of PMRB (on undiscounted basis)

. 2024-25 2023-24
Particulars PMRB PMRB
0-1 year 0.35 0.31
2-5 Years 1.42 1.29
More than 5 years 6.08 6.01

The weighted average duration (based on discounted cash flows) of the defined benefit plan obligation for gratuity at the end of the reporting period is
9.55-11.26 years (March 31, 2024: 10.53 years) and for PRMB is 9 years (March 31, 2024: 9 years).

Risk Exposure

Defined benefit plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: Investment Risk, Interest Risk, Longevity Risk and Salary Risk.

Investment Risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yields at the end of

the reporting period on government bonds.

Interest Risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan's debt

investments.

Longevity Risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and
after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.

Salary Risk

The present value of the defined plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the

plan participants will increase the plan's liability.
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37 Related Party Disclosures
As per Ind AS 24, the disclosures of transactions with the related parties are given below:

A. Relationships

i. Enterprises having significant influence over the Company
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (upto April 25, 2023)
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited (w.e.f April 25, 2023)
Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited

ii. Promoter/ Enterprises controlled by Promoters/ Key Management Personnel of the Significant shareholder:
Alirox Abrasives Limited
Dalmia Bharat Limited
Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited
Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (w.e.f April 26, 2023)
Garvita Solution Services and Holdings Private Limited
Himgiri Commercial Limited
Hippostores Technology Private Limited
Keshav Power Limited
Shree Nirman Limited
Valley Agro Industries Limited

iiii. Key Managerial Person and Directors of the Parent Company
Mr. Sameer Nagpal (till May 05, 2023 he was Managing Director & CEO and w.e.f. May 06, 2023 till June 17, 2024 Non Executive
Director)
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari, Whole Time Director and CEO (w.e.f. May 06, 2023, till May 05, 2023 he was Non-Executive
Director)
Mr. Rahul Sahni, CFO (w.e.f. April 21, 2023)
Mr. Prakash Dalmia, ED & COO-Tyre Undertaking on Deputation (w.e.f August 01,2024, till January 15,2025)
Ms Meghna Saini - Company Secretary (till September 13, 2024)
Ms Soumya Sharma - Company Secretary (w.e.f. September 24, 2024)
Mr. Mukund Choudhary - Executive Director-Tyre Undertaking (w.e.f. February 01, 2025)

B. The following transactions were carried out with the related parties in the ordinary course of business (Net of taxes):
Name of Related Party Nature of Transaction Marcrf g':] fg%gsearme;:‘gﬁdm’ 2024
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited Sale of goods -
Sale of Land 3.60
Purchase of goods -
Purchase of services 0.02 0.06
Transfer of assets related to employee movement - 0.40
Transfer of liabilities related to employee movement - 0.51
Dalmia Bharat Limited Purchase of services 0.03 0.09
Transfer of liabilities related to employee movement 0.02 -
Dividend Received 2.87 0.63
Govan Travels Air ticketing 1.19 0.95
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited) Managerial Services 0.27
Reimbursement of Expenses (Full Amount-¥35,000) 0.00
Keshav Power Limited Purchase of shares of DBL 300.16 199.03
Dividend paid# 0.00 -
Dalmia Bharat Group Foundation Corporate social responsibility expenses -
Hippostores Technology Private Limited Investment in OCDs 50.00 275.00
Dalmia Magnesite Corporation Sale of Goods 8.04 4.09
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited)
Purchase of goods 4.01 825
Leave & License Fee 1.04 0.61
Manpower Support Services 562 4.83
Marketing/ technical services paidto 232 -
Marketing/ technical services received from 1.61
Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research Services Availed 0.01 -
Alsthom Industries Ltd Sale of Goods -
Alirox Abrasives Limited Managerial Services 0.40 0.50
Dividend paid 0.28 0.28
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited Dividend paid 281 2.81
Akhyar Estate Holdings Private Limited Dividend paid 1.48 1.48
Garvita Solution Services and Holdings Private Limited Dividend paid 0.40 0.40
Himgiri Commercial Limited Dividend paid# 0.00 0.00
Shree Nirman Limited Dividend paid# 0.00 0.00
Valley Agro Industries Limited Dividend paid# 0.00 0.00
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Mr. Sameer Nagpal - 0.66
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari 1.39 0.74
Mr. Rahul Sahni 0.60 0.67
Ms. Meghna Saini Salary & 0.12 0.28

Key Managerial Personnel Mr. Prakash Dalmia perquisites 084 |

of Parent Company Ms Soumya Sharma 0.06 -
Mr. Mukund Choudhary 0.06 -
Dr. Chandra Narain Maheshwari along with his relatives I f -
(Full Amount- % 5074.50) Dividend paid 000

# Dividend paidis ¥ 58.50 (March 31, 2024: ¥ 58.50)

C. Balances outstanding at year end:

Particulars As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Outstanding receivable
Dalmia Magnesite Corporation - 4.09
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries Limited)

Investment in Promoter/ Enterprises controlled by Promorters / Key Management Personnel of the Significant shareholder:

Dalmia Bharat Limited 581.43 309.18
Hippostores Technology Private Limited 325.00 266.75
Sarvapriya Healthcare Solutions Private Limited (full value: ¥ 670.00) 0.00 0.00
Outstanding payable

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited 0.01 0.01
Dalmia Bharat Limited 0.03 -
Dalmia Magnesite Corporation 7.06 8.24
(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited) (Net Balance)

Alirox Abrasives Limited 0.11

Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research 0.01 -
Govan Travels 0.15 0.01

(A unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar and Industries Limited)

38 Dividend
The Board of Directors of the Parent Company has recommended final dividend of 10%, i.e. ¥ 1 per equity share for the year ended March 31, 2025
subject to the approval of shareholders.

39 Events occurring After the Balance Sheet date

(a) Pursuant to the Resolution Plan approved by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench, vide order dated October 19, 2023,
for the acquisition of Birla Tyres Limited (“BTL”) jointly by the Parent Company and Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited (“HSCL”) under the
Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process (“CIRP”) in accordance with the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 (“IBC”), HSCL has exercised
its option to convert the Optionally Convertible Debentures issued by BTL into equity shares of ¥10/- each. Consequent to the said conversion
and allotment, the post-issue equity shareholding of the parent Company along with its nominees in BTL has reduced from 99.99% to 0.33%,
resulting in BTL ceasing to be a subsidiary of the parent Company with effect from April 01, 2025. Further, the parent Company has transferred
its remaining 0.33% equity shareholding in BTL to HSCL pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement executed on April 03, 2025.

(b) Himadri Speciality Chemical Limited ("HSCL”) on April 01, 2025 has exercised its option to convert the Optionally Convertible Debentures
issued by Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (“HBTMPL”) into equity shares of ¥10/- each. Pursuant to the said conversion and
allotment, the post-issue equity shareholding of the parent Company in HBTMPL stood reduced from 99.99% to 51% as on April 01,
2025.Subsequently, the parent Company has entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement (“SHA”) with HSCL and HBTMPL. Further, on April 15,
2025, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the transfer of 2% equity stake held by the parent Company in HBTMPL to Akhyar Estate
Holdings Private Limited, a promoter group entity. Post the said transfer, the parent Company’s shareholding in HBTMPL stands reduced to
49%, thereby resulting in HBTMPL ceasing to be a subsidiary of the parent Company in terms of Section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013.

40 The subsidiaries considered in the consolidated financial statements are :-

— - — -
Name of Company Principal place of business PropoAr;lzrtl &2&' ;Tzrgggldmg PropoArgglt'l &gzg,: gs\yazrgggldmg
OCL Global Limited Mauritious 100% 100%

OCL China Limited China 90% 90%

Birla Tyres Limited India 99.99% 99.99%

Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited (Formerly known as India 99.99% 99.99%

Dalmia Mining and Services Private Limited)

41 Financial information of subsidiary that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:-

Summarised financial information
Summarised financial information for subsidiary that has non-controlling interest that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for a

subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Non- Non-current Net non-current Net current
Summarised balance sheet current R Current assets  Current liabilities assets / Net assets NCI
liabilities assets P
assets (liabilities)
OCL China Limited
March 31, 2025 27.49 - 27.49 33.89 9.91 23.98 51.47 5.24
March 31, 2024 31.30 - 31.30 29.25 4.95 24.30 55.60 5.78
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Summarised Statement of Profitand . Total (Loss)/Profit for Other comprel.lensive Tc_!tal (Loss)/profit Dividends paid
Loss income the year income comprehensive allocated to NCI to NCI
income/(loss)
OCL China Limited
March 31, 2025 38.75 (5.33) 1.29 (4.04) (0.53) -
March 31, 2024 48.90 (0.38) (2.11) (2.49) (0.04) -
Cash flow Cash flow Net (decrease)/
Summarised Statement of Cash generated from/  Cash flow generated generated from/ increase in cash
Flows (used in) from/ (used (used and cash
operating in)investing activities in)financing equivalents
activities activities
OCL China Limited
March 31, 2025 1.14 (0.72) 0.07 0.49
March 31, 2024 0.34 (0.70) 0.72 0.36

Additional Information, as required under Schedule Il to the Act, of enterprises consolidated as Subsidiary:

_Net Asset§, i.e, total a ssets Share in profit or loss Share in oﬂ.1er comprehensive Share in total comprehensive
income minus total liabilities income
Name of the entities in the Group As % of As % of
oy 0 It
Consﬁlsld/ac‘tga Amount Constfl\ifia/:ec(,if Amount consolldate:e:‘)tsl;:; Amount  total comprehensive Amount
net assets profit or loss income income

Parent
Dalmia Bharat Refractories Limited
March 31, 2025 94.12% 2,284.29 180.63% (66.20) 103.43% (142.78) 119.63% (208.98)
March 31, 2024 95.72% 2,499.90 109.20% 51.42 99.37% (235.57) 96.93% (184.15)
Subsidiaries
Indian
Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer
Private Limited (Formerly Known
as Dalmia Mining & Services Private
Limited)
March 31, 2025 0.07% 1.69 29.78% (10.92) 0.00% - 6.25% (10.92),
March 31, 2024 0.48% 12.60 (0.79)% (0.37) 0.00% - 0.20% (0.37)
Birla Tyres Limited
March 31, 2025 0.72% 17.53 1.43% (0.53) 0.00% - 0.30% (0.53),
March 31, 2024 0.82% 21.33 (3.13)% (1.48) 0.00% - 0.78% (1.48),
Foreign
OCL Global Limited
March 31, 2025 8.11% 196.79 (126.41)% 46.33 (2.50)% 345 (28.50)% 49.78
March 31, 2024 5.63% 146.99 35.73% 16.82 (0.76)% 1.81 (9.81)% 18.64]
OCL China Limited
March 31, 2025 2.12% 51.47 14.54% (5.33) (0.93)% 129 2.31% (4.04)
March 31, 2024 2.13% 55.60 (0.81)% (0.38) 0.89% (2.11) 1.31% (2.49),
Adjustments/ Eliminations
March 31, 2025 (5.14)% (124.71) 0.03% 000 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% (0.00)
March 31, 2024 (4.77)% (124.70) (40.19)% (18.93) 0.50% (1.20) 10.59% (20.12),
Total March 31, 2025 100.00% 2,427.06 100.00% (36.65) 100.00% (138.04) 100.00% (174.69)
Total March 31, 2024 100.00% 2,611.73 100.00% 47.09 100.00% (237.07) 100.00% (189.98)

Financial Risk Management

Financial Risk Factors

The Group's operational activities expose to various financial risks i.e. market risk, credit risk and risk of liquidity. The Group realizes that risks are
inherent and integral aspect of any business. The primary focus is to foresee the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimize potential
adverse effects on its financial performance. The Group's senior management oversees the management of these risks and devise appropriate risk
management framework for The Group. The senior management provides assurance that The Group’s financial risk activities are governed by
appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with The Group’s policies and risk
objectives.

. Credit Risk :
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables and advances to suppliers) and from its financing activities,
including deposits, investments and other financial instruments.

To manage this, Group periodically assesses the financial reliability of customers, taking into account factors such as credit track record in the market
and past dealings with the Group for extension of credit to customer Company monitors the payment track record of the customers Outstanding
customer receivables are regularly monitored. An impairment analysis is performed at each quarter end on an individual basis for major customers In
addition, a large number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in note 47. The Group evaluates the concentration of
risk with respect to trade receivables as low, the trade receivables are located in several jurisdictions and operate in largely independent markets.

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Upto 6 months More than 6| Upto 6 months More than 6
months months
Gross carryingamount (A) 16.84 498 9.61 14.65
Expected Credit Losses (B) (2.71) - 0.72)
Net Carrying Amount (A-B) 16.84 227 9.61 13.93
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Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by The Group’s treasury department in accordance with the Group’s policy.
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved authorities. Credit limits of all authorities are reviewed by the management on regular basis. All
balances with banks and financial institutions is subject to low credit risk due to good credit ratings assigned to The Group. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in note 47.

B. Liquidity Risk :
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of debentures, term loan, cash credit facilities
and short term loans. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contracted undiscounted payments
(excluding transaction cost on borrowings).

Table hereunder provides the current ratios of the Group as at the year end:

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Total current assets 311.46 559.51
Total current liabilities 7715 75.40
Current ratio 4.04 7.42

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contracted undiscounted payments (excluding transaction
cost on borrowings).:

. Payable
Particulars Carrying on Lessthan 1 year 1t03 3to5 Total
Amount Years Years
demand
As at March 31, 2025
Borrowings 767.28 - - 333.33 438.31 771.64
Other financial Liabilities 53.20 - 21.07 - 32.13 53.20
Lease Liabilities 0.67 - 0.33 0.35 0.09 0.77
Trade and other payables 37.36 - 37.36 - - 37.36
Total 858.51 - 58.76 333.68 470.53 862.97
As at March 31, 2024
Borrowings 576.83 - - 133.33 448.65 581.98
Other financial Liabilities 32.29 - 27.56 - 4.73 32.29
Lease Liabilities 0.83 - 0.22 0.61 - 0.83
Trade and other payables 31.31 - 31.31 - - 31.31
Total 641.26 - 59.09 133.94 453.38 646.41

C. Market Risk :
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Group is
exposed to the risk of movements in interest rates, inventory price and foreign currency exchange rates that affects its assets, liabilities and future
transactions. The Group is exposed to following key market risks:

Interest Rate Risk :

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s non-current borrowing obligations in the form of
non-convertible debentures and term loan carrying floating interest rates.

(i

=

. Fixed Rate Variable Rate .
Particulars Borrowing Borrowing Total Borrowing
As at March 31, 2025 92.24 679.40 771.64
As at March 31, 2024 92.58 489.40 581.98

Interest rate sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the unhedged portion of loans and borrowings. With
all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Impact on Statement of Profit & Loss

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest rate increase by 1% 6.45 0.91
Interest rate decrease by 1% (6.45) (0.91)

(ii) Foreign Currency Risk :
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Exposure arises
primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations between the functional currency and other currencies from the Group's operating, investing and financing
activities.
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The details of foreign currency exposure is as follows:

Foreign
Particulars Currency FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
(FC) (in crore) (in crore)
Unhedged Foreign Currency In FC In¥ In FC In¥
Trade Payables usD 0.03 278 0.02 1.66
Euro 0.02 1.81 0.02 1.83
CNY - - 0.03 0.30
Trade Receivable usbD 0.01 0.47 - -
Euro - - - -
Advances received from customers - Export USD - - 0.04 348
Euro - - 0.04 3.19

Rate Sensitivity

Sensitivity analysis is computed based on the changes in the income and expenses in foreign currency upon conversion into functional currency, due to exchange

rate fluctuations between the previous reporting period and the current reporting period.

. Impact on Profit & Loss Account

Particulars Incresse_l Dec_retase in For the year ended For the year ended
asls points March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
USD Sensitivity +1% (0.02) (0.02)

-1% 0.02 0.02

Euro Sensitivity +1% 0.02 0.02
-1% (0.02) (0.02)

CNY Sensitivity +1% - 0.00
1% - (0.00)

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Non-current equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading
purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments.

44  Fair Values - Financial Instrument by Category

(i) Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of The Group's financial assets and liabilities that are recognised in the

financial statements.

Financial Assets

Fair value As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Note y Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
hierarchy Amount Value Amount Value
1| Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss
Non-Current
- Investment in AIF (CLASS G3 - S1) A Level-2 110.59 110.59
- Investment in Vedanta Resources Finance Il PLC A Level-2 92.83 92.83
Current
- Investment in mutual funds (Unquoted) A Level-2 108.73 108.73 148.59 148.59
2| Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Non-Current
- Investment in Equity shares (Quoted) B Level-1 1,952.15 1,952.15 1,802.44 1,802.44
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) Level-3 57.46 57.46 57.28 57.28
- Investments in debt instruments (Ungquoted) Level 3 325.00 325.00 266.75 266.75
3 | Financial assets designated at amortised cost c
Non-Current
a)| Investments in debtinstruments Level 3 - - 166.93 167.20
b)| Loans Level 2 - - - -
c)| Other financial assets 7.68 7.68 3.62 3.62
Current
a)| Investments in debtinstruments Level 3 - - 70.00 70.25
b)| Trade receivables 19.11 19.11 23.53 23.53
c)| Cash and Cash Equivalents 91.62 91.62 231.79 231.79
d)| Other Bank Balances 892 892 19.70 19.70
e)| Loans 0.01 0.01 0.04 0.04
f) | Other financial assets 574 574 3.05 3.05
2,779.84 2,779.84 2,793.71 2,794.23
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Financial Liabilities

O m>

Fair value As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Note hierarch Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
y Amount Value Amount Value
1 | Financial liability designated at amortised cost Cc
Non-Current
- Borrowings Level-3 767.28 767.28 576.83 578.49
- Lease liabilities 0.39 0.39 0.61 0.61
- Other financial liability 32.13 32.13 4.73 4.73
Current
- Borrowings N - = -
- Trade payables 37.36 37.36 31.31 31.31
- Lease liabilities 0.28 0.28 0.22 0.22
- Other financial liability 21.07 21.07 27.56 27.56
858.51 858.51 641.26 642.92

The Group has opted to fair value its mutual funds and AIF investment through profit & loss.

The Group has opted to fair value its quoted/unquoted investments in equity share/debt instruments through OCI.

The Group has adopted effective rate of interest for calculating Interest. This has been calculated as the weighted average of effective interest rates
calculated for each loan. In addition processing fees and transaction cost relating to each loan has also been considered for calculating effective interest
rate.

(ii) Fair Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

The Group maintains procedures to value financial assets or financial liabilities using the best and most relevant data available. The fair values of the
financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

a Fair value of trade receivable, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, trade payables, loans, other financial assets and liabilities are
approximate at their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

b The fair values of non-current borrowings, lease liabilities and other financial liabilities are approximate at their carrying amount due to interest bearing
features of these instruments.

¢ The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

d Fair values of quoted financial instruments are derived from quoted market prices in active markets.

e The fair value for level 3 instruments is valued using inputs based on information about market participants assumptions and other data that are available.

f  The fair value of the remaining financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow analysis.

(iii) Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation techniques:
Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets and are based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date.
Level 2 - Inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices). It includes fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on the Group specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable then instrument is included in level 2.
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
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(iv) Description of the inputs used in the fair value measurement:

Following table describes the valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation for level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at March 31, 2025 and March

31, 2024 respectively:

: As at Valuation Inputs -
Particulars March 31, 2025 Technique Used Sensitivity
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) 57.46 Market Approach  Earning before 0.5x increase/(decrease) in
- Comparable Interest, EBITDA Multiple would result
Companies Depreciation and in increase/(decrease) in fair
Multiple (CCM) Tax (EBITDA) to value by ¥ 0.82/% (0.95).
Method Enterprise Value
(EV)- 19.49 Times 0.1x increase/(decrease) in
Revenue to EV - Revenue Multiple would result
6.39 Times in increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 0.54 /% (0.82).
- Investments in debtinstruments (Unquoted) 325.00 Black Schole Volatility - 35.39% 5% increase/(decrease) in
Option Risk free rate - 7% volatility would result
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 8.77 /% (9.10).
1% increase/(decrease) in
Risk free rate would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥ 4.88/% (3.90) .
. As at Valuation Inputs T
Particulars March 31,2024 Technique Used Sensitivity
- Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) 57.28 DCF Method Growth rate 4.5% 1% increase/(decrease) in
Weighted cost of growth rate would result in
capital (WACC) - increase/(decrease) in
18.50% fair value by ¥ 2.73 /% (2.37).
1% increase/(decrease) in
WACC would result in
(decrease)/increase in fair
value by ¥ (5.92) /% 1.72.
- Investments in debtinstruments (Unquoted) 266.75 Black Schole Volatility - 35.39% 5% increase/(decrease) in
Option Risk free rate - volatility would result
7.05% increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥7.98/% (8.25) .
1% increase/(decrease) in
Risk free rate would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair
value by ¥5.23/%(5.23) .
Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.

. For the year ended
Particulars March 31,2025  March 31,2024
Opening balance 324.03 -
Purchase / (Sale) of financial instruments 50.00 325.00
(Loss) on financial instruments measured at fair value through profitor loss (net) 8.43 (0.97)
Closing balance 382.46 324.03

(v) Description of the valuation processes used by the Group for fair value measurement categorised within level 3:

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of financial assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or
reassessed as per the accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information
in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The Group also compares the change in the fair value of each financial asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change
is reasonable. The Group also discusses of the major assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of financial assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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Capital Management

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, equity includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity reserves attributable to
the equity shareholders and net debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The primary objective of The
Group’s capital management is to safeguard continuity, maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
provide adequate return to shareholders through continuing growth.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the financial
covenants. The funding requirement is met through a mixture of equity, internal accruals, long term borrowings and short term borrowings. The Group
monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached
to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.

Particul As at As at

articulars March 31,2025  March 31,2024
Debt 767.28 576.83
Cash & bank balances 100.54 251.49
Net Debt 666.74 325.34
Total Equity 2,427.06 2,611.73
Net debt to equity ratio (Gearing Ratio) 0.27 0.12

Disclosure on Bank/Financial institutions compliances

During the year ended March 31,2025 (Previous year: March 31, 2024) the group Company does not have any borrowing in which statements of current
assets are required to be filed. However, during the year the parent Company has availed a working capital facility from banks specifically for its
refractories i.e. "DMC Unit". Accordingly, in compliance with the terms of the sanctioned facility, the quarterly statement/revised statement submitted to the
bank are in agreement with books of accounts, which are as follows:

As per Books of As per Statement of
Quarter Particulars of Securities Provided Accounts P current assets Difference
i.e. DMC Unit
December, 2024 Inventories and Trade Receivables 23.02 23.02 -
March, 2025 Inventories and Trade Receivables 15.93 15.93 -

Note: The Parent Company has availed working capital limit for refractory business during the quarter ended December 2024 therefor statement of current
assets was not required to be submitted for June, 2024, September 2024 quarter and for previous year i.e. FY. 2023-24.

Other statutory information

The Group do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami property.

There is no balance outstanding as on March 31, 2025 & March 31, 2024 on account of any transaction with companies struck off under section 248 of

the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956.

The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

The Group has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person or entity, including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding

that the Intermediary shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate
Beneficiaries); or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

The Group has not received any fund from any person or entity, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in
writing or otherwise) that the Company shall :

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate
Beneficiaries); or
(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

The Group has not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year
in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

The Group has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender (as defined under the Companies Act, 2013) or
consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank of India.

The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with Companies (Restriction on number of
Layers) Rules, 2017.

Pursuant to the demerger of the tyre undertaking of Birla Tyres Limited into the Parent Company and Scheme of Arrangement for transfer of Non-
Operational Assets Division to subsidiary company (Himadri Birla Tyre Manufacturer Private Limited) , as approved by the Hon’ble National Company Law
Tribunal (NCLT) vide order dated October 19, 2023, certain immovable properties were vested in the Parent Company and the subsidiary company.
However, the title deeds for these properties continue to remain in the names of the erstwhile entities—Kesoram Industries Limited and Birla Tyres
Limited—as the No Dues Certificates (NDCs) from certain banks are still awaited. Upon receipt of all requisite NDCs, the transfer of title deeds in the name
of the Parent Company and the subsidiary company will be effected. Subsequently, a charge will be created in favor of M/s Himadri Speciality Chemical
Limited (HSCL) in respect of Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) issued by the Parent Company and the subsidiary company.
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49 The Board of Directors of the Parent Company on February 02, 2024, have approved the Scheme of Amalgamation (“Scheme”) between Dalmia Bharat
Sugar and Industries Limited (“Demerged Company”) and the Parent Company and their respective shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and all other
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for transfer and vesting of Demerged Undertaking 1 or “DMC Unit” i.e. the refractory business of
Demerged Company which is engaged in the business of manufacturing of refractories and Demerged Undertaking 2 or “GT Unit” i.e. the tours and travel
service business of Demerged Company into the Parent Company on a going concern basis. In consideration of it, the Parent Company shall issue and
allot New Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10/- each, to the equity shareholders holding fully paid up equity shares of the Demerged Company in the
proportion defined in the Scheme. The appointed date of the said Scheme is July 01, 2023. Pursuant to a "no objection" letter from the Metropolitan Stock
Exchange under Regulation 37 of the SEBI LODR, the Scheme was subsequently filed with NCLT. Further, in terms of the Order dated December 20, 2024,
passed by the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench, the Parent Company has held its Shareholders and Creditors Meeting on February 09,
2025 to seek their respective approvals to the aforementioned Scheme and both the Shareholders and Creditors of the Parent Company have approved
the Scheme with requisite majority. Now, the Scheme is pending before NCLT, Chennai for its approval. Pending necessary regulatory approvals and other
compliances, no accounting effects have been included in the consolidated financial statements.

50 The figures for the previous year have been rearranged & regrouped wherever necessary.
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